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Foreword

The Statements of Federal Financial Concepts and Standards, Original Pronouncements (“Original
Pronouncements”) contains the body of accounting concepts and standards for the U.S. government.
Specifically, Original Pronouncements incorporates the following documents published through June 30,
2006:

Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 1-4,
Statements of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 1-30,
Interpretations 1-6,

Technical Bulletin 2000-1 through 2003-1,

Technical Releases 1-6, and

all Staff Implementation Guidance.

Origins of the Documents

The concepts, standards, interpretations, technical bulletins, technical releases, and staff implementation
guidance presented in the Original Pronouncements were issued in accordance with policies and procedures
approved by the Department of the Treasury (Treasury), the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), and
the Government Accountability Office (GAO) at the time of their issuance. These three central agencies,
referred to collectively as the “sponsors,” established the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board
(FASAB) in 1990. The mission of the FASAB is to develop accounting standards and principles for the federal
government, after considering the financial and budgetary information needs of congressional oversight
groups, executive agencies, and the needs of other users of federal financial information.

Concepts Statements

Statements on concepts differ from statements of accounting standards. Statements on concepts are more
general than statements on standards and do not contain specific authoritative requirements for federal
agencies. After approval by the Board, concepts statements provide general guidance to the Board itself as it
deliberates on specific issues. They also are useful to the OMB in carrying out its statutory responsibilities,
and others in understanding federal accounting and financial reports.

"Mission Statement, Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board. For a more extensive description of FASAB’s role, refer to
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts No. 1, Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting, Paras. 23-29.
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Standards

Using a due process and a consensus building approach, the Board promulgates accounting standards after
considering the financial and budgetary information needs of Congress, executive agencies, other users of
federal financial information, and comments from the public. The Memorandum of Understanding dated
May 7, 2003, is included in Appendix C and describes the Board’s authorities and processes.

Interpretations

Interpretations clarify original meaning, add definitions, and provide other guidance for existing SFFAS. They
are narrow in scope. FASAB will respond to requests for guidance by providing technical assistance,
including, in some cases, interpretations. When drafting an interpretation the FASAB staff submits the request
to the Board and reviews applicable literature and consults with knowledgeable persons, as appropriate.
FASAB will consider the draft interpretation at an open meeting. Proposed interpretations are exposed for
public comment for at least 30 days. Interpretations approved by a majority of the Board and not objected to
by a Board member representing a principal within 45 days are published by FASAB.

Technical Bulletins

Technical bulletins provide guidance for applying statements and interpretations and resolving issues not
directly addressed by them. Technical bulletins are used when the nature of an issue does not warrant more
extensive due process. They are generally in question and answer format.

Technical Releases

The Accounting and Auditing Policy Committee (AAPC) provides implementation guidance through technical
releases that are reviewed and published by the FASAB and announced originally in the Federal Register. They
are included here for ease of reference.

Staff Implementation Guidance

The staff provides implementation guidance. Such guidance is issued if a majority of the Board does not
object.
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GAAP Documents

When adopted and issued, these documents become federal accounting standards and implementation
guidance. It is expected that FASAB will continue to issue guidance through the documents described above.
As new documents are adopted, the Original Pronouncements will be updated. Individual documents issued
between updates are available through a variety of sources.

Purpose of the Original Pronouncements

The Original Pronouncements compiles and codifies the documents produced by the FASAB. It is designed
to meet the needs of users for an authoritative reference to concepts, standards, interpretations, technical
bulletins, technical releases, and other issuances. It contains extensive cross-referencing and indexing.

]
Organization of the Original Pronouncements

Original Pronouncements presents each concepts statement, accounting standard, technical bulletin,
technical release and staff implementation guide as a separate chapter (refered to as “statement”). The issue
date and effective date of each statement are presented first. Next, any interpretations, technical bulletins,
and technical releases that relate to the statements are identified. A summary precedes presentation of each
statement.

In some cases the statements have been affected by later statements or affect earlier statements. References
are provided on the title page of each chapter to direct the reader to the affected paragraphs and indicate the
source and nature of the change. Within the text of the statements, ellipses alert the reader that provisions
have been deleted as a result of other statements. Original provisions modified or affected by a subsequent
statement but not deleted are modified in the text. New provisions added by a subsequent statement are
inserted in the original statements. When paragraphs are inserted they are numbered with the number of the
preceding paragraph followed by capital letter (5A). When footnotes are inserted, they are numbered with
number of the previous footnote followed by a lower case letter (1a). The reader can review the basis for
conclusions of the amending statement for the rationale for the change.

Some statements contain illustrations, which are included in the Original Pronouncements. These
illustrations are general in nature and may not apply to specific cases that appear similar but have unique
circumstances. For specific cases, the objective should be to arrive at the specific answer that applies the
body of accounting standards in that specific case.
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The glossaries originally published with each statement have been codified in a single glossary. This glossary
is presented as the last appendix to the Original Pronouncements.

Original Pronouncements also presents the following appendices:

Appendix A: Topical Index

Appendix B: Effective Dates of Statements, Interpretations, Technical Bulletins,
and Technical Releases

Appendix C: Memorandum of Understanding

Appendix D: Federal Accounting and Auditing Resources

Appendix E: Consolidated Glossary

Appendix F:  Consolidated List of Acronyms

Materiality

The Board intends that application of authoritative guidance be limited to items that are material.
“Materiality” has not been strictly defined in the accounting community; rather, it has been a matter of
judgment on the part of preparers of financial statements and the auditors who attest to them. Presented
below is the Board’s position on the issue of materiality at this time.

The accounting and reporting provisions of the Board’s accounting standards need not be applied to
immaterial items. The determination of whether an item is immaterial requires the exercise of
considerable judgment, based on consideration of specific facts and circumstances.

Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The term “generally accepted accounting principles” has a specific meaning for accountants and auditors. The
AICPA Code of Professional Conduct prohibits members from expressing an opinion or stating affirmatively
that financial statements or other financial data “present fairly... in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles,” if such information contains any departures from accounting principles promulgated
by a body designated by the AICPA Council to establish such principles. The AICPA Council has designated
FASAB as the body that establishes accounting principles for federal entities. The AICPA’s hierarchy of
generally accepted accounting principles in Statement of Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 69, The Meaning of
Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor’s
Report, governs what constitutes GAAP for all U.S. government reporting entities. The hierarchy lists the
priority sequence of sources that an entity should look to for accounting and reporting guidance.
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The FASAB standards provide GAAP covering most transactions for the federal government. However,
agencies may engage in transactions that are not addressed by these standards. In that event, agencies should
view the hierarchy as providing sources of GAAP for the federal government.

Copyright

This is a work of the U. S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. It may be
reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from FASAB. However, because this
work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be
necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.
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Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 1:
Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting

Status

Issued September 2, 1993

Interpretations and Technical Releases

Affects None.

Affected by SFFAC 3 affects paragraph 181 by providing guidance on MD&A.
Summary

This document is a conceptual statement on the objectives of financial reporting by the federal government. It
focuses on the uses, user needs, and objectives of such reporting. The objectives are designed to guide the
Board in developing accounting standards to enhance the financial information reported by the federal
government to (1) demonstrate its accountability, (2) provide useful information, and (3) help internal users of
financial information improve the government’s management. In addition to guiding the Board, the objectives
may serve as useful guidance to others involved in federal financial reporting. For example, the objectives
may be useful in developing accounting policy, designing reports, and writing narratives and notes to financial
reports.

The objectives reflect the federal environment. They also consider many of the needs expressed by current
and potential users of federal financial information. They provide a framework for assessing the existing
financial reporting systems of the federal government and for considering how new accounting standards
might help to enhance accountability and decision-making in a cost-effective manner.

The four objectives of Federal Financial Reporting are:

Budgetary Integrity—Federal financial reporting should assist in fulfilling the government’s duty to be
publicly accountable for monies raised through taxes and other means and for their expenditure in
accordance with the appropriations laws that establish the government’s budget for a particular fiscal
year and related laws and regulations. Federal financial reporting should provide information that helps
the reader to determine

e  how budgetary resources have been obtained and used and whether their acquisition and use
were in accordance with the legal authorization,

. the status of budgetary resources, and

e  how information on the use of budgetary resources relates to information on the costs of
program operations and whether information on the status of budgetary resources is
consistent with other accounting information on assets and liabilities.

Page 6 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 1

Operating Performance—Federal financial reporting should assist report users in evaluating the service
efforts, costs, and accomplishments of the reporting entity; the manner in which these efforts and
accomplishments have been financed; and the management of the entity’s assets and liabilities. Federal
financial reporting should provide information that helps the reader to determine

e  the costs of providing specific programs and activities and the composition of, and changes in,
these costs;

e the efforts and accomplishments associated with federal programs and the changes over time
and in relation to costs; and

e the efficiency and effectiveness of the government’s management of its assets and liabilities.

Stewardship—Federal financial reporting should assist report users in assessing the impact on the
country of the government’s operations and investments for the period and how, as a result, the
government’s and the nation’s financial condition has changed and may change in the future. Federal
financial reporting should provide information that helps the reader to determine whether

. the government’s financial position improved or deteriorated over the period,

. future budgetary resources will likely be sufficient to sustain public services and to meet
obligations as they come due, and

e government operations have contributed to the nation’s current and future well-being.

Systems and Control—Federal financial reporting should assist report users in understanding whether
financial management systems and internal accounting and administrative controls are adequate to
ensure that

e transactions are executed in accordance with budgetary and financial laws and other
requirements, consistent with the purposes authorized, and are recorded in accordance with
federal accounting standards;

. assets are properly safeguarded to deter fraud, waste, and abuse; and

e  performance measurement information is adequately supported.
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Executive Summary

Introduction

This document is a conceptual statement on the objectives of financial
reporting by the federal government. It focuses on the uses, user
needs, and objectives of such reporting. Statements on concepts, such
as this document, differ from statements of recommended accounting
standards. Statements on concepts are more general than statements
of standards and do not contain specific recommendations that would,
when issued by the Board’s sponsors, become authoritative
requirements for federal agencies and auditors.

Instead, statements on concepts, after approval by the Board’s
sponsors, provide general guidance to the Board itself as it deliberates
on specific issues. They also help others to understand federal
accounting and financial reports.

The objectives are designed to guide the Board in developing
accounting standards to enhance the financial information reported by
the federal government to (1) demonstrate its accountability to
internal and external users of federal financial reports, (2) provide
useful information to internal and external users of federal financial
reports, and (3) help internal users of financial information improve
the government’s management.

The objectives reflect the federal environment. They also reflect many
of the needs expressed by current and potential users of federal
financial information. They provide a framework for assessing the
existing financial reporting systems of the federal government and for
considering how new accounting standards might help to enhance
accountability and decision-making in a cost-effective manner.

The FASAB notes that many information sources other than financial
statements help to attain these objectives. The objectives relate to the
management and financial reporting systems in the federal
government in their entirety.

Listing the objectives does not imply a judgment about the extent to
which they are now being attained. Indeed, it is presumed that the
objectives are being met to some degree now. However, the federal
government does not have an integrated mechanism for reporting
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within the context of these objectives. The FASAB will consider where
new accounting standards could make a useful and cost-effective
contribution to improving the extent to which these objectives are
attained.

7. The Department of the Treasury, the Office of Management and
Budget, and the Government Accountability Office expect that, to the
extent possible, their reporting requirements will be aligned with the
Board’s objectives and standards.

Background and 8.  The federal government derives its just powers from the consent of the

Rationale governed. It therefore has a special responsibility to report on its
actions and the results of those actions. These reports must accurately
reflect the distinctive nature of the federal government and must
provide information useful to the citizens, their elected
representatives, federal executives, and program managers. Providing
this information to the public, the news media, and elected officials is
an essential part of accountability in government. Providing this
information to program managers, executives, and members of
Congress is essential to planning and conducting government
functions economically, efficiently, and effectively for the benefit of
society.

9. Financial reporting is not the only source of information to support
decision-making and accountability. Neither can financial reporting,
by itself, ensure that the government operates as it should. Financial
reporting can, however, make a useful contribution toward fulfilling
those goals.

10. The objectives apply to both internal and external financial reports.
They are intended to improve the relevance,consistency, and quality
of accounting and other data available for a wide variety of
applications.

11. The FASAB and its sponsors believe that any statement of objectives
of federal financial reporting must be based on the needs of those who
use the reports. Those users include citizens, Congress, federal
executives, and federal program managers. Current and potential
users of federal financial information want information to help them
assess how well the government is doing by answering questions
regarding such topics as:
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12.

e Budgetary integrity: What legal authority was provided for
financing government activities and for spending the monies?
Were the financing and spending in accordance with these
authorities?

. Operating performance: How much do various programs cost,
and how were they financed? What outputs and outcomes were
achieved? What and where are the important assets, and how
effectively are they managed? What liabilities arose from
operating the program, and how will they be liquidated or
provided for?

e  Stewardship: Did the government’s financial condition improve
or deteriorate? What provision was made for the future?

o Systems and Control: Does the government have cost-effective
systems and controls to safeguard its assets? Is it able to detect
likely problems? Is it correcting deficiencies when detected?

Concerns like these define the following objectives of federal financial
reporting.

Objectives of Federal
Financial Reporting

Budgetary Integrity

13.

Federal financial reporting should assist in fulfilling the government’s
duty to be publicly accountable for monies raised through taxes and
other means and for their expenditure in accordance with the
appropriations laws that establish the government’s budget for a
particular fiscal year and related laws and regulations. Federal
financial reporting should provide information that helps the reader to
determine

e  how budgetary resources have been obtained and used and
whether their acquisition and use were in accordance with the
legal authorization,

o the status of budgetary resources, and

e  how information on the use of budgetary resources relates to
information on the costs of programs operations and whether
information on the status of budgetary resources is consistent
with other accounting information on assets and liabilities.
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Operating Performance 14. TFederal financial reporting should assist report users in evaluating the
service efforts, costs, and accomplishments of the reporting entity;'
the manner in which these efforts and accomplishments have been
financed; and the management of the entity’s assets and liabilities.
Federal financial reporting should provide information that helps the
reader to determine

. the costs of providing specific programs and activities and the
composition of, and changes in, these costs;

. the efforts and accomplishments associated with federal
programs and the changes over time and in relation to costs; and

e the efficiency and effectiveness of the government’s management
of its assets and liabilities.

Stewardship 15. Federal financial reporting should assist report users in assessing the
impact on the country of the government’s operations and investments
for the period and how, as a result, the government’s and the nation’s
financial conditions have changed and may change in the future.

16. Federal financial reporting should provide information that helps the
reader to determine whether

. the government’s financial position improved or deteriorated
over the period,

. future budgetary resources will likely be sufficient to sustain
public services and to meet obligations as they come due, and

e government operations have contributed to the nation’s current
and future well-being.

Systems and Controls 17. Federal financial reporting should assist report users in understanding
whether financial management systems and internal accounting and
administrative controls are adequate to ensure that

e  transactions are executed in accordance with budgetary and
financial laws and other requirements, consistent with the

'The FASAB has not yet considered criteria for defining, and terminology for describing,
federal financial reporting components or units. In this document, therefore, the term
“entity” is used in a generic way to refer, depending on the context, to the U. S. government
as a whole; to organizational component units of the government, such as an agency; and to
other kinds of potential reporting units, such as programs.
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purpose authorized, and are recorded in accordance with federal
accounting standards;

o assets are properly safeguarded to deter fraud, waste, and abuse;
and

o performance measurement information is adequately supported.

Organjzation of the 18. The first two chapters of this statement present background

Statement information on the Board and the federal environment. Chapter 3
identifies the four groups of current and potential users of federal
financial reports and gives examples of some of their information
needs. Chapter 4 states and explains the objectives of federal financial
reporting in more detail than does this executive summary.

19. Chapter 5 explains some limitations of the standard-setting process
within the context of user needs. Chapter 6 discusses the desirable
qualitative characteristics of financial information. Chapter 7 explains
how accounting supports federal financial reporting. Chapter 8
explains how financial reporting supports reporting on operating
performance.

20. Appendix A sets forth the basis for the Board’s conclusions. Appendix
B presents a categorization of user needs according to types of
information identified by the users rather than according to objectives.
Appendix C lists some major federal reports that are regularly
produced.
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Chapter 1: Federal 21. Financial reporting by the federal government provides information

. . . for formulating policy, planning actions, evaluating performance, and
Financial Reportmg other purposes. In addition, the processes of preparing and auditing

And The Role Of financial reports can enhance the government’s overall accountability
structure by providing greater assurance that transactions are

The Fed,eral recorded and reported accurately, that consistent definitions are used

ACCOlmtlng to describe the transactions, etc. Thus, federal financial reporting

Standards Adwsory helps to fulfill the government’s duty to manage programs

Board economically, efficiently, and effectively and to be publicly
accountable.

22. Financial reporting is supported and made possible by accounting and
accounting systems. “Financial reporting” may be defined as the
process of recording, reporting, and interpreting, in terms of money,
an entity’s financial transactions and events with economic
consequences for the entity. Reporting in the federal government also
deals with nonfinancial information about service efforts and
accomplishments of the government, i.e., the inputs of resources used
by the government, the outputs of goods and services provided by the
government, the outcomes and impacts of governmental programs,
and the relationships among these elements.?

Role Of The FASAB In The mission of the FASAB is to recommend accounting standards [for the

Federal Accounting And Jederal government] after ... considering the financial and budgetary

Financial R in nformation needs of congressional oversight groups, execulive agencies,
ancial heporting and the needs of other users of federal financial information.?

23. The FASAB and its sponsors believe that any description of federal
financial reporting objectives should consider the needs of both
internal and external report users and the decisions they make. This
implies a different role for the FASAB than for the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The FASB sets financial

“Except where the context indicates otherwise, the term “government” in this document
refers both to the U.S. government as a whole and to its component reporting entities, such
as agencies and programs.

’From the FASAB Mission Statement, approved by the Board and by the Secretary of the
Treasury, the Director of OMB, and the Comptroller General of the United States in 1991.
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24.

2b.

20.

27.

reporting standards for privately owned entities in the United States.
The GASB sets financial reporting standards for state and local
governments.

Those Boards exist primarily to set standards for general purpose
financial reporting to external users of financial reports. This is
because those users, by definition, have limited ability to control the
nature of the information made available to them. The FASB and the
GASB do not need to weigh heavily managers’ information needs
because those individuals, by definition, are assumed to have ready
access to the information they need about the financial transactions
and events that affect the financial position, operations, and financial
condition of the entities they manage.

The FASAB, on the other hand, considers the information needs of
both internal and external users. In part, this is because the distinction
between internal and external users is in many ways less significant
for the federal government than for other entities. Officials who in
theory should have ready access to information often find in practice
that it is not available. Factors that contribute to this problem include
the size and complexity of the government, the rapid turnover among
senior political executives compared with the time required to install
information systems in large bureaucracies, and the division of
authority in the federal government.

The FASAB’s dual concern, with both internal and external reporting,
is the result of such factors and of the Board’s mandate. The FASAB
was created to advise OMB and Treasury (agents of the President) and
the GAO (an agent of the Congress) on accounting standards for
federal agencies and programs in order to improve financial reporting
practices.

The Board’s sponsors have separate constitutional and statutory
authorities for setting accounting policy for the government. The
division of powers in the U.S. government means that different
policymakers with independent authority find it useful to have a
mechanism to coordinate their accounting policy activities. The Board
and its public deliberative process also provide a new arena for the
participants to deliberate and to discover how federal accounting and
financial reporting can be improved.
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28.

29.

Just as the traditional distinction between internal and external report
users is less useful in the federal context, some of the traditional ways
of classifying financial reports are less relevant. Reports can be
intended primarily for a designated special purpose or for general
purpose use. In the federal government, as in most entities, internal
financial reporting is designed for special purposes. Internal financial
reporting helps managers to plan, conduct, and coordinate their
activities and to evaluate the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of
their programs.

Much external federal financial reporting also is for special purposes,
but some is for general purpose use; that is, it attempts to meet the
common needs of many different users who have limited power to
demand information directly. These reports are known as general
purpose reports.*

Limitations Of Financial 30.

Reporting

31.

32.

The FASB and the GASB focus primarily on general purpose financial
reporting because that is their mandate and reason for being. Even so,
those Boards recognize that general purpose financial reporting is not
the only source of financial information about such entities. In many
cases, users of general purpose financial reports need to consult other
sources to satisfy their information needs. This is no less true for the
federal government.

While certain information is provided by general purpose financial
reports, other information is better provided by, or can be provided
only by, financial reporting outside such reports. Still other
information is provided by nonfinancial reports or by financial reports
about segments of the national society other than the federal
government and its component entities (e.g., economic reporting).

Often, to satisfy the information needs of various individuals, it is
necessary to combine and report financial and nonfinancial
information. Often, combining information about the government with
information about aspects of the national society is necessary to

‘In state and local governmental accounting, the term “general-purpose financial statements
(GPFS)” has a quite specific meaning. Standards published by the GASB define in detail the
form and content of such reports. The term “general-purpose reports” is used in a more
generic sense in this document to refer to a variety of federal financial reports.
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assess past or planned governmental actions. For example,
information about the number of people gainfully employed after
participating in a vocational education program would be important
both in assessing past governmental expenditures for training and in
evaluating plans for similar new expenditures.

33. Some questions arise with special force regarding the nature of
general purpose reports because, by definition, no user or potential
user is able unilaterally to define the requirements for these reports.
The FASAB is, by design, well constituted to consider the issues
involved with such reports.

34. Federal accounting also must support special purpose reporting to the
Congress, executives, and others that the FASAB represents. Indeed,
most federal financial reporting is special purpose reporting. Also, the
Board notes that traditional “general purpose” financial reports may
serve a larger and more useful purpose for a variety of audiences if
traditional designs for such reports are expanded to include a variety
of reports addressing budgetary integrity, operating performance,
stewardship, and control of federal activities.

Evolutionary Approach 35. The FASAB recognizes that developing and implementing standards
that will contribute to achieving certain objectives may take
considerable time. Time will be needed to establish information-
gathering systems and to gain experience by experimenting with
alternative approaches.

36. The FASAB expects that some of these objectives may best be
accomplished through means of reporting outside general purpose
financial reports. Indeed, the FASAB recognizes that information
sources other than financial reporting, sources over which the FASAB
may have little or no influence, also are important to achieving the
goals implied by these objectives.

37. In developing specific standards, the FASAB will consider the needs of
financial information users, the usefulness of the information in
relation to the cost of developing and providing it, and the ability of
accounting standards to address those needs compared with other
information sources.
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Background Information 38. Different people are likely to talk about very different things when

i ; asked to describe federal financial reporting or federal accounting. A
On Federal Financial
Rep orting few examples will illustrate this point

39. An economist, when asked this question, is likely to refer to reports
about the national society as a whole. Among the most important of
such financial reports are the national income and product accounts
(NIPA) that measure the nation’s aggregate expenditures on currently
produced output. Federal government expenditures, of course,
constitute a significant fraction of the total expenditures in the
economy. The NIPAs, as a system, emerged in the 1940s and were built
on work done in the U.S. Department of Commerce beginning in the
1930s and earlier by private organizations.

40. The NIPAs provide a picture of the economic transactions that occur
in an accounting period, such as a year. The approach is to provide
such a picture through a set of accounts that aggregate the accounts
belonging to the individual transactors in the economy—workers,
businesses, and consumers, among others—whether or not formal
accounting statements exist explicitly for all of them.

41. The NIPAs provide vital information to policymakers and others who
are planning future actions and to individuals who would like to assess
the effects of past actions. The NIPAs are recognized as an essential
part of economic reporting by national governments. For this reason,
the United Nations has developed the System of National Accounts
(SNA). The SNA is a comprehensive, integrated, and internationally
comparable statistical base for analysis in key policy-making areas,
such as economic growth, inflation, and productivity.

42. This Statement does not deal directly with such accounts of the
economic activity of the national society. The focus of this Statement
is on accounting systems and financial reports that deal with the
budgetary integrity, operating performance, and stewardship of the
government as such; that is, of the government as a legal and
organizational entity within the national society. However, to report on
some aspects of the government’s performance and stewardship,
economic and other information about the national society is
essential. Thus, the FASAB may consider whether such economic
information should be included in certain financial reports, such as
general purpose financial reports for the U.S. government as a whole.
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43.

44.

45.

46.

47.

A financial analyst on Wall Street, when asked about federal
financial reporting, is likely to think of the “Daily Treasury Statement”
and the “Monthly Treasury Statement of Receipts and Outlays of the
United States Government.” Some financial analysts study these
Treasury reports regularly to assess the effect of cash flows on bank
reserves and the size of the government’s borrowing requirements.
The federal government’s borrowing is viewed as free of default risk
because of the government’s ability to tax and to create money. The
power to tax depends on the government’s willingness to tax and the
strength of the economy.

From a longer-term perspective, it is true, however, that borrowers’
expectations about such factors as future inflation and the relative
value of the dollar compared with other currencies can influence the
borrowing costs of the United States. Those expectations, in turn, may
be influenced by the deficit reported or projected by the government,
the current inflation rate, and other factors.

Someone concerned with formulating or executing the U.S.
budget, when asked about the “federal accounting model,” is likely to
think of the budgetary accounting system. This is the system used to
keep track of spending authority at various stages of budget execution
from appropriation through apportionment and allotment to obligation
and eventual outlay. This system is used by Congress and the
executive branch for such purposes as “scoring” the budget and for
assessing the economic implications of federal financial activity at an
aggregate level. It also is used for planning and controlling government
operations at more detailed, disaggregated levels. Of course, people
involved with the budget also are informed by, and rely on, sources of
information other than the budgetary accounting system, e.g., program
evaluation and performance measures.

Although the FASAB does not recommend standards for the budget or
budget concepts, part of its mission is to recommend accounting
principles that will help provide relevant and reliable financial
information to support the budgetary process. Furthermore,
information about budget execution is essential to assessing
budgetary integrity.

Accountants working for the federal government, individuals
auditing government programs, or students in a governmental
accounting course are likely to think first of what are known within
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the federal government as the “proprietary” accounts and the reports
prepared, in part, from information in them. These accounts are used
to record assets and liabilities that are not accounted for in the
budgetary accounts. These reports are said to present “financial
position” and “results of operations” in accordance with some set of
accounting standards. The FASAB is most directly concerned with
these accounts and with the reports that are prepared, in large part,
with information from them.

48. Attention to this and other aspects of federal accounting and financial
reporting has been greatly increased by the Chief Financial Officers
Act of 1990 (CFO Act). This act mandates improved financial
management by requiring, among other things, (1) new financial
organizations, (2) enhanced systems, and (3) audited financial
reporting. However, the FASAB’s area of concern is not limited to the
reports required by the CFO Act.

Chapter 2: The 49. Financial reporting is an important, basic tool in the management and
Fed 1A ti oversight of most organizations. It is particularly important for the
ederal Accounting federal government because of the government’s fundamental nature

And Financial and responsibilities and because the federal government operates with
s fewer external restraints than other entities. Federal accounting and

RQpQITng financial reporting are shaped by, and need to respond to, the unique

Environment characteristics and environment of the federal government, as

discussed below.

Soverejgnty 50. The federal government is unique, when compared with any other
entity in the country, because it is the vehicle through which the
citizens of the United States exercise their sovereign power.” The
federal government has the power through law, regulation, and

*The word “sovereign,” much discussed by legal and political philosophers, is used here in its
broad, popular sense to imply (1) internally that the people are the ultimate (if indirect)
overseer or authority in the decision-making process of a democratic state and

(2) externally that the state is autonomous or independent. As noted by one authority on the
subject, either type of sovereignty, internal or external, implies that there is no higher
agency. In a more limited sense, sovereignty is the power to make or change the law, a power
exercised collectively by individuals and institutions operating in a complex system of
relationships. See “Sovereignty,” W. J. Stankiewicz, The New Encyclopedia Britannica, 15th.
ed. (1976), vol. 17, pp. 309-313.
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taxation to exercise ultimate control over many facets of the national
economy and society. All other entities within the nation, both public
and private, operate within the context of laws, oversight, and
accountability established by the national government. The federal
government is accountable only to its citizens. It is politically
accountable to the electorate, but no higher agency has the power to
demand an accounting from the government.

Separation Of Powers 51. Because of their concern about potential abuse of the national
government’s power, the founders designed a government
characterized by the separation of powers. Each branch of
government—Ilegislative, executive, and judicial—is checked and
constrained by the others. Paradoxically, this same separation of
power can obscure responsibility and reduce accountability. The
interrelated responsibilities of the legislative and executive branches,
for example, can make it difficult to assign responsibility for the
policies that are adopted.

Federal System Of 52. The federal system of government— comprising federal, state, and

Government local levels of government—also makes it difficult to pinpoint
accountability for many programs. The federal government’s
responsibility relative to that of the states has gradually expanded. The
federal government has undertaken responsibilities in areas such as
income redistribution, education, and health care. Often, however, the
expansion has come without direct federal control over related
operations. Responsibilities and financial resources of the three levels
of government have become intermingled. Citizens are not clear about
who is in charge, where to press for performance, and whom they
should blame for bad results.

Responsibility For The 53. The federal government is unique in that it has continuing

Common Defense And responsibility for the nation’s common defense and general welfare.

General Welfare As aresult, the government’s financial condition is necessarily a
secondary consideration in many cases. For example, the nation
would enter into military conflict to protect its vital national interests
despite the fact that doing so would worsen an already large deficit.
(Similarly, the government’s greatest resource is one that it does not
own but can tax: the national economy.)
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54. Further, providing for the nation’s general welfare is a broad
responsibility that involves multiple goals. There is no single measure
of success (like “return on investment” or “earnings per share”). Goals
often are not explicitly defined in quantifiable terms and sometimes
conflict with each other. Relevant measures of performance are
usually nonfinancial. For example, many federal loan programs are
charged with two conflicting goals: (1) to operate as a fiscally prudent
lender and (2) to provide high-risk lenders with credit.

Power To TaX, BOI‘I‘OW, 5b. As stated, the federal government has unique access to financial

And Create Money resources and financing. It has the power to tax, to borrow, and to
create money. These powers give the government a call on the
underlying wealth of the United States—a vast but finite pool of
resources.

56. There is no constitutional requirement to provide sufficient revenues
to fund expenditures of the federal government. There is a statutory
limit on the amount of U.S. debt. This limit is routinely increased by
Congress and the President. The federal government’s ability to
finance its debt has not been constrained by capital market
assessments of its creditworthiness. It is true, however, that the cost
of servicing the U.S. debt now constrains the range of feasible fiscal
and monetary policies more than was formerly the case.

57. The federal government—through the Federal Reserve—also has the
power to create money and to control its supply.® This ensures that
creditors will be repaid, at least in nominal terms. When the
government’s debt is large, it also provides a temptation to create
money, as well as inflation.

Influence Of Organized 58. Because of the size and nature of government programs, it is difficult

Interests for individuals to evaluate or to influence policies and actions of the
federal government. Typically, individuals must organize to exercise
influence. Small groups whose members are significantly affected by a
common factor or concern can be organized relatively easily, but they
may find it difficult to wield much influence. Large groups may be

The Federal Reserve Board functions as a largely independent entity but is, of course, a
government agency created by congressional action.
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influential, but organizing them is difficult if the members have
common but diffuse interests. Once organized, interest groups tend to
perpetuate themselves.

59. As aresult, most elected and appointed federal officials, and the
groups to which they are responsive, have been interested primarily in
information about individual government programs, functions, or
activities. They have been less interested in information about the
government as a whole and even less concerned about intermediate
levels of reporting, such as individual departments.

Political System Versus 60. The federal government is not subject to the discipline of competitive

Private Markets markets for private goods, services, and capital. Generally,
transactions between citizens and the government are not individual
exchanges between willing buyers and willing sellers. Taxpayers
provide resources involuntarily, based on their consumption, wealth,
or income rather than on their desire for particular government
services. Even when user fees are charged, they often are not intended
to represent market clearing prices—prices that would, in markets for
private goods, balance supply and demand.

61. Thus, citizens as individuals have little say in selecting the public
services they pay for. Decisions on what public services will be
provided are collective decisions made through the political process.
Politically influential recipients of benefits can force less influential
non-recipients to bear the cost of the benefits.

62. Further, because most governmental revenues are not earned in
individual, voluntary, exchange transactions, no private market
directly measures the value of output. Consequently, the value added
to society’s well-being by government programs cannot be gauged by
conventional measures of net income, nor is there much competitive
market constraint on the quantity or quality of services provided.
Instead, decisions about the quantity, quality, and value of public
services are collective decisions made by the political process.

Assets 63. The government makes significant investments in assets, including
public domain assets and large investments intended to produce
growth (educational programs and research and development, for
example).
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64.

65.

In government, as in the private sector, assets are expected to provide
benefits that outweigh costs. In the private sector, the notion of
benefits is relatively straightforward: benefits are measured in terms
of cash inflows. Assets are not acquired unless the value of expected
cash flows exceeds acquisition costs.

In the government, this discipline does not usually exist. Expected
benefits often are not cash inflows but rather are the services provided
by the asset. Sometimes those services are provided to the
government itself (e.g., government office buildings or motor pools).
More often, the services are provided to the public (e.g., education and
research and development).

Responsibility To The
News Media

66.

The federal government is subjected to, and should encourage,
scrutiny by the news media. Because of the lack of external restraints
and because the government’s power ultimately resides in the citizens,
it has a special responsibility to citizens and taxpayers to disclose its
activities.

Importance Of The
Budget

67.

The budget is the most widely recognized and used financial report of
the federal government. It is a principal surrogate for the missing
external restraints discussed above. It is a vehicle for the political
process to reach agreement on goals and to allocate resources among
competing priorities. It provides a system for controlling expenditures.
And it supplies information necessary for assessing the effect on the
economy of the government’s fiscal policies. The role of budgeting in
financial reporting is discussed further in Chapter 7 under
“Relationship of Financial Reporting to Budgeting.”

Need For Special
Control Mechanisms

68.

69.

Page 24

The lack of external restraints noted above creates a need for special
control mechanisms. Some mechanisms exist today. The most
important, of course, are the political constraints and accountability
imposed by regular elections and the separation of powers and the
other constitutional constraints and accountabilities, such as the
federal system and freedom of speech.

Accounting and financial reporting also play a role. Budgetary

obligation accounting is used to control activities, primarily at the
budget account level. Audited financial reports can provide users with
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assurance that accounting systems are providing consistent and
reliable data.

70. However, the need for improvement in financial reporting is widely
recognized, as is the fact that financial information alone often is
insufficient for decision-making. For example, financial information
on costs often must be combined with nonfinancial information on
performance to provide a basis for assessing the efficiency and
effectiveness of government programs.

Chapter 3: 71. It may be said that “accountability” and its corollary, “decision
Accountabilitv And usefulness,” comprise the two fundamental values of governmental
y ] accounting and financial reporting. They provide the foundation for

UseI‘S’ Information the objectives of federal financial reporting. Because a democratic
Needs—the government should be accountable for its integrity, performance, and

. stewardship, it follows that the government must provide information
Foundation Of useful to assess that accountability. Similarly, because a democratic
Governmental government is accountable for operating economically, efficiently, and

effectively, for the purposes intended by citizens and their elected
officials, certain other conclusions logically follow. Specifically, those
who formulate, select, and implement government policies and
programs need information useful for planning, controlling, and
conducting government functions.

Financial Reporting

72. The assertion of accountability therefore leads to identifying, first,
those to whom government is accountable and, second, the
information needed to maintain and demonstrate that accountability.
Accordingly, this Chapter first discusses the concept of accountability,
then identifies the four groups of users of federal financial reports. It
concludes by providing some examples of the information needs that
may be addressed to some extent by federal financial reports.

Accountability 73. Several different kinds of accountability can be distinguished, and a
given piece of information may be relevant in different ways to
judgments about accountability. For example, one authority suggests
that there are five levels or types of public accountability:

o Level 1 is policy accountability—selection of policies pursued
and rejected (value).
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74.

. Level 2 is program accountability—establishment and
achievement of goals (outcomes).

. Level 3 is performance accountability—efficient operation
(efficiency and economy).

. Level 4 is process accountability—using adequate processes,
procedures, or measures in performing the actions called for
(planning, allocating, and managing).

. Level 5 is probity and legality accountability—spending the funds
in accordance with approved budget and/or approved items
(compliance).”

In a democracy, appointed officials are accountable to their superiors,
and elected officials are accountable to the citizens for each of these
kinds of accountability. Accounting and financial reporting can help
elected and appointed officials to maintain and to demonstrate their
accountability. The last kind of accountability listed, for “probity and
legality,” probably is the kind most often associated by the public with
accounting. However, the accounting profession has long recognized
that accounting can and should contribute to achieving and
demonstrating several kinds of accountability, such as

. accountability for financial resources;

. accountability for faithful compliance or adherence to legal
requirements and administrative policies;

. accountability for efficiency and economy in operations; and

e accountability for the results of government programs and
activities, as reflected in accomplishments, benefits, and
effectiveness.®

Users Of Federal
Financial Reports

The Board believes that users of financial information about the
federal government can be classified in four major groups: citizens,
Congress, executives, and program managers.

J. D. Stewart, “The Role of Information in Public Accountability,” eds. Tony Hopwood and
Cyril R. Tompkins, Issues in Public Sector Accounting (Oxford, Great Britain: Philip Allan,

1984),

pp. 14-15, as cited by the GASB in its Preliminary Views on Service Efforts and

Accomplishments Reporting (Dec. 1992).

8Report of the Committee on Concepts of Accounting Applicable to the Public Sector,
American Accounting Association (1970-71), pp. 80-81, as cited by the GASB in Preliminary

Views on Service Efforts and Accomplishments Reporting (Dec. 1992).
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Citizens 76. This group includes individual citizens (without regard to whether
they are taxpayers, voters, or service recipients). Citizens include the
general news media and more specialized users, such as trade
journals; public interest and other advocacy groups; state and local
legislators and executives; and analysts from corporations, academe,
and elsewhere.

77. Citizens are interested in many aspects of the federal government.
They are concerned about individual programs, candidates for office,
the services the government provides, and the fiscal responsibility of
their elected and appointed representatives. Citizens receive and pay
for government services and therefore are concerned with the outputs
and outcomes of those services and the efficiency with which they are
provided. Citizens are concerned about their families and, in
particular, with the financial burden their children and grandchildren
will inherit. As individuals, citizens typically have limited time and
ability to analyze reports about their government; they want and rely
on assurances that the government is functioning economically,
efficiently, and effectively. As they are organized and represented by
analysts working for interest groups and the news media, citizens
want more information about the government’s activities.

78. Citizens express their interest in the government by discussing issues,
by voting, and by writing to their representatives about the quality and
quantity of the services they receive. In some cases, citizens may
decide whether and when to use services and products provided by
the government. They may contribute to political campaigns,
demonstrate support or opposition for individuals responsible for past
and proposed government actions, and even run for office.

Congress 79. This group includes elected members of Congress and their staffs,
including staff of the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the
GAO. Congress is concerned with broad policies, priorities, and the
programs that implement those priorities. It decides what taxes to
impose, what funds should be spent, and for what purpose. Thus,
Congress is concerned both with how to finance programs and with
how they are executed.

80. Congress participates—along with the administration—in the basic
decisions that describe the intent of government. Such decisions
include passing laws in response to public demand, allocating
resources among competing programs, and establishing policy that
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81.

Executives 82.

83.

84.

Program managers 85.

86.

Page 28

affects various aspects of the country’s economic and social life. These
decisions often are influenced by assessing costs and benefits and by
considering the effect of the government’s aggregate financial
requirements on the economy.

Congress also participates in monitoring government programs. It
assesses the management performance of the executive branch and
the efficiency and effectiveness of programs.

This group includes the President and those acting as his agents, i.e.,
program agency heads and their deputy, under, and assistant agency
heads; heads of bureaus, administrations, services, and agencies; and
the central agency officials in OMB and the Department of the
Treasury.

Executives, like Congress, are concerned with the government’s goals,
objectives, and policies. Executives focus on the strategic plans and
programs that are intended to achieve presidential and congressional
goals and to implement their policies. In particular, they pay attention
to budgets that, from the perspective of each agency, are the source of
the resources needed to achieve goals and to implement policies.
Executives are, of course, directly concerned about the management
of programs, that is, with the actual delivery of services and with the
efficiency and effectiveness of the delivery process.

Executives develop legislative proposals, recommend the necessary
level of program funding, and formulate financing and revenue-raising
strategies. They help select the method for delivering services. They
determine whether program managers have been accountable for the
resources entrusted to them and whether programs are operating
efficiently and effectively. Executives also provide information that
will enable the President and Congress to monitor programs.

This group includes individuals who manage government programs.
Their concerns include operating plans, program operations, and
budget execution.

Program managers assist in the design of programs and organize the
method selected for delivering services. They recommend program
budgets based on detailed plans that set forth needs for money,
staffing, facilities, and inventory.

FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 1

87. Program managers establish operating procedures for their programs
and manage them within the limits of the spending authority granted
by Congress. They select, supervise, and evaluate personnel. They also
make sure that program inventory and facilities are acquired
economically, maintained adequately, and used efficiently. Program
managers need to provide information to enable executives and
Congress to monitor the programs.

The Needs Of Users Of 88. While the financial information needs of these groups is more diverse

Federal Financial than their membership, those needs can be categorized under four
Reports broad headings.
Budgetary Integrity 89. All user groups need information about the budget. For citizens,

information about budget execution provides assurance that their
elected and appointed representatives have fulfilled their most basic
fiduciary responsibility: to raise and spend money in accordance with
the law.

90. For the President’s economic team and for congressional budget
committees, information is needed on budget aggregates (total budget
authority, total receipts and collections, and total outlays) to establish
fiscal policy, including governmental financing needs. These officials
need to know that prior-year “actuals” have been accurately recorded
in accordance with the same budgetary principles used to prepare
estimates.

91. To avoid violations of the Anti-Deficiency Act and the Impoundment
Control Act, program managers need information about obligations
incurred on their programs. They need periodic information about the
status of budgetary resources, that is, the extent to which the
resources have been used or remain available. They also want to know
whether budgetary resources are available to be used for other
purposes through reprogramming.

Operating Performance 92. Citizens want information about programs that affect them. Veterans,
for example, want to know about new hospitals, and defense workers
want information about contract awards (and cancellations). Retirees
and people planning retirement—and their representatives in
Congress—want to know that the Social Security Administration
provides reliable services to the public.
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Stewardship

93.

9.

95.

96.

97.

98.

99.

100.
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Congress and executives want information about the comparative
costs of programs (such as the per student cost of the Job Corps
Program versus that of other job training programs). For comparisons
to be valid, costs must be defined and measured alike.

Of course, information on the effectiveness of programs is also needed
to make valid comparisons among programs. Information is needed
about outputs (e.g., number of students who graduated) and outcomes
(e.g., number of students who got and held jobs for which they were
trained).

Executives and program managers need to know the cost of
performing work reimbursed by other government entities or by
nonfederal customers. Costs, in this case, would measure the
resources (personnel, material, and equipment) used to accomplish
the work.

Congress and executives often want cost information that would help
to compare alternative courses of action. How much more or less
would it cost if the Census Bureau used a new approach to taking the
census? How much would be saved if an Army division were based in
the United States rather than in Europe?

Program managers need information on the assets and liabilities
related to operations. Managers of loan programs need information on
the quality of their loan portfolios. Managers of repair depots want
information on inventories, such as their value, quantity, location, age,
and condition. Managers of government facilities need to know the
facilities’ condition and an estimate of future outlays made necessary
by deferring needed maintenance.

Congress and executives need information about the market value of
assets that could be sold, such as precious metals or other
commodities.

Citizens, Congress, executives, and program managers need
information to assess the effect of the government’s activities on its
financial condition and that of the nation. Information is needed about
the financial outlook for both the short and the long term.

Information is needed on the government’s exposure and risks
associated with deposit insurance, pension insurance, and flood
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insurance. People need to know about likely future expenditures for
cleaning up nuclear weapons sites and military bases. They want
information that will help them assess the likelihood and amount of
future claims that might arise from government- sponsored
enterprises.

101. All users need information on earmarked revenues recorded in trust
funds. They want to know, for example, whether the Social Security
Trust funds are likely, in the foreseeable future, to need infusions of
new taxes to pay benefits. Citizens need to know the implications of
investing trust fund revenues in government securities.

102. Users also need trend information on spending on investments in
physical and human capital versus spending on consumption.

Systems and Control 103. Users at all levels need information on internal controls and the
adequacy of financial management systems. Citizens want assurances
that systems and controls are in place to protect the resources they
supply to the government. They want to know that operating
procedures and processes provide reasonable assurance that those
resources are used economically and efficiently for the purposes
intended. Congress, executives, and program managers need to
demonstrate to those to whom they are accountable that they have, in
fact, protected those resources and used them well. Users want to
know, for example, that agency heads have determined that internal
controls are adequate, that basic financial statements are auditable,
and that high-risk areas have been identified and addressed.

104. The implications of these four broad categories of information needs
for the objectives of federal financial reporting are discussed in more
detail in the next Chapter.

Chapter 4: 105. The federal government derives its just powers from the consent of the
Obiecti Of governed. It therefore has a special responsibility to report on its
JeC 1ve§ . actions and the results of those actions. These reports must accurately
Federal Financial reflect the distinctive nature of the federal government and must
Reporting provide information useful to the people, their elected representatives,

and federal executives. Providing this information to the public, the
news media, and elected officials is an essential part of accountability
in government. Providing this information to program managers,
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executives, and members of Congress is essential to planning and
conducting the government’s functions economically, efficiently, and
effectively for the benefit of society.

Financial reporting is not the only source of information to support
decision-making and accountability. Neither can financial reporting,
by itself, ensure that the government operates as it should. Financial
reporting can, however, make a useful contribution toward those
objectives.

The objectives discussed below apply both to internal and to external
financial reports. To some degree, they also apply both to special
purpose and to general purpose reports. Users of general purpose
financial reports may have difficulty obtaining relevant information to
hold the federal government accountable if the government operates
without appropriate reporting objectives and accounting standards.
The Board also intends that these objectives and the ensuing
standards will prove widely useful for other purposes, though they
may not apply to every special report or every item in the accounting
system. The objectives are intended to improve the relevance,
consistency, and quality of accounting and other data available for a
wide variety of applications.

The Board expects that its recommendations will be applied to
improve information for program management and executive and
legislative branch decision-making. The Department of the Treasury,
OMB, and the GAO expect that, to the extent possible, their reporting
requirements will be aligned with the Board’s objectives and
standards.

Four major objectives are proposed, around which accounting
standards should be organized. These objectives are designed to help
ensure the accountability of the federal government and to better
inform decisions influenced by financial information about the
government. Each objective reflects the federal environment and
meets many of the needs expressed by current and potential users of
federal financial information. Together, they provide a framework for
assessing the existing accountability and financial reporting systems
of the federal government and for considering how new accounting
standards might be able to enhance those systems in a cost-effective
manner.
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110. Current and potential users of federal financial information want
information to help them assess how well the government is doing by
answering questions regarding topics like those below:

e Budgetary Integrity: What legal authority was provided for
financing government activities and for spending the monies?
Were the financing and spending in accordance with these
authorities? How much was left?

o Operating Performance: How much do various programs cost,
and how were they financed? What outputs and outcomes were
achieved? What and where are the important assets, and how
effectively are they managed? What liabilities arose from
operating the program, and how will they be provided for or
liquidated?

o Stewardship: Did the government’s financial condition improve
or deteriorate? What provision was made for the future?

o Systems and Control: Does the government have cost-effective
systems and controls to safeguard its assets? Is it able to detect
likely problems? Is it correcting deficiencies when detected?

111. Concerns like these define the objectives of federal financial
reporting. In the following text, objectives and subobjectives are
stated in bold italic type. Each of the objectives and subobjectives is
followed by a commentary that explains some of the implications of
the objective.

Budgetary Integrity

Objective 1 112. Federal financial reporting should assist in fulfilling the
government’s duty to be publicly accountable for monies raised
through taxes and other means and for their expenditure in
accordance with the appropriations laws that establish the
government’s budget for a particular fiscal year and related
laws and regulations.

113. This objective arises generally from the responsibility of
representative governments to be accountable for the monies that are
raised and spent and for compliance with law. More specifically it
arises from the requirement in Article I, Section 9 of the Constitution
of the United States that “No Money shall be drawn from the Treasury,
but in Consequence of Appropriations made by Law; and a regular
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Statement and Account of the Receipts and Expenditures of all public
Money shall be published from time to time.” Its focus is the Budget of
the United States Government, the President’s annual budget
submission to the Congress, which is the government’s principal
financial report, and the laws enacting budget authority for a given
fiscal year. The Budget of the United States Government is the initial
frame of reference within which Congress and the President enact the
laws that require the payment of taxes and provide the authority to
obligate and spend money.

The focus of this objective is retrospective. That is, the focus is on
recording actual data from budget execution against appropriations
made by Congress using existing budgetary standards. Thus, it would
validate the “actual” column shown in the Budget of the United States
Government. It would also provide data that could be shown in other
reports as a statement of budget execution or a statement of the status
of budgetary resources. The data also could be displayed in analytical
tables showing, for example, the historical pattern of receipts and
outlays.

Certain subobjectives arise from the basic objective of budgetary
integrity, as discussed below.

Federal financial reporting should provide information that
helps the reader to determine:

1A. How budgetary resources have been obtained and used
and whether their acquisition and use were in accordance with
the legal authorization.

Considering this objective in conjunction with the specific information
needs identified by the Board suggests some examples of information
that might help meet this objective:

e  government receipts and offsetting collections reported in total
and by composition;

e  obligations according to the nature of services or items procured;
e information about the extent of compliance with the budget and
laws, and whether money was expended as intended by the

federal government and its grantees; and
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e  valid data on budget authority, obligations, and outlays by
program and for all appropriation and fund accounts
(summarized appropriately to fit the intended audience).

118. 1B. The status of budgetary resources.
Examples of information that could help meet this objective include

o information about the sufficiency of budget authority for
covering commitments and the status of obligated and
unobligated balances of budgetary resources and

e assurances that funds authorized for a given purpose were
actually spent for that purpose.

119. 1C. How information on the use of budgetary resources relates
to information on the costs of program operations and whether
information on the status of budgetary resources is consistent
with other accounting information on assets and liabilities.

120. This subobjective arises from the fact that accrual-basis measures of
the cost of government programs, functions, and activities may differ
from the amounts used in the budget for a variety of valid reasons.

121. Reports primarily intended to address objective 1 and its first two
subobjectives would use budgetary measurement. Subobjective 1C
would use both budgetary and accrual measures because
reconciliation of the two is implied. The basic accounting unit for this
objective would be the budget account, although accounts are often
aggregated for some reporting purposes.

Operating Performance

Objective 2 122. Federal financial reporting should assist report users in
evaluating the service efforts, costs, and accomplishments of
the reporting entity; the manner in which these efforts and
accomplishments have been financed; and the management of
the entity’s assets and liabilities.

123. This objective arises from a democratic government’s duty to be

accountable to its citizens for managing resources and providing
services economically and efficiently and for effectiveness in attaining
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planned goals. Also, the government should be accountable for raising
resources efficiently.

124. Because government services are not usually provided in exchange for
voluntary payments or fees, expenses cannot be matched against
revenue to measure “earnings” or “net income” as would be done in
business accounting. Moreover, directly measuring the value added to
society’s welfare by government actions is difficult. Nonetheless,
expenses can be matched against the provision of services year by
year. The resulting cost can then be analyzed in relationship to a
variety of measures of the achievement of results.

125. Certain subobjectives arise from the basic objective of reporting on
operating performance, as discussed below.

Federal financial reporting should provide information that
helps the reader to determine:

126. 2A. The costs of providing specific programs and activities and
the composition of, and changes in, these costs.

127. Examples of financial information that can help to address this
objective include

. information on the costs of programs and activities;

. cost comparisons with estimates, with similar functions, with
targets,” and over time; and

e relevant analyses of the composition and behavior of costs, such
as full and incremental costs, fixed and variable costs, direct and
indirect costs, and reimbursable and other costs, where
appropriate.

128. 2B. The efforts and accomplishments associated with federal
programs and the changes over time and in relation to costs.

129. Examples of information that can help to address this objective
include

%Performance targets” specify the level of performance that is set as a goal by policy and
program officials. Targets may be set in terms of outputs, outcomes, impacts, cost per unit of
output, etc.
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. financial and nonfinancial indicators of service inputs, outputs,
and outcomes, including comparisons with goals;

o indicators of program efficiency and effectiveness;

o work load measures and unit costs; and

o total and marginal costs and benefits, the relationship of these to
budget requests, and when the benefits will be realized.

130. 2C. The efficiency and effectiveness of the government’s
management of its assets and liabilities.

131. This subobjective implies concern with the management of all federal
assets and liabilities used by or under the control of agencies. Users of
financial reports focus on the use of these resources in program
operations, not solely on their financial value. Reports intended to
address this objective would provide information to help users assess
the efficiency and effectiveness with which

. cash is used;

. loan, loan guarantee, and other receivables programs are
conducted,;

¢ inventories of supplies, materials, and similar items are
maintained; and

e forfeited and other tangible assets are handled.

132. Other examples of information relevant to this objective might include

o the service life and replacement cost of major systems and
equipment;

o backlogs (and budgetary impact) of delayed maintenance,
rehabilitation cost or replacement value of assets;

. the market value of forfeited and other assets, particularly those
held for sale;

o the extent of unpaid expenses; and

o estimates (and ranges of estimates) of other known liabilities
(such as leases or deposit and other insurance liabilities) and
other exposures to loss.

133. Further discussion of performance measurement and how financial

reporting can contribute to reporting on performance is provided in
Chapter 8.
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Stewardship

Objective 3 134. Federal financial reporting should assist report users in
assessing the impact on the country of the government’s
operations and investments for the period and how, as a result,
the government’s and the nation’s financial condition has
changed and may change in the future.!

135. This objective is based on the federal government’s responsibility for
the general welfare of the nation in perpetuity. It focuses not on the
provision of specific services but on the requirement that the
government report the broad outcomes of its actions. Certain
subobjectives arise from the basic objective of stewardship, as
discussed below.

Federal financial reporting should provide information that
helps the reader to determine:

136. 3A. Whether the government’s financial position improved or
deteriorated over the period.

Examples of information relevant to this objective include

. the amount of assets, liabilities, and net assets (or net position);

. an analysis of government debt, its growth, and debt service
requirements;

. changes in the amount and service potential of capital assets; and

e the amount of contingent liabilities and unrecognized obligations
(such as the probable cost of deposit insurance).

137. Assessing whether the government’s financial position improved or
deteriorated over the period is important not only because it has
financial implications but also because it has social and political
implications. This is because analysis of why financial position
improved or deteriorated helps to explain whether financial burdens
were passed on by current-year taxpayers to future-year taxpayers

YThe concepts of “financial position” and “financial condition” are discussed in Chapter 7.
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without related benefits. The latter notion is sometimes referred to as
“interperiod equity.”"!

138. Viewed in this broader context, providing information to meet
objective 3 and its subobjectives will help to satisfy the needs
expressed by financial report users. It will also help to explain the
issuance of new debt in relation to expenditures for activities with
current benefits versus expenditures for investment-type activities
that yield future benefits.

139. 3B. Whether future budgetary resources will likely be
sufficient to sustain public services and to meet obligations as
they come due.

140. Information about the results of past government operations is useful
in assessing the stewardship exercised by the government. Users of
financial reports also want help in assessing the likelihood that the
government will continue to provide the current level of benefits and
services to constituent groups, such as farmers, retirees, and the poor.

141. Information relevant to this objective may include disclosures of
financial risks that are likely or reasonably possible from sources such
as government-sponsored enterprises, deposit insurance, and disaster
relief programs. It could also include information such as

o the long-term financial implications of the budgetary process,
o the status of trust funds, and
e backlogs of deferred maintenance.

142. Providing information of this kind may require the use of reporting
mechanisms other than traditional financial statements. For example,

n paragraph 61 of its first conceptual statement, Objectives of Financial Reporting, the
GASB noted: “The Board believes that interperiod equity is a significant part of
accountability and is fundamental to public administration. It therefore needs to be
considered when establishing financial reporting objectives [for state and local
governmental entities]. In short, financial reporting should help users assess whether
current-year revenues are sufficient to pay for the services provided that year and whether
future taxpayers will be required to assume burdens for services previously provided.”
GASB’s Statement 11, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting--Governmental Fund
Operating Statements, adds “Conversely, [a measure of interperiod equity] would show
whether current-year revenues not only were sufficient to pay for current-year services, but
also increased accumulated net resources.”
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special reports may have to be developed to demonstrate whether the
level of a particular year’s maintenance and rehabilitation
expenditures resulted in an improvement or a deterioration of capital
assets and infrastructure.

143. 3C. Whether government operations have contributed to the
nation’s current and future well-being.

144. Objective 3, in general, and subobjective 3C, in particular, imply a
concern with “financial condition,” as well as “financial position.”
Financial condition is a broader and more forward-looking concept
than that of financial position. Reporting on financial condition
requires financial and nonfinancial information about the national
economy and society, as well as about the government itself. For
example, reports intended to help meet this objective might address
users’ needs for information about

. investments in (or expenditures for) research and development,
military readiness, and education;

changes in the service potential of infrastructure assets;
spending for consumption relative to investments;
opportunities for growth-stimulating activities; and

the likelihood of future inflation.

145. Indicators of financial position, measured on an accrual basis, are the
starting point for reporting on financial condition but must be
supplemented in a variety of ways. For example, subobjective 3B
might imply reporting, among other things, a current law budget
projection under a range of alternative assumptions. Reports intended
to achieve subobjective 3C might disclose, among other things, the
contribution that the government is making to national wealth by
financing assets that are not federally owned, such as research and
development, education and training, and state-owned infrastructure.
Information on trends in total national wealth and income is also
important.

Systems And Control

Objective 4 146. Federal financial reporting should assist report users in
understanding whether financial management systems and
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internal accounting and administrative controls are adequate
to ensure that

) transactions are executed in accordance with budgetary
and financial laws and other requirements, consistent with
the purposes authorized, and are recorded in accordance
with federal accounting standards;

. assets are properly safeguarded to deter fraud, waste, and
abuse; and

e performance measurement information is adequately
supported.

147. This objective arises from the three preceding objectives, in
conjunction with the fact that accounting supports both effective
management and control of organizations and the process of reporting
useful information. Indeed, accounting processes are an integral part
of the management control system.

148. The ability to prepare financial reports that report all transactions,
classified in appropriate ways that faithfully represent the underlying
events, is itself an indication that certain essential controls are in place
and operating effectively. The preparation of reliable financial reports
also helps to ensure that reporting entities have early warning systems
to indicate potential problems and take actions to correct material
weaknesses or problems.

149. Sound controls over internal processes are essential both to safeguard
assets and to ensure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in many
governmental programs.

150. Information relevant to this objective helps financial report users to
determine whether the entity has established reasonable, cost-
effective programs to safeguard assets, prevent and detect waste and
abuse, and reduce error rates. An example of information that would
address this objective is management’s assertion about the
effectiveness of the internal accounting and operational control
system.
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Users’ information needs define financial reporting. Even so, the
process of articulating financial reporting objectives and then
recommending accounting standards is not a simple progression from
canvassing users of federal financial information to recommending
standards. This is partly because such users, when asked about their
information needs, may give answers that are limited by their past
needs and experiences. More fundamentally, it is because articulating
objectives and recommending accounting standards necessarily
involve judgments about the costs and benefits of producing more
information or of reporting it differently.

The standard-setting process is further complicated by the fact that
any given accounting standard can have many different kinds of
effects that must be considered. For example, accounting standards
can influence the activities of agency accountants and the auditors
who review reports prepared by those accountants, as well as the
decisions of those who read the financial statements. Thus, a standard
may influence which physical assets are under accounting control and
the extent of work the auditor does to provide assurance about those
assets. The accountants’ and auditors’ reports, in turn, may influence
various decisionmakers in different ways as they select policies
regarding the assets and the systems used to control them, decide how
to implement the policies, and evaluate the results.

The standard setter must, to some extent, be aware of these potential
effects when considering the costs and benefits of any given
accounting alternative. As an added complication, the same piece of
information may be used in different ways for different decisions. In
other words, there are different kinds of “use.” In some cases, the
information may be consciously used in well-defined ways; in other
cases, it may subtly influence the way people see the world,
understand their options, and assess their priorities.

For example, the size of the deficit may have a very specific meaning
with quite explicit implications (e.g., sequestration) under certain
rules for scoring the budget. The deficit may also influence the
economy because it affects aggregate demand and the government’s
financing requirements in a variety of ways that economists can only
partially explain and quantify. Finally, the deficit may influence
people’s perceptions of their own well-being or of the nation’s financial
condition in more subjective or symbolic ways that can affect both
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private and collective behavior (e.g., willingness to undertake various
new commitments, to pay more in taxes, or to accept reductions in
program benefits).

155. Finally, as noted earlier, accounting and financial reporting cannot
satisfy every need for information and accountability. For many
purposes, other information sources and other techniques to maintain
and demonstrate accountability are either essential or more cost-
effective. This constraint pervades any discussion of the objectives of
federal financial reporting.

1
Chapter 0: 156. Financial reporting is the means of communicating with those who use
financial information. For this communication to be effective,

Quahtatlv.e . information in financial reports must have these basic characteristics:
Characteristics Of understandability, reliability, relevance, timeliness, consistency, and
Information In comparability.'”

Financial Reports

Understandabi]ity 157. Special purpose reports are prepared to meet the needs of specified
users. Understandability is rarely a problem in such cases because
mutual understanding of what information is needed can generally be
assumed between report preparer and report user. Information in
general purpose financial reports, however, should be expressed as
simply as possible. Users of general purpose financial reports,
including internal users, tend to have different levels of knowledge
and sophistication about government operations, accounting, and
finance.

158. To be publicly accountable, the federal government and its component
entities should issue general purpose financial reports that can be
understood by those who may not have a detailed knowledge of
accounting principles. Those reports should include explanations and
interpretations to help report users understand the information in the
proper context. However, general purpose financial reports should not

2For the most part, these characteristics are similar to those described by the FASB and the
GASB.
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exclude essential information merely because it is difficult to
understand or because some report users choose not to use it.

159. For reports to be understandable to different audiences, different
reports may be necessary to provide information relevant to the needs
of the expected report users, with suitable amounts of detail,
explanation, and related narrative. To be fully intelligible, financial
information in general purpose reports may need to be presented in
relation to the goals, service efforts, and accomplishments of the
reporting entity.

Reliabﬂity 160. Financial reporting should be reliable; that is, the information
presented should be verifiable and free from bias and should faithfully
represent what it purports to represent. To be reliable, financial
reporting needs to be comprehensive. Nothing material should be
omitted from the information necessary to represent faithfully the
underlying events and conditions, nor should anything be included
that would likely cause the information to be misleading to the
intended report user. Reliability does not imply precision or certainty,
but reliability is affected by the degree of estimation in the
measurement process and by uncertainties inherent in what is being
measured. Financial reporting may need to include narrative
explanations about the underlying assumptions and uncertainties
inherent in this process. Under certain circumstances, a properly
explained estimate provides more meaningful information than no
estimate at all.

Relevance 161. Relevance encompasses many of the other characteristics. For
example, if the information provided in a financial report is not timely
or reliable, it is not relevant. Information can, however, meet all other
characteristics and still not be relevant. To be relevant, a logical
relationship must exist between the information provided and the
purpose for which it is needed. Information is relevant if it is capable
of making a difference in a user’s assessment of a problem, condition,
or event. Relevance depends on the types of financial information
needed by the various users to make decisions and to assess
accountability.
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Timeliness 162. In some circumstances, the mere knowledge that a report eventually
will be made public can influence behavior in desirable ways, just as
the knowledge that one’s tax return might eventually be audited can
influence the behavior of people when they report their income. In
other circumstances, however, if financial reports are to be useful,
they must be issued soon enough to affect decisions. Timeliness alone
does not make information useful, but the passage of time usually
diminishes the usefulness that the information otherwise would have
had. In some instances, timeliness may be so essential that it requires
sacrificing a certain amount of precision or detail; a timely estimate
may then be more useful than precise information that takes longer to
produce.

Consistency 163. Financial reports should be consistent over time; that is, once an
accounting principle or reporting method is adopted, it should be used
for all similar transactions and events unless there is good cause to
change. The concept of consistency in financial reporting extends to
many areas, such as valuation methods, basis of accounting, and
determination of the financial reporting entity. If accounting principles
have changed or if the financial reporting entity has changed, the
nature and reason for the change, as well as the effect of the change,
should be disclosed.

Comparability 164. Financial reporting should help report users make relevant
comparisons among similar federal reporting units, such as
comparisons of the costs of specific functions or activities.
Comparability implies that differences among financial reports should
be caused by substantive differences in the underlying transactions or
organizations rather than by the mere selection of different
alternatives in accounting procedures or practices.

Chapter 7- How 165. This Chapter explains the focus of the FASAB’s concern by showing
A . how accounting supports financial reporting and thus how accounting
CCOU.IltlIlg standards recommended by the FASAB can influence federal financial
Supp orts Federal reporting. This Chapter shows how the FASAB’s recommendations
Financial Rep orting can influence a wide variety of financial reports. Additionally, it lays a

foundation for the discussion (in Chapter 8) of how financial reporting
in general, and cost information in particular, contribute to
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performance reporting. In effect, Chapter 7 outlines parts of a
conceptual framework for federal accounting but is limited to those
ideas, such as “financial position” and “financial condition,” that will
help readers understand the Board’s proposed statement of objectives
for federal financial reporting.

Financial Core Data 166. The accounting process begins with recording information about
transactions between the government (or one of its component
entities) and other entities, that is, inflows and outflows of resources
or promises to provide them. These may involve flows of economic
goods, cash, or promises. These comprise the “core” data of the
accounting discipline. This initial step in the accounting process is
depicted at the bottom of figure 1, in the box numbered 1. To enhance
the usefulness of this core set of data about transactions with other
entities, accountants make various accruals, classifications,
interpretations, etc.

167. Many accounting entries recorded in the accountant’s general ledger
data base are such rearrangements of data about previously recorded
transactions with other entities rather than new transactions involving
flows of resources or promises between entities."

168. In the branch of accounting called financial accounting, the most
noteworthy interpretations or classifications are those about which
data pertain to the past and which pertain to the future. In other
words, financial accounting is largely concerned with assigning the
value of past transactions to appropriate time periods.

169. Transaction data assigned to a period that has elapsed are said to be
“recognized” in the statement of operations (or income statement),
e.g., as an expense or a revenue of that period. Transaction data
pertaining to the future are recognized in the statement of financial
position (or balance sheet) as assets and liabilities.

13See William J. Schrader, Robert E. Malcom, and John J. Willingham, “A Partitioned Events
View of Financial Reporting,” Accounting Horizons (Dec. 1988), p 10-20. For a more
academic exploration of the ideas involved, see Yuji [jiri, “Theory of Accounting
Measurement,” Studies in Accounting Research #10, American Accounting Association
1975).

Page 46 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 1

Figure 1: How Accounting Contributes to Information Used by Citizens, Congress, Federal Exceutives, and Program

Managers

Information used to assess accountability and performance, to make planning and policy decisions, to allocate

resources, to decide how to vote, and for other decisions.
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170.

171.

172.

173.

174.

Together with the statement of cash flows, the income statement (or
statement of operations or activities) and the balance sheet comprise
the three “basic” general purpose financial statements for privately
owned entities. Other statements, such as a comparison of actual
results with the budget, may be regarded as part of the basic
statements for governmental entities.

At the initial stage of the accounting process, the information about
assets and liabilities is merely the result of assigning all or part of the
value of certain transactions to the future. “Assets” and “liabilities” at
this stage are not statements about future benefits or sacrifices that
can be proven or disproven. They are allocations of the cost of past
transactions based on assumptions about future benefit and sacrifice.

This has been a common source of confusion when accountants
communicate with nonaccountants, for whom the word “asset”
typically implies something of value that can be sold or used. Much of
the evolution of accounting under the FASB and the GASB has been to
reduce this confusion, to improve communication, and to make
financial reports more faithfully represent economic reality in terms
meaningful to report users. This evolution has involved adding
increasing amounts of information to the core set of transaction data.
That process is discussed later.

In other words, the amount of “equity” or “net assets” based on the
core data in a bookkeeper’s trial balance is not a direct measure of
either the market value or the service potential of the entity. In some
circumstances, however, net assets can be a meaningful indicator of
that value or potential. (The word “indicator” is used deliberately to
avoid the implication of precision that may be associated with the
word “measure.”)™

Accounting data may be further assigned, allocated, or associated with
units of activity or production, segments of organizations, etc., within
the same time period. These kinds of intraperiod allocations are

YThe term “measure” is commonly used in accounting literature regarding cost and in other
literature (including the GASB’s) regarding performance. This document follows that
practice. In a conceptual discussion, however, it is important to note that “cost,”
“performance,” and “financial condition” are all multidimensional concepts. It may be more
precise to think in terms of multiple indicators that provide information about these
concepts instead of a single-valued “measure” of any of them.
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developed most extensively in the branch of accounting called cost or
managerial accounting. Neither the FASB nor the GASB has devoted
much attention to this branch of accounting, but the FASAB, because
of its unique mission, will need to do so. One reason for performing
cost accounting is to assist in performance measurement.

Nonfinancial Core Data 175. Traditionally, financial accountants record and describe transactions
in terms of money. At the most detailed level, however, their records
usually include information about the associated physical inputs and
outputs of goods, labor, etc. This nonfinancial information is an
important part of the data available for reporting and evaluating the
economy and efficiency of the organization’s performance.

Budgetary Core Data 176. In government the data on transactions with other entities include
information on the budget authority, obligations, outlays, receipts, and
offsetting collections for the transactions. This information is
maintained in what are called budgetary accounts to distinguish them
from the “proprietary” accounts that record other information on
transactions. The budgetary and proprietary accounts at this level are
said to be “integrated.” In effect, they maintain information about
different stages of a transaction.

Financial Environmental 177. The core set of accounting data is expanded with a variety of what

Data And The Concept may be called “environmental” data to distinguish them from the data

Of Financial Position that arise from transactions (flows of resources or promises) with
other entities. Box 2 in figure 1 depicts this step of the accounting and
reporting process. Many events within the environment of a reporting
entity may have economic consequences for the entity. Examples of
environmental data that may be relevant to financial reporting for
some purposes include current market prices, net realizable values,
changes in discount (interest) rates, and impairment of assets (either
in terms of market value or in terms of service potential). Judgments
about what environmental data should be added are made by
considering the specific information needed for specific purposes.

178. At this level of the accounting and financial reporting process, the
information reported in the balance sheet transcends bookkeeping. It
can now represent more of what is known about future economic
benefits and sacrifices. To the extent that this is accomplished, the
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balance sheet may be said to represent the “financial position” of the
reporting entity. The concept of financial position is that of a point-in-
time snapshot of an entity’s economic resources and the claims on
those resources.

Nonfinancial 179. Nonfinancial information about program efforts, accomplishments,

Environmental and outcomes may be collected and associated with the financial

Information environmental data. This information is particularly important for
governments because there is no direct analogue to “net income” or
“earnings” to gauge the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness or net
value of governmental activity.

The Concept Of 180. As more environmental data are added to the core data, a concept that

Financial Condition is broader and more forward-looking than “financial position”

emerges. That concept is “financial condition.” For the U.S.
government, the additional data could include financial and
nonfinancial information about current conditions and reasonable
expectations regarding the national and even the global society. For
example, the expected implications of environmental degradation; the
relative competitiveness and productivity of the U.S. economy; or
expected changes in the population’s composition in terms of age,
gender, longevity, education, health, and income all might affect
judgments about the government’s financial condition.

181. Information about financial condition can be conveyed in a variety of
schedules, notes, projections, and narrative disclosures. Among the
most important of these is management’s “discussion and analysis” of
known trends, demands, commitments, events, and uncertainties. For
federal reporting entities, management’s discussion and analysis might
address such topics as

budgetary compliance;

internal control systems;

capital resources and investments;

service efforts, accomplishments, and results of operations; and
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. the reasonably possible future impact of known trends, risks,
demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that may affect
future operations.'®

182. Increasingly, managers and investors in the private sector are
attending to other factors that may sometimes be useful indicators of
an entity’s financial condition, including such intangible factors as the
quality of the entity’s

) information and analysis capabilities,

e  strategic planning,

o human resource development and management, and
. constituent satisfaction.

Similar factors may be relevant for many federal reporting entities.

Kinds Of Financial 183. The information produced by these accounting processes supports the
Information Needed And overall reporting process. Traditionally, the items of information
Provided included in financial statements are classified in various “elements” of

” «

financial reporting, such as “assets,” “liabilities,” “revenues,” or
“expenses.” In future projects, the FASAB may consider the definition
of elements of federal financial reporting. For the purposes of this
Statement of Concepts, however, it is not necessary to do so. It is
sufficient to note that needed financial information identified by some
current and potential users of federal financial reports can be
classified under six broad headings:

information on the sources and uses of budgetary resources,
information about operations and the related resources,
information about the government’s assets,

information about the government’s liabilities and financial
responsibilities,

information that addresses concerns with the future, and

o Information that discloses the levels of financial controls.

5Such a discussion and analysis is required in federal financial reports prepared pursuant to
the CFO Act of 1990. In these reports, the discussion and analysis is referred to as the
“overview” section. OMB Bulletin 92-03 provides guidance on preparing the overview
section.
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184. Examples and further discussion of such information needs are
provided in appendix B.

How This Information 185. The core and environmental financial information, often
Flows Into Financial supplemented with information from other sources, is the basis for a
Reports variety of general purpose and special purpose reports. For this
reason, figure 1 culminates with the preparation of useful reports. A
direct relationship exists between the accounting and reporting
processes both for general purpose financial reports and for budget
execution reports. The dotted line in figure 1 leading to other kinds of
reports emphasizes that other kinds of information are often more
heavily involved in producing them. Accounting contributes to these
reports but has less influence over the nature, scope, and content of
them. (Appendix C lists selected federal reports that are regularly
prepared.)

Relationship Of 186. “The budget” is a broad term that may include, among other things, a

Financial Reporting To projection of spending authorities and means of financing them for a

Bu dg eting future period and a report of the actual spending and associated
financing for a past period. The FASAB’s recommendations may
influence the reporting of actual budgetary data.

187. The Budget of the United States Government is the most widely
recognized and used financial report of the federal government. The
budget process is the government’s principal mechanism for reaching
agreement on goals, for allocating resources among competing uses,
and for assessing the government’s fiscal effects on economic stability
and growth. Most attention is paid to these future-oriented roles of the
budget.

188. Budget execution is designed to control and track tax receipts and the
use of resources according to the purposes for which budget authority
was approved. Actual receipts, obligations, and outlays are recorded
by account, as is the status of budgetary resources at the end of each
fiscal year.

189. Budgetary measurement is designed to assist in the control and
allocation of resources by showing the cash outlays implied by each
decision when the decision is made. In some cases, the budget now
also includes accruals for costs in advance of the required cash outlay.
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Budgetary concepts are under continual review. They may be changed
by law or, after consultation with the Congress, in the annual revision
of OMB Circular A-11, “Preparation and Submission of Budget
Estimates.”

190. The Board’s authority does not extend to recommending budgetary
standards or budgetary concepts, but the Board is committed to
providing reliable accounting information that supports budget
planning and formulation. The Board also supports efforts to ensure
the accuracy and reliability of reporting on the budget.

191. The Board’s own focus is on developing generally accepted accounting
standards for reporting on the financial operations, financial position,
and financial condition of the federal government and its component
entities and other useful financial information. This implies a variety
of measures of costs and other information that complements the
information available in the budget. Together with budgetary reports,
these reports will provide a more comprehensive and insightful
understanding of the government’s financial position, results of
operations, and financial condition than either set of reports alone.

Chapter 8: How 192. The second objective and its subobjectives concern reporting on

Fi ial R rti performance. References to measuring cost pervade this objective and
Inancia €po lng its supporting narrative. The topics of cost and performance

Supp orts Reportmg measurement are related because it is by associating cost with

On Operating activijcies or “cost objgctives” that accounting can make much of its

Performance contribution to reporting on performance.

193. Setting performance targets is a function of management, not of
accountants. That is, elected and appointed officials, including both
program and policy officials, decide what the government will do, how
much the government will do, and how it will be done. These officials
consider the relevant constraints and other factors when establishing
the performance targets. Measuring performance against those goals
is an essential part of management. On the other hand, measuring cost
is an important part of measuring performance, and measuring cost
and reporting the results is a function of accounting and the financial
reporting system. Financial reporting standards deal with what
information is reported and how it is reported, not with the target
levels of performance.
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194. This Chapter first discusses cost measurement in general terms, then
outlines a framework for reporting on performance to show how cost
information can assist in that endeavor. Both cost measurement and
performance measurement are complex subjects. Difficult problems
arise during attempts to implement the ideas involved. For example,
meaningful interpretation may require disaggregation of information,
or adjustment of targets for differences in client characteristics, for
local conditions, and for other factors beyond the government’s
control. Such problems are beyond the scope of this conceptual
document. This Statement does not purport to present a
comprehensive discussion of how to measure cost or performance.
Neither does this Statement address the problems of implementation;
it merely shows the relationship between financial reporting and
performance reporting in conceptual terms.

Cost Measurement 195. As used in this Statement of Concepts, “cost” is the monetary value of
the resources used. Thus far, the FASAB has considered the
recognition and measurement of certain assets and liabilities that
could influence the amount of cost recognized in a given period by a
federal reporting entity. For example, the Board’s Statement on
Accounting for Direct Loans and Loan Guarantees implements
accrual accounting for these programs, similar to the accrual
budgeting mandated for them by the Credit Reform Act of 1990.

196. A “cost objective” is a program, a function, an activity, an
organizational subdivision, a contract, or another work unit for which
cost data are desired and for which provision is made to accumulate
and measure the cost of processes, products, jobs, capital projects,
etc. The basic premise of cost accounting has been described by
saying that the measurement, assignment, and allocation of costs to
cost objectives should be based on the beneficial or causal
relationship between those costs and the cost objectives. In defining
the proper measurement, assignment, and allocation of cost for a
given purpose, selecting the appropriate accounting method and
whether to use full costing should be carefully considered.

Method of Accounting 197. The accrual basis of accounting generally provides a better matching
of costs to the production of goods and services, but its use and
application for any given purpose must be carefully evaluated.
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Full Costing 198. Full assignment of all costs of a period, including general and
administrative expenses and all other indirect costs, is an important
basis for measuring cost of service. However, full cost is not
necessarily the relevant cost for making all decisions. For example,
incremental cost is more appropriate for many kinds of decisions,
while opportunity cost is more appropriate for others. Similarly, cost
that is controllable at a given management level is more appropriate
for most evaluations of the performance of those managers.
Accordingly, accounting systems should permit the calculation of the
relevant costs needed for a range of decisions, as determined by the
specific situation, and financial reports should reflect costs suitable to

the purpose intended.
Performance 199. Performance reporting is broader than financial reporting, but good
Measurement financial reporting is essential to support performance reporting. The

GASB has identified three broad categories of measures for reporting
on performance of state and local governmental entities: those that
measure service efforts, those that measure service accomplishments,
and those that relate efforts to accomplishments. Although some
performance measures may not be clearly assignable to one of these
categories, the categories are helpful for understanding how and
where financial reporting can contribute to performance reporting by
providing relevant financial information.

200. To clarify this relationship, the FASAB may wish to change or expand
parts of the following discussion in future projects. At this time,
however, the FASAB believes this basic framework is appropriate for
the limited purpose of explaining how financial reporting can
contribute to performance reporting.'

Measures of Efforts 201. Efforts are the amount of financial and nonfinancial resources (in
terms of money, material, and so forth) that are put into a program or a
process. Measures of service efforts also include ratios that compare
financial resources with other measures that may indicate potential
demand for services, such as the number of potential service
recipients.

The following discussion is based largely on the GASB’s Preliminary Views on Service
Efforts and Accomplishments Reporting, December, 1992.
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202. Financial information includes financial measures of resources
used. They include the cost of salaries, employee benefits, materials
and supplies, contract services, equipment, etc., used in providing a
service. The FASAB'’s exposure draft (ED) on Accounting for
Inventory and Related Property is an example of how the FASAB’s
recommendations could affect information reported on resources
used.

203. Nonfinancial information includes the following:

. Number of personnel: Because personnel are a major resource
for many federal agencies and programs, indicators that measure
the number of full-time equivalent employees or employee-hours
used in providing a service often provide a significant measure of
resources used.

e Other measures: These may include the amount of equipment
(such as number of vehicles) or other capital assets used in
providing a service. Because some federal programs use large
amounts of capital assets, measures of the use of such assets can
be important indicators of resources used.

Measures of 204. Measures of accomplishments report what was provided and achieved

Accomplishments with the resources used. There are two types of measures of
accomplishments—outputs and outcomes. Outputs measure the
quantity of services provided. Outcomes measure the results of
providing those outputs. For some kinds of programs, financial
information can provide measures of accomplishments. For example,
for some government business-type activities, just as for profit-seeking
businesses, the revenue earned can be used as an indicator of
accomplishments. In most government programs, however, the
important indicators of accomplishments are based on nonfinancial
information, as discussed below.

205. Outputs, which can be measured in these ways:

. Quantity of service provided: These indicators measure the
physical quantity of a service provided.

. Quantity of a service provided that meets a certain quality
requirement: These indicators measure the physical quantity of a
service provided that meets a specified criterion or a set of
criteria. (Quality requirements can also be defined and measured
regarding inputs.)
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206. Outcomes, for which indicators measure accomplishments or results
that occur (at least partially) because of the service efforts. Some
authorities use terms like “impact,” “effect,” or “results” to distinguish
the change in outcomes specifically caused by the governmental
activity from the total change in outcomes that can be caused by many
factors. Though it is not always feasible, in theory performance
evaluation should focus on results or effects in the sense of impacts,
i.e., on the differences between program outcomes and the outcomes
that would have occurred in the absence of the program. Results also
include measures of public perceptions of outcomes.

207. Outcome measures are particularly useful when presented as
comparisons with previous years, established targets, goals and
objectives, generally accepted norms and standards (in the sense of
“targets”), other parts of the entity, or other comparable entities.

208. Sometimes, the secondary and/or unintended effects of a service on
the service recipients, community, or nation can be identified and may
warrant reporting.

Measures That Relate 209. For profit-seeking entities and for some business-type government

Efforts to Accomplishments programs, the amount of net income can be thought of as a single
indicator that relates organizational efforts to accomplishments. For
most government activities, however, relating efforts with
accomplishments in a meaningful manner is more complex. Two types
of such indicators are discussed below.

. Efficiency measures that relate efforts to outputs of services:
These indicators measure the financial resources used or the cost
(in dollars, employee-hours, or equipment) per unit of output.
They provide information about the production of an output at a
given level of resource use and demonstrate an entity’s relative
efficiency when compared with previous results, established
goals and objectives, generally accepted norms or targets, or
results achieved by similar entities.

e  Effectiveness or cost-outcome measures that relate efforts to the
outcomes or results of services: These measures report the cost
per unit of outcome or result. They relate costs and results to
help managers, executives, Congress, and citizens assess the
value of the services provided by an entity.
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210.

Limitations of Performance 211.
Measurement

212.

Page 58

As is evident, financial or cost information is an important component
of both types of measures that attempt to relate efforts to
accomplishments.

Performance measurement is an essential part of good management,
and performance reporting is an essential part of government
accountability. Important limitations and difficulties associated with
performance measurement and reporting should be noted, although
they cannot be fully explored in a brief outline of the subject such as
this. For example, performance usually cannot be fully described by a
single measure, indicators of service efforts and accomplishments do
not, by themselves, indicate why performance is at the level reported,
and reporting quantifiable indicators can sometimes have unintended
consequences.

For these and other reasons, the three categories of performance
measures generally need to be accompanied by suitable explanatory
information. Indeed, narrative information is an essential part of
reporting on performance. Explanatory information includes both
quantitative and narrative information to help report users understand
reported measures, assess the reporting entity’s performance, and
evaluate the significance of underlying factors that may have affected
the reported performance. (As noted, the reporting entity may be the
federal government as a whole or any of its component reporting
entities.) Explanatory information can include, for example,
information about factors substantially outside the entity’s control, as
well as information about factors over which the entity has significant
control.
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Appendix A: Basis
For Conclusions

Introduction

213.

214.

215.

216.

This appendix summarizes some of the considerations that were
deemed significant by members of the Board in reaching the
conclusions in this Statement. It includes reasons for accepting certain
approaches and for rejecting others. Individual Board members gave
greater weight to some factors than to others.

The Board used several methods to arrive at the knowledge base and
conclusions that shape this Statement. Its staff conducted focus group
discussions, interviewed users and preparers of financial information,
and performed other research.

Based on this work, the Board published an exposure draft on
January 8, 1993, as called for by the Board’s rules of procedure. Forty-
six letters were received in response. The Board also held a public
hearing on the exposure draft on April 21-22, 1993, at which it received
valuable comments.

The Board wishes to thank everyone who participated in the process.

Relationship Between
Financial Reporting And
The Budget

217.

218.

The Board considered whether it should modify the exposure draft’s
discussion of the relationship between financial reporting and the
budget. Several respondents commented on this subject, but often in
different ways. Some alluded to budgetary and proprietary (or
“accrual” or “financial”) accounting in a context that implied each
should be on a different basis but reported in an integrated fashion.
Others suggested that using the same basis for reporting and for
budgeting was essential to achieve the objectives stated for federal
financial reporting.

Many recommendations have been made over the years that
information on expenditures be arranged to permit better perception
of the relationship between the expenditures and national policy
objectives. Some of those recommendations have related to the
budget. Some have called for an “accrual-basis” budget. Those who
would like to change the organization and/or the basis of the budget,
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e.g., to more of a “program” organization or to more of an “accrual”
basis, might regard financial reporting from a program perspective
and/or on an accrual basis as a valuable first step before considering
restructuring the budget.

219. Others may have fundamentally different views. For example, some
believe there is merit in maintaining a distinction between accrual
accounting and budgeting, except to the extent that those involved in
preparing and approving the budget elect to use an accrual
convention, as in the Credit Reform Act of 1990. These persons believe
that the budgetary basis of measurement should, in principle,
sometimes be different from the accrual basis. They infer this from the
different purposes of budgeting and financial reporting.

220. The Board concluded that there was no reason to change the
discussion of this topic in this Statement, because the Board has no
Jjurisdiction regarding the budget.

State And Local 221. Some respondents expressed concern about the potential impact of

Governments And Other federal accounting standards on state and local governmental

Nonfederal Entities accounting. These respondents would like to minimize the cost of
compliance with federal requirements. To the extent possible, they
would like to avoid the need to report on a basis different from that
specified by the GASB. Presumably their comments dealt with general
purpose reporting because grantees must now prepare various special
purpose reports pursuant to the requirements of granting agencies,
OMB, the Single Audit Act, etc.

222. The FASAB has no intent to recommend standards for general purpose
external financial reporting by nonfederal entities. The FASAB'’s
mission is to consider and recommend accounting principles for the
federal government. The FASAB’s work, therefore, will have no direct
effect on nonfederal entities. It is true, however, that the FASAB’s
recommendations could eventually result in increased demand for
information from recipients of federal funds. This could happen when
such information was necessary for federal reporting entities to
achieve the stated objectives of federal financial reporting. Such
requirements would be “special purpose” reporting requirements,
from the perspective of grant and contract recipients.
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223. These requirements most likely would be imposed by program
officials in contracts and grant agreements with the recipients of the
federal funds. The Board acknowledges that the federal government
has a responsibility to consider the cost imposed on nonfederal
entities when making decisions to impose such requirements. At the
same time, benefits to all entities and to all citizens involved also must
be considered.

Reporting On 224. Most respondents who addressed reporting on performance supported
Performance And Using the exposure draft, but some thought the language was too
Nonfinancial encompassing. The Board concluded that their concern was

stimulated in part by the wording of the first three objectives in the
exposure draft. Each began with the phrase “federal financial
reporting should assist . . .” However, each of these objectives
subsequently included a phrase “Federal financial reporting should
enable the reader to determine . . .” that perhaps implied more than the
Board intended.

Information

225. Accordingly, the Board substituted the phrase “provide information
that helps the reader ...” for “enable . ..” The Board also made
certain other changes recommended by some respondents. In
particular, the Statement now uses the phrase “performance target” to
refer to desired levels of performance defined by elected and
appointed officials. This term is used instead of “performance
standard” to avoid possible confusion with “financial reporting
standards,” which deal with what information is to be reported in
designated reports and with how it is reported.

226. The Statement also makes it clear that performance targets should be
set by program and policy officials working together. Financial
officials have a role to play in this process, especially where financial
data are involved. That role is based on their expertise in cost
measurement and their responsibility to ensure the integrity of the
data.

227. One authority on public administration has explained the relationship
in this way:

Government accountants are responsible in part for capturing,

reporting, and analyzing actual financial information important
for both policy making and management. Policy analysts and
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budget professionals deal primarily with what should occur and
accountants deal primarily with capturing and recording what did
occur. In addition, government accountants have auditors
reviewing their work professionally to further ensure the integrity
of the accounting process."”

228. The Board believes that accounting supports financial reporting and
that, in the government, financial reporting goes hand in hand with
accountability and performance evaluation. Financial accounting and
financial reporting have a special role in assuring compliance with
finance-related requirements for transactions. This is most directly
relevant to objectives 1 and 4.

229. Financial reporting, however, also provides useful information about
costs, assets, and liabilities. This information is especially relevant to
objectives 2 and 3. Routine reporting of outputs, outcomes, and their
costs is an important part of a performance monitoring system.
Assessments of impacts (also referred to as effects, or results)
specifically caused by governmental action are more likely to be
performed in less-frequent program evaluations and special studies.
Those studies draw upon the output, outcome, and cost information
that is (or should be) more frequently published.

230. Federal accounting and financial reporting exist within the context of
various laws intended to foster accountability and performance
evaluation. Neither the FASAB nor federal financial reporting can
independently accomplish the objectives of evaluating performance or
assuring accountability, but they can contribute to achieving them.
Furthermore, to make their essential contribution to these ends,
accountants, auditors, and financial managers must understand the
overall framework for achieving these objectives.

231. For nongovernmental entities, competitive markets for goods,
services, and capital provide an independent assessment of the
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness with which those entities use
resources to meet their customers’ needs. There is no similar proof of
value for federal output independent of the political process. To report
on the results of operations of a governmental entity, nonfinancial
information is essential, in conjunction with financial information.

"Thomas D. Lynch, “President’s Column,” ASPA Times, vol. 16, No. 6 (June 1, 1993), p. 5.
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232. In concept, this fact could imply that a complete financial report of a
federal reporting entity should include indicators of economy,
efficiency, and cost effectiveness if the report is to fairly present the
entity’s financial position and results of operations. Paragraph 164
notes that financial or cost information is an important component of
both types of measures that attempt to relate efforts to
accomplishments. In practice, the extent to which it is feasible and
cost effective to present such information can be decided only after
careful study of the specific circumstances.

233. While specific decisions will require further study, the Board notes its
belief that any attempt to demonstrate accountability beyond probity
(Ievel 5) and process (level 4) requires performance measures.'® The
Board’s user needs study, its public hearings, and similar sources of
information suggest a widespread belief that the federal government
needs to make a more systematic attempt to measure and report
outputs, outcomes (including impacts), and the costs of producing
them. To do this, the Board believes, accounting and financial
reporting play an essential part throughout the cycle of planning,
budgeting, financial management, and evaluation of federal activities.

Stewardship

234. A few respondents said that the stewardship objective described in the
exposure draft was too broad. They felt that information on the effects
on the nation of policy decisions was outside the scope of federal
financial reporting. The Board concluded that this concern—Ilike the
preceding one regarding reporting on performance--stemmed in part
from the wording and structure of the first three objectives in the
exposure draft.

235. Accordingly, the Board substituted the phrase “provide information
that helps . ..” for “enable . . .” As noted earlier, federal financial
reporting cannot by itself accomplish the objectives of evaluating or
assuring stewardship; it can only contribute to those goals.

236. The Board notes that the federal government has two levels of
stewardship. One is for its own assets and liabilities and its ongoing
ability to operate. The other is its constitutional responsibility for the
nation’s wealth and well-being. It is unique in this respect. If the

8 evels of accountability are discussed in Chapter 3.
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nation’s wealth and well-being are deteriorating, the government’s
financial condition is, or soon will be, deteriorating also—and vice
versa. The financial condition of a sovereign national government and
that of the nation itself are inextricably intertwined. Some information
about the overall context must be provided, therefore, when reporting
on the government as a whole, and perhaps when reporting on
selected programs. As explained in Chapter 1, the FASAB does not
recommend standards for economic reporting, but it may consider
whether such information should be included in certain financial
reports.

Systems And Control

237.

238.

239.

240.
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Most respondents who addressed the fourth objective, originally titled
“Deterring Fraud Waste and Abuse,” supported the exposure draft,
though some suggested that it could be phrased in a more positive
fashion. Several emphasized the need for this objective and for
standards to achieve it, but a few thought that internal control should
not be regarded as an element of financial reporting. Others suggested
that a separate objective on this topic was not necessary because it
could be inferred from the other objectives.

The Board agreed that the objective should be stated in more positive
terms. Accordingly, it replaced “Deterring Fraud, Waste, and Abuse”
with the new heading “Systems and Control” and made other changes
in wording the objective. With regard to the fundamental point,
however, the Board continues to believe that systems and control are
topics of sufficient importance and relevance to warrant addressing in
their own right.

The Board’s user needs study, public hearings, and other sources of
information make abundantly clear that users want assurance that
reported information is credible and reliable. They also want to know
that reasonable controls are in place to deter fraud, waste, and abuse.
Independent audit can help provide this assurance, but whether
information is audited or not, effective systems and controls are
essential to providing such assurance in a cost-effective way.
Furthermore, effective systems and controls are essential to achieving
the other objectives.

Perhaps the unique contribution of accounting-based reports for

objectives 1 and 4 is the “core” accounting data base on transactions,
especially on controlled transactions subject to finance-related
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restrictions. Systems of accounting control are integral parts of this
special role for financial reporting. Similarly, regarding objective 2
and, to some extent, objective 3, systems and controls are important
because direct observation of outcomes and impacts is often
infeasible or expensive. In these cases, reliance on accounting and
administrative controls to ensure compliance with good practices and
processes is often a cost-effective surrogate for trying to measure the
value added by governmental activities.

241. Finally, the fundamental notion of accountability pervades the entire
set of objectives. Effective systems and controls are essential
prerequisites to accountable government. Thus, the Board regards
systems and controls as an integral part of accounting, accountability,
and financial reporting.

Dual Focus On Internal 242. Several respondents mentioned users, but no consensus about a

And External Users change to the exposure draft was evident. For example, some
respondents urged greater emphasis on the information needs of
external users or on objectives of general purpose, external financial
reporting. Others urged greater emphasis on information needs of
lower-level program managers and employees. These comments are
not necessarily contradictory, nor are the competing perspectives
necessarily mutually exclusive. The Board continues to believe that it
must consider both external and internal users. The Board itself is the
agent of officials who, in turn, are agents of the public. This
organizational fact contributes to the dual focus.

243. Also, as noted in Chapter 1, the distinction between internal and
external users is not clear for the federal government. Except in
degree of detail, virtually all federal financial information is of interest
to at least some segments of the public.

244. The Board acknowledges that this dual focus will often create the

need to balance various considerations to arrive at an optimal result.
For example, as one respondent properly noted, there could be a
danger of emphasizing what he termed “comparable consistency” for
uniform reporting to users who want comparable information across
agencies. He was concerned that this might interfere with “relevant
customization” of information systems to meet the unique needs of
agencies in response to their specific environments. It is understood
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245.

246.

247.

that “comparable consistency” of information is needed for some
purposes and “relevant customization” for others.

The Board is primarily concerned with the former class of uses and
reports, i.e., with ensuring the provision of comparable data where it is
relevant and cost-effective to do so. Individual preparers often are not
in a good position to judge the cost-benefit ratio of such information
governmentwide. They are aware of the costs they incur to produce
information, but they often are not aware of the potential benefit of
producing that information. Neither are they in a position to establish
standards that would produce such information.

On the other hand, there should be less need for outsiders like the
Board or its sponsors to mandate relevant customization within
agencies. Presumably each preparer can and will take care of that,
provided that resources are available to do so and that there are no
bureaucratic impediments.

In concept, therefore, there need be no conflict between “comparable
consistency” and “relevant customization.” Furthermore, in theory,
properly designed accounting systems should facilitate both internal
and external reporting. In practice, however, because administrative
resources for information processing systems are limited and because
new systems take time to install, externally-imposed requirements for
comparable consistency could compete with addressing internally
perceived needs for relevant customization. The Board acknowledges
this trade-off. This is just one of many cost-benefit factors that the
Board will need to consider as it addresses each specific issue in
subsequent projects.

Objectives For
Governmentwide And
Component Entity
Reports

248.

Page 66

Some respondents suggested there should be separate sets of
objectives for governmentwide and component entity reports.
Similarly, it might also be possible to distinguish objectives for
reporting by organizational unit components from those for functional
or program components. Alternatively, one might imagine separate
sets of objectives for reports to different audiences. The Board
concluded that different reports are likely to emphasize different
objectives but that there is no need to prepare separate statements of
objectives. The Board will give due consideration to variations in
emphasis among the objectives for different types of reports in
subsequent statements and projects.
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Appendlx B: USGI’S, 249. This appendix is consistent with Chapter 3’s discussion of users’ needs

Inf ti Need for financial information. It represents an intermediate step in the
nlormation iNeeds Board’s consideration of the financial reporting objectives implied by

Addressed By those needs. The appendix is included to aid the reader in

Federal Financial understanding the reporting objectives by providing another

] perspective on the issues.
Reporting

250. The financial information needs of the four user groups can be
classified into six categories:

Information on the sources and uses of budgetary resources
Information about operations and the related resources
Information about the government’s assets

Information about the government’s liabilities and financial
responsibilities

5. Information that addresses concerns with the future

6. Information that discloses the levels of financial controls

e

251. In some cases, the specific nature of the information would be
basically the same for all four groups of users; only the level of detail
would vary. For example, the amount of unobligated budgetary
authority available to be obligated would be of interest to program
managers wanting to avoid violations of the Anti-Deficiency Act and to
executives wanting to know the availability of budgetary resources
that can be reprogrammed for other purposes.*’

252. In other cases, the specific nature of the information would vary,
depending on the reporting entity, the report user and the use to which
the information was put. For example, “error rates” could refer to
errors in determining the monthly payment an individual was entitled
to receive from the government or errors in calculating fees that a
company was required to pay the government.

1%Obligations” has a meaning in federal accounting similar to that of “encumbrances” in
state and local governmental accounting; that is, it reflects a reservation of appropriated
spending authority that will be used to pay for a specific contract, a purchase order, or
another item.
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Information On The 253. The budget is the starting point for the government’s finances. All
Sources And Uses Of users want to know the makeup of the budget, i.e., the budget

authority, the obligations, the outlays, the receipts and offsetting
BUdgetary Resources collections, etc. They want to know how the budget was executed and
particularly whether it was executed in accordance with the
appropriation statutes and other laws affecting the entity’s finances.
They want to know the status of the budgetary resources, including
the extent of obligated and unobligated budget authority. Finally, they
want to know the sufficiency of the budget authority for covering
future commitments.

Information About 254. Accompanying the need for information about budgetary resources is

Operations And The a need for information about the operations of the government’s

Related Resources programs. This includes information about the costs of the programs,
classified in ways that provide further understanding, such as by
program or activity, direct or indirect, fixed and variable, in
comparison to estimates, or by object (e.g., personnel). Information
that discloses unit, total, and marginal costs and changes in costs is
also useful.

255. Cost information reflects the inputs for government services. Equally
useful is information about the outputs, outcomes, efficiency, and
effectiveness of government services, by themselves or in relation to a
budget or goals, and any changes. This would include an identification
of the periods in which the accomplishments would be realized. Such
information helps form a basis for voting, funding, and management
decisions.

Information About The 256. Financial statement users want considerable information about the

Government’s Assets government’s assets. They want to know whether the balances in the
trust and revolving funds will be sufficient for fulfilling the fund’s
purposes. They want to know the nature and amounts of receivables
owed the government and whether the receivables will be paid. They
are interested in the size and condition of the inventories and whether
they can be used as intended or, if not, how much would be received
for their disposition. There is much the users want to know about the
government’s physical assets: their value, their expected service life,
the replacement costs, and the impact of the maintenance that has
been deferred.
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257. The government also holds assets as a custodian or only until the
assets can be sold. Examples are seized or forfeited assets.
Information about these assets helps to establish accountability for
them and to make decisions about the best time and method for their
disposal.

Information About The 258. Users want to know what the government owes and whether the

Government’s Liabilities amounts are short term and precisely definable, long term and only an
And Financial festimate,.or just a contingency related to an en.te.rprise or activity that
R ibiliti is not a direct and current government responsibility, e.g., government-
€sponsibiliies sponsored enterprises. This information helps the reader assess the
government’s ability to continue to operate at its current levels over a
period of time and/or whether a tax increase is likely.

259. The changes in the amounts owed from year to year are also
important. The user often is willing to settle for (or may actually
prefer) ranges rather than point estimates and/or net present values
rather than nominal (undiscounted) amounts.

Information That 260. The federal government is responsible for the country’s well-being. Its
Addresses Concerns financial actions affect that well-being, both currently and in the
With The Future future. Thus, users look not just for information to evaluate the

condition of the trust funds upon which they rely for future security.
They also want information to assess the likelihood of tax increases,
service reductions, and changes in the inflation rate.

261. They therefore want information about possible sources of additional
financial resources. They want to see the amounts of resources
expended on consumption activities in comparison to investment
activities, such as research and development. They want information
on other growth-stimulating activities. On the other hand, they still
want to be able to assess where spending can be reduced significantly.

262. Finally, they want to know the magnitude of the probable future

deficits, the cost burden this will place on taxpayers, and the potential
effect that this burden might have on the quality of life.
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Information That 263. Because the government spends such large amounts of monies,
Discloses The Levels Of taxpayers and other citizens are naturally concerned that the
: . resources they supply are being protected from fraud, waste, and

Financial Controls abuse and that the errors are minimal. They want to know that
controls are in place and operating effectively and that problems are
being quickly identified and corrected. They are particularly
concerned that identified high risks are addressed and that adequate
funds are devoted to eliminating the risk.

264. This concern is not just with the monies expended directly by the

government. It also extends to the monies expended by the individuals
and organizations that receive government contracts or grants.
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Appendlx C: 265. This appendix classifies some well-known reports according to the
Selected Fed 1 categories set forth in figure 1 in Chapter 7. Reports are classified
electe edera according to whether they are primarily financial or nonfinancial and
Reports P repar ed whether they have primarily a special or a general purpose. The
On A Re curring classﬁlcatlpn is somewhat subjective. It is baseq on the gen(?ral nature
. or emphasis of the reports. Many reports combine information and
Basis functions from different categories.

266. All these reports contribute to meeting the Board’s reporting
objectives for some users. However, many of the specific reports
listed—economic reports dealing with the nation as a whole, for
example—will be influenced only indirectly, if at all, by the Board’s
standards. Indeed, because they deal with transactors other than the
government (such as private citizens and corporations, states and
local governments, and not-for-profit entities), economic reports fit
within the context of figure 1 only to the extent that they may provide
information to assess the government’s operating performance and
stewardship.

Budget of the U.S. Government

Analysis of the President’s Budget Proposals (CBO)
Economic and Budget Outlook Report (CBO)

Economic and Budget Outlook Report Update (CBO)
Midsession Review of the Budget

Budget Enforcement Act Reports: Preview, Update, and Final
Sequestration

Request for Apportionment (SF 132)

Report on Budget Execution (SF 133)

Economic Report of the President

Federal Reserve Bulletin

OPM Forms 1351 A-D: Work years and personnel costs reports
Prompt Payment Report

Financial Information—
Special Purpose

Financial Information— ©®  Annual financial statement (principal financial statements, including
General Purpose footnotes and combining financial statements if applicable) required
by the CFO Act on revolving funds, trust funds, substantial
commercial functions, and pilot federal agencies
¢ Annual financial reporting by agencies required by Treasury (SF 220
series)
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Prototype Consolidated Financial Statements of the U.S.

The U.S. Government Annual Report and Appendix (Treasury)
Monthly Treasury Statement of Receipts and Outlays of the U.S.
Monthly Statement of Public Debt

Daily Treasury Statement (on cash and debt)

Nonfinancial
Information—General
Purpose

Annual departmental reports to the President and Congress
Nonfinancial information required by the CFO Act in the overview,
supplemental information, and other portions of the reports

Nonfinancial
Information—Special
Purpose

Page 72

Reports required by the Federal Managers’ Financial Integrity Act of
1982

FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 2:
Entity and Display

Status
Issued April 20, 1995
Interpretations and Technical Releases
Affects No other statement.
Affected by * Paragraphs 90-102, SFFAS 7, which affect paragraphs 64, 74, 105 of this statement,
and add Appendix I-G.
* SFFAS 27, paragraph 38, amends footnote 3.
* SFFAS 31, paragraph 35, amends paragraphs 84 and 102.
Summary

This concepts statement describes the basis for defining a reporting entity for the general purpose financial
reporting performed by the Federal government and/or entities thereof. For any entity to be a reporting entity
it should meet all of the following criteria:

o There is a management responsible for controlling and deploying resources, producing outputs and
outcomes, executing the budget or a portion thereof (assuming that the entity is included in the budget),
and held accountable for the entity’s performance.

o The entity’s scope is such that its financial statements would provide a meaningful representation of
operations and financial condition.

e There are likely to be users of the financial statements who are interested in and could use the
information in the statements to help them make resource allocation and other decisions and hold the
entity accountable for its deployment and use of resources.

Criteria for including components in a reporting entity are also provided. A conclusive criterion establishes
that any organization, program, or budget account (including off-budget accounts and government
corporations) appearing in the Federal budget section currently titled “Federal Programs by Agency and
Account” should be considered part of the Federal Government as well as part of the organization with which
it appears. Indicative criteria are presented that should be considered when an organization is not listed in the
“Federal Programs by Agency and Account” yet the general purpose financial statements might be misleading
or incomplete if the organization where not included therein.

This concepts statement also describes the items that should be included in Federal financial reports and
presents illustrative statements depicting desirable displays of financial information. The items include:

management discussion and analysis;
balance sheet;

statement of net costs;

statement of changes in net position;

Page 73 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

statement of custodial activities, when appropriate;

statement of budgetary resources;

statement of program performance measures;

accompanying footnotes;

required supplemental information pertaining to physical, human, and research and development capital
and selected claims on future resources, when appropriate; and

. other supplemental financial and management information, when appropriate.

SFFAS 7, Accounting for Revenue and Other Financing Sources, amends the above list to include “statement
of financing.” SFFAS 7 also presents an illustrative statement of financing to amend the displays shown in
Appendix A of SFFAC 2.
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]
Introduction

1.  Abasic postulate of accounting is that accounting information
pertains to entities, i.e., circumscribed legal, administrative, fiduciary,
or other organizational structures. Another basic postulate is that
entities use financial reports to communicate financial and related
information about the entity to persons concerned with the entity.

2. The purpose of this statement of accounting concepts is to provide
guidance as to what would be encompassed by a Federal Government
entity’s financial report. The statement specifies the types of entities
for which there ought to be financial reports (hereinafter called
reporting entities), establishes guidelines for defining the makeup of
each type of reporting entity, identifies types of financial reports for
communicating the information for each type of reporting entity, and
suggests the types of information each type of report would convey.

3. A statement of financial accounting concepts is intended to guide the
members of the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board
(FASAB) as they deliberate and recommend accounting standards for
the Federal Government. It also would be useful to the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB), when it carries out its statutory
responsibilities for specifying who should prepare financial
statements and the form and content of those statements;' and as
broad guidance for preparers, auditors, and users of financial
statements of Federal agencies. A statement of financial accounting
concepts does not, in and of itself, represent standards that would be
considered generally accepted accounting principles for Federal
agencies to be followed for the preparation of financial statements.

4.  This statement does not try to define which reporting entities must
prepare and issue financial statements. That authority and
responsibility resides with the Congress, OMB, and other oversight
organizations and resource providers.

5.  The specification of reporting entities intends to be suitable for all
organizations within the Executive branch of the Federal Government,

!OMB specifies the form and content of agency and governmentwide financial statements,
pursuant to authority assigned in the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990, as amended (title
31, U.S. Code, section 3515(d) and section 331(e)(1)) through periodic issuance of OMB
Bulletins. OMB intends to base the form and content on the concepts contained in this
statement.
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including the Departments, independent agencies,” commissions, and
corporations. FASAB does not propose to recommend accounting
concepts and standards for the Legislative and Judicial branches.
However, the concepts recommended in this statement would be
appropriate for those branches.

6. The concepts, as defined in this statement, are intended primarily for
the general purpose financial reporting performed by Federal entities.
This is the financial reporting that these entities would undertake to
help meet the objectives defined in Statement of Federal Financial
Accounting Concepts (SFFAC) No. 1, “Objectives of Federal Financial
Reporting.” These objectives are as follows:

. Budgetary integrity. Federal financial reporting should assist in
fulfilling the government’s duty to be publicly accountable for
monies raised through taxes and other means and for their
expenditure in accordance with the appropriations laws that
establish the government’s budget for a particular fiscal year and
related laws and regulations.

. Operating performance. Federal financial reporting should
assist report users in evaluating the service efforts, costs, and
accomplishments of the reporting entity; the manner in which
these efforts and accomplishments have been financed; and the
management of the entity’s assets and liabilities.

. Stewardship. Federal financial reporting should assist report
users in assessing the impact on the country of the government’s
operations and investments for the period and how, as a result,
the government’s and the nation’s financial conditions have
changed and may change in the future.

. Systems and control. Federal financial reporting should assist
report users in understanding whether financial management
systems and internal accounting and administrative controls are
adequate to ensure proper execution of transactions, safeguard
assets, and support performance measurement.

7. The concepts are also intended, as FASAB’s mission statement
requires, to help in meeting the financial and budgetary information

%“Independent agencies” is a term used to distinguish agencies that are independent of a
Cabinet department from the agencies that are part of the Cabinet departments.
Independent agencies report directly to the President and are part of the U.S. Government.

Page 77 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

needs of executive agencies and Congressional oversight groups, and
to strengthen the conceptual basis and consistency of Federal
accounting data.

The entity and display concepts presented in this statement do not
preclude the specification of ad hoc or temporary reporting entities to
meet special reporting needs of users of Federal agencies’ financial
information. Nor do they preclude a reporting entity from preparing
special purpose financial reports to meet the specific needs of persons
in the reporting entity or in response to requests from persons outside
the entity for certain financial information; or from preparing a so-
called “popular report,” which provides a simplified, highly readable,
easily understandable description of a reporting entity’s finances.
These statements would not necessarily purport to be presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Reasons For
Defining Reporting
Entities

10.

The most basic reason for having an explicit understanding of what
the reporting entity entails is to ensure that the users of the entity’s
financial reports are provided with all the information that is relevant
to the reporting entity, subject to cost and time constraints. Clearly
defining the boundaries of the reporting entity provides the users with
a clear understanding of what the reporting entity encompasses. It
helps to establish what information is relevant to the financial
statements and what information is not.

Other reasons for having an explicit understanding of what the
reporting entity entails are to:

o ensure that for the aggregation of information at each reporting
level, no entity is omitted, and to provide for consolidations
and/or combinations of information from reporting units at the
same level, as appropriate;

e  assist in making comparisons among comparable reporting
entities by reducing the possibility of unintended or arbitrary
exclusions or inclusions of entities;

. assist in making comparisons among alternative ways to provide
similar services or products;

e  Dbe able to distribute costs properly and fully and to properly
attribute the responsibility for assets and liabilities; and
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Structure Of The
Federal
Government

. facilitate evaluating performance, responsibility, and control,
especially where one agency is the provider or recipient of
services attributable to or financed by another agency.

11.

The Federal Government is an extremely complex organization
composed of many different components. For accounting and
reporting purposes, it may be viewed from at least three perspectives.
However, the nature of each type of component and the relationships
among the components and perspectives are not always consistent.

Organization
Perspective

12.

The first type of perspective is the organization perspective. The
Federal Government is composed of organizations that manage
resources and are responsible for operations, i.e., delivering services.
These include the major Departments and independent agencies,
which are generally divided into suborganizations, i.e., smaller
organizational units with a wide variety of titles, including bureaus,
administrations, agencies, services, and corporations. Many of these
are further divided into even smaller suborganizations. On the other
hand, there are small agencies for which division into smaller units is
generally not considered appropriate.

Budget Perspective

13.

14.

From another perspective, the government is composed of accounts
presented in the budget, hereinafter referred to as budget accounts.
Budget accounts are composed of expenditure (appropriations or
fund) accounts and receipt (including offsetting receipt) accounts.
The size and scope of these accounts varies according to
Congressional preference. They can vary from very small accounts,
which are useful for constraining management, to very large accounts,
which can be used to finance many activities.

Budget accounts are not the same as Treasury accounts. The latter are
accounts established in the Treasury to, among other purposes, record
the appropriations and other budgetary resources provided by statutes
and the transactions affecting those accounts. For the most part,
budget accounts are aggregations of Treasury accounts. Also, Treasury
accounts include deposit accounts as well as budget accounts.
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15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Nor are budget accounts the same as the uniform ledger accounts
established by the U.S. Government Standard General Ledger (SGL).
SGL accounts record specific homogeneous types of transactions and
balances that aggregate to specific classifications on the financial
statements. They have been established so that agencies can establish
control over their financial transactions and balances, meet the basic
financial reporting requirements, and integrate budgetary and
financial accounting in the same general ledger.

A budget account may coincide with an organization or one or more of
its suborganizations. Other times, several budget accounts need to be
aggregated to constitute an organization or sub-organization.

Budget accounts are classified as federal funds or trust funds. Any
account that is designated by the laws governing the federal budget as
being a trust fund is so classified. Federal funds comprise the larger
group and include all transactions not classified by law as trust funds.
Three components make up federal funds: the general fund, special
funds, and revolving funds. The definition of each of these categories
can be found in the OMB circular A-11 and the GAO Glossary of Terms

Used in the Federal Budget Process.

Care must be taken in determining the nature of all trust funds and
their relationship to the entity responsible for them. A few trust funds
are truly fiduciary in nature. Most trust funds included in the budget
are not of a fiduciary nature and are used in federal financing in a way
that differs from the common understanding of trust funds outside the
federal government. In many ways, these trust funds can be similar to
revolving or special funds in that their spending is financed by
earmarked collections.

In customary usage, the term “trust fund” refers to money belonging to
one party held “in trust” by another party operating as a fiduciary. The
money in a trust fund must be used in accordance with the trust’s
terms, which the trustee cannot unilaterally modify, and is maintained
separately and not commingled with the trustee’s own funds. This is
not the case for most federal trust funds that are included in the
budget--the fiduciary relationship usually does not exist. The
beneficiaries do not own the funds and the terms in the law that
created the trust fund can be unilaterally altered by Congress.
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20.

21.

Special funds and trust funds, except trust revolving funds, are
aggregates of budget accounts. They normally consist of one or more
receipt accounts and one or more expenditure accounts. Among the
trust funds, social insurance programs (such as social security and
unemployment compensation) have the largest amount of funds and
federal employee programs (such as retirement and health benefits)
the second largest. Together they make up about 90 percent of all trust
fund receipts. Other trust funds include excise tax financed programs
for highway construction, airports and airway operations, and other
public works. Like other budget accounts, trust funds are usually the
responsibility of a single organization, although sometimes they are
the responsibility of more than one organization.

Budget accounts are also categorized, as mandated by law and defined
by OMB, into functions and subfunctions that represent national needs
of continuing national importance and substantial expenditures of
resources. Examples of functions are national defense and health.

Program Perspective 22.

23.

24.

From a third perspective, the government is composed of programs
and activities, i.e., the services the organizations provide and the
specific lines of work they perform. Each program and activity is
responsible for producing certain outputs in order to achieve desired
outcomes.

There is no firm definition for the term “program;” it varies in the eye
of the beholder. For example, the Highway program could relate to the
entire Federal highway program, the program to build interstate
highways (in contrast to city streets, secondary roads, etc.), or a
program to build a highway between two specific points. Moreover, in
accordance with the sequester provisions of the Balanced Budget and
Emergency Deficit Control Act of 1985, as amended, the House and
Senate Appropriations Subcommittees annually define, in the
Committee Reports, the meaning of “Programs, Projects, and
Activities” as they relate to each of the Appropriations Acts.

The term “program” is also often used interchangeably with the terms
“function” and “sub-function” (see paragraph 21). Generally, however,
the term “function” would be used only for the functions defined in the
budget. Otherwise, the term “program” would be used.
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The programs are administered by the organizations and financed by
the budget accounts. In a few instances, there is a one-to-one
relationship among the three perspectives. A single budget account
finances a single program and organization. Thus, the program is
carried out only by the single organization and the organization
performs only one program.

However, most programs are financed by more than one budget
account, some of which might not be under the control of the
organizational unit administering the program. Some programs are
even administered by more than one organization. Likewise, a single
organization or budget account could be responsible for several
programs. In some instances, a program could also be considered an
organizational unit, e.g., the Center for Disease Control and
Prevention.

Furthermore, some of the support necessary to perform a program is
frequently provided by other organizations and/or financed by other
budget accounts. Examples are the computer support for a program
that is obtained from a central unit within the department, or
retirement health costs for a program’s current and former employees.

This complex situation is the result of the evolution of Federal
organizations, programs, and budgetary structures over many years.
As Federal missions and programs have expanded and changed, new
departments have been created, new organizations have been added to
existing departments, and new duties have been assigned to existing
organizations on the basis of various considerations. Similarly, the
budget structure has evolved in response to the needs of the Congress;
its committees and subcommittees; and various initiatives by the
President, program managers, and interest groups.

Intertwining Of The 25.
Perspectives
26.
27.
28.
Identifying The 29.
Reporting Entities

For General
Purpose Financial
Reporting

As stated, reporting entities are entities that issue general purpose
financial statements to communicate financial and related information
about the entity. For any entity to be a reporting entity, as defined by
this Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts, it would
need to meet all of the following criteria.

e  There is a management responsible for controlling and deploying
resources, producing outputs and outcomes, executing the
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30.

31.

32.

budget or a portion thereof (assuming that the entity is included
in the budget), and held accountable for the entity’s performance.

. The entity’s scope is such that its financial statements would
provide a meaningful representation of operations and financial
condition.

e  There are likely to be users of the financial statements who are
interested in and could use the information in the statements to
help them make resource allocation and other decisions and hold
the entity accountable for its deployment and use of resources.

Budget accounts, in and of themselves, do not meet the criteria in the
preceding paragraph and, therefore, would not be considered a
reporting entity for the purposes of issuing general purpose financial
statements. Also, the size and scope of the budget accounts across all
government agencies lack sufficient consistency for them to be
universally considered as the reporting entity. Similarly, programs
generally do not meet the criteria in paragraph 29 and, therefore,
would not be a considered a reporting entity that prepares general
purpose financial statements.

On the other hand, organizations, and particularly larger
organizations, meet the criteria in paragraph 29. While the occasional
overlap of programs and budget accounts among more than one
organizational unit could complicate financial reporting, the
association of data with the responsibility centers, revenue centers,
profit centers, cost centers, etc. which managers typically use for
organizing and operating permit the following:

e  aggregating information for not only the organization (and
suborganizations), but also for one or more of the programs
performed by the organization, and one or more of the budget
accounts for which the organization is responsible, and

. the subsequent arraying of the information not only by
organization, but also by sub-organization, program, and/or
budget accounts.

This approach to defining the appropriate reporting entities in the
Federal Government supports establishment of accountability in the
organizations (and suborganizations) while still enabling them to
provide information pertaining to their programs.
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33. Although a reporting entity might not control all the budget accounts
used to finance one or more of the programs it administers, any
revenues attributable to or costs incurred on behalf of the programs it
administers should be associated with that reporting entity. This
notion holds true regardless of whether the reporting entity maintains
personnel on a payroll.

34. The departments and major independent agencies are organizational
units and therefore would be the primary reporting entities. However,
in many instances, financial statements that present aggregations of
information into suborganization entities, i.e., bureaus,
administrations, or agencies, may be more useful than statements that
present only aggregations into organizational entities. The former can
provide a better understanding of the financial results and status of the
many individual suborganizations and programs constituting a
department or major independent agency. They can reveal instances
where programs are carried out by several suborganizations within the
department or major independent agency.

35. Similar to other budget accounts, trust funds, special funds, and
revolving funds are usually administered by a single organization. For
financial reporting purposes, the organization would be the reporting
entity; the trust fund or revolving fund would be a component of the
organization that administers the fund in the same manner that a
suborganization or other type of budget account is a component of the
organization. This would not preclude separate reporting for the trust
fund, special fund, or revolving fund by the managing organization, nor
would it preclude disclosure of trust fund, special fund, or revolving
fund information within the organization’s report when there is
sufficient interest.’

For some trust funds, the collection of the revenues is performed by an organizational entity
acting in a custodial capacity that differs from the organizational entity that administers the
trust fund. In those instances, the organizational entity that collects the revenues would be
responsible for reporting only the collection and subsequent disposition of the funds. The
organizational entity responsible for carrying out the program(s) financed by a trust fund
will report all assets, liabilities, revenues, and expense of the fund, notwithstanding the fact
that another entity has custodial responsibility for the assets. In the case of multiple
responsible entities, if the separate portions of the program can be clearly identified with a
responsible component entity, then each component entity should report its portion in
accordance with the requirements of SFFAS 27, Identifying and Reporting Earmarked
Funds. If separate portions cannot be identified, the component entity with program
management responsibility should report the fund.
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Criteria For
Including
Components In A
Reporting Entity

36.

37.

38.

Likewise, some programs are coterminous, i.e., share the same
boundaries, with an organization or sub-organization, while other
programs—such as student loan programs—are the component for
which resources are deployed, are responsible for achieving
objectives, and/or are of great interest to outsiders. In both instances,
the financial operations and results of the program might warrant
highlighting or even separate reporting by the organization or
suborganization which manages the program.

Financial statements for organizationally-based reporting entities may
be audited and issued to external parties, unaudited and used for
internal management purposes, or, perhaps to be more relevant and
meaningful, combined with financial statements from other
organizationally-based reporting entities.

The ultimate aggregation of entities is into the entire Federal
Government which, in reality, is the only independent economic
entity—although some would say the entire country is the ultimate
economic entity. The Federal Government entity would encompass all
of the resources and responsibilities existing within the component
entities, whether they are part of the Executive, Legislative, or Judicial
branches (although, as noted in paragraph 5, FASAB’s
recommendations pertain only to the Executive Branch). The
aggregation would include organizations for which the Federal
Government is financially accountable as well as other organizations
for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the
government (see paragraphs 39 through 50) are such that their
exclusion would cause the Federal Government’s financial statements
to be misleading or incomplete.

39.

40.

Regardless of whether a reporting entity is the U.S. Federal
Government, or an organization, suborganization, or program, there
can be uncertainty as to what should be included and inconsistency as
to what is included in the reporting entity. The identification and
application of specified criteria can reduce this uncertainty and
inconsistency.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has
established criteria for what would be included in a state or local
government reporting entity. These criteria relate to financial
accountability, which includes appointment of a voting majority of the
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organization’s governing board, together with imposition of will, and
financial benefit to or burden on a primary government. These criteria,
while in part relevant, must be tailored to the Federal Government
environment. First, there are not as many different types of entities in
the Federal Government as there are in state and local governments.
Second, the Congress and others with oversight authority frequently
establish explicit rules for what to include as part of a Federal
reporting entity. Finally, as indicated, with the exception of the Federal
Government as a whole, all the reporting units are components of a
larger entity, namely the Federal Government, rather than independent
economic entities.

Conclusive Criterion

41.

42.

There are two types of criteria that should be considered when
deciding what to include as part of a financial reporting entity. The
first is a conclusive criterion, i.e., an inherent conclusion that for
financial reporting purposes, any organization meeting this criterion is
part of a specified larger entity.

Appearance in the Federal budget section currently entitled “Federal
Programs by Agency and Account” is a conclusive criterion. Any
organization, program, or budget account, including off-budget
accounts and government corporations, included in that section
should be considered part of the U.S. Federal Government, as well as
part of the organization with which it appears. This does not mean,
however, that an appropriation that finances a subsidy to a non-
Federal entity would, by itself, require the recipient to be included in
the financial statements of the organization or program that expends
the appropriation.

Indicative Criteria

43.

There are instances when, for political or other reasons, an
organization (including a government corporation), program, or
account is not listed in the “Federal Programs by Agency and
Account,” yet the general purpose financial statements would be
misleading or incomplete—in regard to the objectives for Federal
financial reporting—if the organization, program, or account were not
included therein. These organizations, programs, or accounts would
normally be considered to be operating at the “margin” of what would
be considered a governmental function in contrast to providing a more
basic governmental function. Thus, in addition to the conclusive
criterion, there are several indicative criteria that should be
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44.

considered in the aggregate for defining a financial reporting entity in
the Federal Government. No single indicative criterion is a conclusive
criterion in the manner that appearance in the “Federal Programs by
Agency and Account” section of the budget is. Nor can weights be
assigned to the indicative criteria. Thus, while the indicative criteria
are presented in descending order of importance, judgment must be
based on a consideration of all of the indicative criteria.

The indicative criteria for determining whether an organization not
listed in the “Federal Programs by Agency and Account” section of the
budget is nevertheless part of a financial reporting entity are as
follows:

. It exercises any sovereign power of the government to carry out
Federal functions. Evidence of sovereign powers are the power
to collect compulsory payments, e.g., taxes, fines, or other
compulsory assessments; use police powers; conduct
negotiations involving the interests of the United States with
other nations; or borrow funds for Government use.

. It is owned by the Federal Government, particularly if the
ownership is of the organization and not just the property.
Ownership is also established by considering who is at risk if the
organization fails, or identifying for whom the organization’s
employees work.

e Itis subject to the direct or continuing administrative control of
the reporting entity, as revealed by such features as (1) the ability
to select or remove the governing authority or the ability to
designate management, particularly if there is to be a significant
continuing relationship with the governing authority or
management with respect to carrying out important public
functions (in contrast to selections and designations in which
there is little continuing communication with, or accountability
to, the appointing official); (2) authority to review and modify or
approve budget requests, budgetary adjustments, or amendments
or rate or fee changes; (3) ability to veto, overrule, or modify
governing body decisions or otherwise significantly influence
normal operations; (4) authority to sign contracts as the
contracting authority; (5) approval of hiring, reassignment, and
removal of key personnel; (6) title to, ability to transfer title to,
and/or exercise control over facilities and property; and (7) right
to require audits that do more than just support the granting of
contracts. (While many of these criteria exist in a client-
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45.

46.

contractor relationship, it is not necessarily intended that an
entity’s contractor be considered as part of the reporting entity.)

o It carries out Federal missions and objectives.

e It determines the outcome or disposition of matters affecting the
recipients of services that the Federal Government provides.

e It has afiduciary relationship with a reporting entity, as indicated
by such factors as the ability of a reporting entity to commit the
other entity financially or control the collection and
disbursement of funds; and other manifestations of financial
interdependency, such as a reporting entity’s responsibility for
financing deficits, entitlement to surpluses (although not
necessarily the assets acquired from failed units), or the
guarantee of or “moral responsibility” for debt or other
obligations.

The entity or any of the above criteria are likely to remain in existence
for a time, i.e., the interest in the entity and its governmental
characteristics is more than fleeting.

In applying the indicative criteria, the materiality of the entities and
their relationship with one another should be considered. Materiality
should not be measured solely in dollars. Potential embarrassment to
any of the entities’ stakeholders should also be considered. Thus, a
bias toward expansiveness and comprehensiveness would be justified,
particularly if it could contribute to maintenance of fiscal control.*

Federal Reserve System 47

In establishing and monitoring monetary policy, the Federal Reserve
System, i.e., the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
and the Federal Reserve Banks, could be considered as functioning
consistent with the indicative criteria presented in paragraph 44.
However, in the United States, the organization and functions
pertaining to monetary policy are traditionally separated from and
independent of the other central government organizations and
functions in order to achieve more effective monetary and fiscal
policies and economic results. Therefore, the Federal Reserve System
would not be considered part of the government-wide reporting entity.
Payments made to or collections received from the Federal Reserve

‘Any uncertainty as to what to consider as a reporting entity would be resolved by OMB in
consultation with the appropriate Congressional committees.
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System would be reported in the financial statements of the Federal
Government. Certain other disclosures might also be appropriate in
the financial statement for the entire government.

Government Sponsored
Enterprises

48.

49.

There are also several Federally chartered but privately owned and
operated financial institutions that have been established as financial
intermediaries to facilitate the flow of investment funds to specific
segments of the private sector. These entities are called government
sponsored enterprises (GSE). Examples are the Federal National
Mortgage Association, the Farm Credit Banks, and the Federal Home
Loan Banks. By law, each of these GSEs is subject to oversight from a
specific Federal agency. However, they are not included in the Federal
budget section entitled “Federal Programs by Agency and Account.”
Nor, as currently constituted, do they function in a manner consistent
with the indicative criteria presented in paragraph 44. Thus they would
not be considered part of the government-wide reporting entity nor the
reporting entity to which they have been assigned for oversight.

On the other hand, there are “political expectations” associated with
the GSEs, the most significant of which is an expectation that
legislation would be enacted to support a GSE experiencing severe
financial difficulties. (Political expectations are different than “moral
obligations” established by many states. There is no statutory
authority that defines whether and how a political expectation would
be met. With a moral obligation, the manner in which it may be met is
usually explicitly defined in statute.) Therefore, agencies assigned
oversight responsibility for a GSE(s) would need to consider making
disclosures of the government’s relationship with the GSE(s) and
other information that would provide an understanding of the
possibility of a contingent liability.”

*The term government sponsored enterprise is also sometimes used in a broader manner to
encompass other entities established by the Federal Government to further a public policy
and that are also not included in the budget section “Federal Programs by Agency and
Account.” Examples are the Financing Corporation, Resolution Funding Corporation,
Amtrak, and even, on occasion, the American National Red Cross. These entities have varied
characteristics and different types of relationships to the Federal Government, and
therefore, in some cases, may be included with the above mentioned GSEs in sections or
tables of Federal budget documents. These entities need to be judged individually with
respect to the indicative criteria presented in paragraph 39 in order to determine whether
they should be considered part of a Federal reporting entity.

Page 89 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

Bailout Entities

Other Aspects
Concerning The

Completeness Of
The Entity

50.

The Federal Government occasionally bails out, i.e., guarantees or
pays debt, for a privately owned entity whose failure could have an
adverse impact on the nation’s economy, commerce, national security,
etc. As a condition of the bail out, the Federal Government frequently
obtains rights similar to the authorities associated with the indicative
criteria presented in paragraph 44. The existence of these rights does
not make the bailed out entity part of the Federal Government
reporting entity or any of the other reporting entities that are part of
the Federal Government. Disclosure of the relationship(s) with the
bailed out entity(ies) and any actual or potential material costs or
liabilities would be appropriate.

51.

52.

The application of specified criteria to delineate the reporting entity is
one aspect of ensuring that the users of a reporting entity’s financial
reports are provided with all the information relevant to the reporting
entity. However, because the only independent economic entity is the
entire Federal Government, financial resources or free services are
often provided from one component in the government to another
component without a quid pro quo. For example, a portion of the
retirement costs of Federal employees is reported by the Office of
Personnel Management rather than the organizational entities
employing the persons. Thus, within the parameters explained in
paragraphs 52 and 53, it is important to ensure that the reporting
entity’s financial reports include amounts that are attributable to the
reporting entity’s activities, even though they are recorded elsewhere.
This is particularly important for costs associated with the use of
human resources; personnel services are such a major part of most
government activities. It is also important for the costs of services
provided by other reporting entities, such as computer services
provided by another unit.

A process in which the reporting entity is billed and pays for the
amounts attributable to its activities is normally the most desirable
approach for recording and reporting these amounts. However, when
this type of direct debiting or crediting is not done, the decision as to
whether to capture and report attributable amounts would be based
on such criteria as the magnitude of the attributable amounts, the
decision usefulness of the information to its likely users, the costs of
capturing the data, whether a decision would be made differently as a
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53.

result of having the information, and whether the information would
have a policy impact.®

It might be appropriate to consider the interest expense inherent in
devoting a sum of capital to an organization or program as part of the
total costs incurred in operating the organization or performing the
program. This principle has already been adopted for the accounting
for loans and loan guarantees, whereby a loan program is charged for
the cost of capital provided by the U.S. Treasury.’

Displaying Financial 5+

Information

55.

Financial information is typically provided by or for a reporting entity
through financial statements. Financial statements represent the
principal means of communicating accounting information about an
entity’s resources, obligations, revenues, costs, etc. to those outside
the entity. However, financial statements, and particularly those
prepared for governmental and other not-for-profit organizations, may
also contain information from sources other than accounting records.
Also, management may communicate information to those outside the
entity by means of financial reporting other than financial statements,
either because the information is required to be disclosed by statute,
regulation, or custom; or because management believes the
information would be useful to those outside the entity and discloses it
voluntarily.

To enhance confidence in the reliability of information presented in
financial statements, the statements are often, but not always, audited
by Inspectors General, independent accounting firms, or the
Government Accountability Office. Some financial reporting by
management, both within and outside the financial statements, is
audited, or is reviewed but not audited; and some information is
presented by management without audit or review by persons
independent of those who prepared the statements or information.

The Board is developing a Statement of Managerial Cost Accounting Concepts and

Standards. This document, when finalized, will address recognition of these amounts.

"The Board has decided to undertake a project addressing the types of capital for which it

might be appropriate for a reporting entity to disclose the costs, the reasons thereof, and the
manner in which to determine and report these costs. A determination of the
appropriateness of considering interest expense as part of the costs incurred by an

organization or program will be made by that project.
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56. In the Federal Government, there are several types of reporting
entities (organizations, suborganizations, programs, and the
government as a whole) and several financial reporting objectives
(budgetary integrity, operating performance, stewardship, and systems
and control). Each of the reporting objectives can be met to a certain
degree by the statements prepared by or for one type of reporting
entity and to a greater or lesser degree by the statements prepared by
or for the other types of reporting entities. For example, the objective
of budgetary integrity can be best met with the program and financing
schedules prepared for individual budget accounts. The objective of
operating performance can be best met with financial statements from
organizations/suborganizations and programs (although financial
statements at this level can also help readers evaluate the reporting
entity’s budgetary integrity). The objective of stewardship can be best
met with a financial statement for the entire government. Meeting the
financial reporting objectives in their totality requires financial
statements from all of the types of reporting entities.

Stock Statements 57. The financial reporting objectives are also met with different types of
financial statements. A financial statement that presents financial
information for an entity as of a particular point in time, however the
information is measured, i.e., budgetary, cash, or accrual, is often
characterized as a stock statement. An example of a stock statement is
a balance sheet. It presents the total balances of assets, liabilities,
and net position of an organization as of a specific time.

Flow Statements 58. Another type of financial statement provides information on an entity’s
flows of revenues, receipts, expenditures, expenses, gains, losses,
and/or other changes of the entity’s net resources during a period,
however they are measured, i.e., budgetary, cash, or accrual. This type
of financial statement is frequently characterized as a flow statement.
The traditional flow statement is a statement of operations and
changes in net position issued by private sector, profit seeking
organizations. It presents the results of an entity’s operations for a
reporting period, including the changes in the entity’s net position
from the end of the prior reporting period. This type of statement is
particularly useful for private sector, profit seeking organizations
since their objective is to generate earnings and returns on investment.
The statement of operations and changes in net position presents the
revenues the entity receives, the expenses incurred to generate the
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59.

60.

61.

revenues, the amount left for the entity’s owners, and the resulting
effect on the owners’ equity.

The Federal Government and most of the other reporting entities in
the Federal Government are spending entities whose objective is to
provide services, some of which are financed by revenues received
from the recipients of the service, and some of which, if not all or most
of which, are financed by taxes and other unearned revenues.® Thus,
the most useful information a flow statement could present is the total
and net costs of the services, i.e., how much of the services provided
by the entity was financed by the taxpayers. This type of statement,
which would be a statement of net costs, would support the
achievement of Federal financial reporting objective 2A. Objective 2A
states that “Federal financial reporting should provide information
that helps the reader to determine the costs of providing specific
programs and activities and the composition of, and changes, in these
costs.”

As indicated, revenues provided in exchange for the services, i.e.,
earned revenues, are not the only manner in which a Federal
Government entity finances the services it provides. Other sources of
financing are the appropriations received from the Congress, and such
various non-exchange revenues as fines, donations, and transfers from
other agencies. Therefore, another useful flow statement would be a
statement of changes in net position that presents the manner in
which the entity’s net costs were financed and the resulting effect on
the entity’s net position. This also would be consistent with Federal
financial reporting objective 2: “Federal financial reporting should
assist report users in evaluating. . .the manner in which these efforts
and accomplishments have been financed....”

The collection of the major sources of funds for the appropriations,
e.g., taxes, royalty payments, and fines, is the responsibility of just a
few reporting entities, especially the Internal Revenue Service, the
Customs Service, and the Minerals Management Service. These
entities are functioning in a custodial capacity and are required to turn
the taxes or other monies they collect over to the Treasury or other

8The Board is currently developing an Exposure Draft entitled “Revenue and Other
Financing Sources” which addresses more fully the types of revenues (i.e., exchange versus
non-exchange and earned versus unearned revenues) discussed here.
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62.

organizations. The results of these entities’ custodial activities could
be reported in a flow statement that provides an understanding of
from whom the taxes or other monies were collected and to whom
they were distributed. This would be called a statement of custodial
activities.

For many reporting entities, and particularly those engaged in
reimbursable activities, it is useful to have an understanding of the
sources and amounts of cash provided to the entity for operating,
investing, and financing purposes and the major purposes for which
the cash was used. This type of information can be displayed with a
statement of cash flows, in accompanying footnotes, or as
supplemental financial and management information.

Budget Statement 63.

64.

Meeting the first objective of SFFAC No. 1, “Objectives of Federal
Financial Reporting,” namely the budgetary integrity objective,
necessitates that the reader receive assurance that

e the amounts obligated or spent did not exceed the available
budget authority,

. obligations and outlays were for the purposes intended in the
appropriations and authorizing legislation,

o other legal requirements pertaining to the account have been met,
and

) the amounts are properly classified and accurately reported.

This information is provided in other reports, but there needs to be
auditor involvement to provide assurance as to the reliability of the
information. The assurance as to reliability of the information could be
accomplished by including a statement of budgetary resources in
the reporting entity’s financial statements, recognizing that the
statement will likely be subject to audit. The presentation of data
could be for the reporting entity as a whole, for the major
suborganization units (assuming there is congruity among the major
suborganization units and the budget accounts), or for the
aggregations of the major budget accounts, rather than for the
individual budget accounts of the entity or other types of entities.
Violations of budgetary integrity at the account level occurring during
the current year could be disclosed on an exception basis. (Many
violations of budgetary integrity would also be violations of the Anti-
Deficiency Act. Disclosure in the financial statements
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notwithstanding, these violations would also have to be reported as
required by the Act.)

Reconciliation
Statement--Budgetary
And Financial
Accounting

64A.

64B.

Subobjective 1C of the budgetary integrity objective states that
information is needed to help the reader to determine “how
information on the use of budgetary resources relates to information
on the costs of program operations and whether information on the
status of budgetary resources is consistent with other accounting
information on assets and liabilities.” This objective arises because
accrual-based expense measures used in financial statements differ
from the obligation-based measures used in the budgetary reports.

To satisfy this objective, information is needed about the differences
between budgetary and financial (i.e., proprietary) accounting that
arise as a result of the different measures. This could be accomplished
through a Statement of Financing that reconciles the budgetary
resources obligated for a federal entity’s programs and operations to
the net cost of operating that entity. The data presented could be for
the reporting entity as a whole, for the major suborganization units, for
major budget accounts, or for aggregations of budget accounts, rather
than for each individual budget account of the entity.

Performance Measures
Statement

65.

66.

The second objective of Federal financial reporting states, in part, that
Federal financial reporting should provide information that helps
readers of the financial reports determine the efforts and
accomplishments associated with Federal programs and the changes
over time and in relation to costs. This suggests that a statement of
program performance measures,’ i.e., one or more statements
presenting service efforts and accomplishments measures for each of
a reporting entity’s significant programs, is necessary.

The Federal Government is increasing its interest in measuring and
reporting program performance, as evidenced by the enactment of the
Government Performance and Results Act and increasing emphasis
during budget reviews on program performance. Moreover, the ability
to seek and obtain maximum return from increasingly limited

The Board does not consider the Statement of Program Performance Measures to be a basic
financial statement.
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67.

resources can be enhanced by an understanding of the results of the
programs for which budget resources have been expended. In the final
analysis, the objective of the Federal Government is to provide
services, in contrast to the objective of private sector organizations,
which is to earn profits and enhance the return on investment, both of
which are monetary objectives. All of these factors suggest that the
statement of program performance measures is not only an
appropriate statement, but likely to be the most important statement
for those persons interested in how a Federal entity is using its
resources.

For a statement of program performance measures prepared by an
organization-level reporting entity, the outputs and outcomes would be
related to the performance of the entity itself and its own programs,
e.g., clients vaccinated, illnesses prevented. For the government-wide
report, broader measures of outcomes and impacts that depended on
the joint efforts of several reporting entities would be appropriate, e.g.,
state of the economy, national security, environment, personal health,
social welfare, although some narrower outcome measures might also
be included.

Other Information

68.

69.

Financial information is also conveyed with accompanying
footnotes, which are an integral part of the financial statements.
Footnotes typically provide additional disclosures that are necessary
to make the financial statements more informative and not misleading.

It is also necessary to convey more general information about the
reporting entity. This could entail such matters as a brief description of
the reporting entity; its missions, goals, and objectives; the programs it
provides and the major recipients for the program; its major sources of
funding; the manner in which the reporting entity is organized,; its
personnel resources; highlights of the entity’s accomplishments during
the reporting period; selected measures of program performance
abstracted from the statement of program performance; problems
encountered or targets missed and the reasons why; financial
highlights and trends; expected problems and challenges; future
targets the entity is setting for itself; and any other information the
agency head or CFO considers necessary to fully and fairly provide an
understanding of the entity’s financial affairs. This type of information
is typically presented in what has come to be known as a
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management discussion and analysis or overview of the reporting
entity.

70. The third objective of Federal financial reporting is that it “should
assist report users in assessing the impact on the country of the
government’s operations and investments for the period and how, as a
result, the government’s and the nation’s financial conditions have
changed and may change in the future.' This objective requires a
reporting of information concerning investments in education,
training, research, and development and certain types of property,
plant, and equipment that can affect the nation’s future wealth, and to
the claims on future budgetary resources resulting from prior
decisions and actions.

A complete discussion of the third objective for Federal financial reporting, which is called
the “stewardship objective,” is contained in paragraphs 134 to 145 of Statement of Federal
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 1, “Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting.”
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71. The information pertaining to the aforementioned investments, certain
types of property, plant, and equipment,'' and claims on future
budgetary resources is maintained in part in the entities’ general
ledgers and, in part, external to the general ledgers. Some of the
information is recorded in units other than dollars, e.g., acres, millions
of square feet. Finally, some of the information is not subject to the
types of controls present in a system of double entry recordkeeping.
Accordingly, a more suitable way to fulfill the third reporting objective
would be to display the appropriate information as required
supplemental information rather than attempting to include it in
financial statements.'

72. Finally, some reporting entities desire or need to report information to
support information in the overview or to enhance the understanding
of the entity’s operations or financial condition. That additional
information would not always be appropriate for the overview or the
financial statements or accompanying footnotes. Examples are
delivery times, turnover, and wastage of inventories; condition,
maintenance, and expected replacement of physical capital; and
delinquency, aging, and default rates for loan portfolios. This
information is typically reported as supplemental financial and
management information. It can be reported in the form of
schedules, charts, tables, and/or narrative text.

73. The fourth objective, systems and controls, is fulfilled, in part, by the
act of preparing the financial statements. Other ways the fourth
objective could be fulfilled through the audited financial reporting
process is by a management assertion that would accompany the
financial statements and/or an auditor’s attestation on the financial

"The Board is currently considering accounting standards for Federally-owned property,
plant, and equipment. These standards will address placement of information related to
various types of PP&E. The Board is considering placing information about some types of
PP&E in footnotes with information about other types in required supplemental information.
The Board’s proposals will be presented in an exposure draft on stewardship reporting.

2Required supplemental information is information that would be reported outside the
principal financial statements that the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board
considers an essential part of a reporting entity’s financial reporting, and therefore
recommends authoritative guidelines for the measurement and presentation of the
information. It is analogous to the required supplementary information discussed in
Statement on Auditing Standards-AU Section 558.06, which addresses pronouncements of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board.
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statements. The management assertion would be an acknowledgment
of its responsibility for the accuracy of the information in the financial
statements, the completeness and fairness of the presentation of the
information, the accuracy of the information in all material respects,
and the reporting of the information in a manner designed to fairly
present financial position and results of operations. The assertion
could also include a statement regarding the adequacy of the entity’s
systems and controls, accompanied by the auditor’s concurrence with
the assertion.

Financial Reporting For
An Organizational Entity

74.

75.

Meeting the four objectives of Federal financial reporting in the most
efficient manner suggests that reporting entities issue a financial
report that would include the following:

management discussion and analysis;

balance sheet;

statement of net costs;

statement of changes in net position;

statement of custodial activities, when appropriate;

statement of budgetary resources;

statement of financing'*

statement of program performance measures; '

accompanying footnotes;

required supplemental information pertaining to physical, human,
and research and development capital and selected claims on
future resources, when appropriate; and

. other supplemental financial and management information, when
appropriate.

With some organizations, and even suborganizations, the activities of
one or more programs or other components are as important to the
readers of the financial statements as are the activities of the entity as
a whole. This would be particularly true for a Department composed
of many bureaus, administrations, agencies, services, etc., and

220MB will provide guidance regarding details of the display for the Statement of Financing,
including whether it shall be presented as a basic financial statement or as a schedule in the
notes to the basic financial statements.

3The statement of program performance measures is not a basic financial statement.
Nevertheless, it is an important component of the financial reports.
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particularly if their programs are dissimilar. In those instances,
consideration should be given to the preferability of reporting the
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, etc. of both the significant
components individually and of the entity in its entirety. Hence, larger
organizations, and particularly those composed of many bureaus,
administrations, agencies, etc., would prepare not only consolidated
financial statements for the organizational entity, but also provide
information pertaining to their individual significant components.**
The information for the individual components could be provided with
separate columns in consolidating financial statements' (with the
information for the less significant components, and possibly the
entity’s management component, aggregated into a single separate
column), in separate financial statements for each significant
component, or in the accompanying footnotes. The significant
components can be suborganizations or programs. If they are
suborganizations, information regarding programs should be provided
in some manner.

76. Furthermore, there are frequently instances when one or more of the
suborganizations conduct a very visible or critical activity and there is
a high level of public interest, e.g., Internal Revenue Service tax
collection activity; maintains complex accounts with large fund flows,
e.g., Defense Business Operations Fund; has major responsibilities for
the appropriate use of earmarked taxes, e.g., Health Care Financing
Administration; or its financial viability is of special concern to the
Executive Branch or the Congress, e.g., deposit insurance funds. In
those situations, it may be desirable for the sub-organization to
prepare and issue a separate financial statement that is consistent with
the concepts presented in this concepts statement.'® In doing so, it

1Such components are similar to responsibility segments as referred to in FASAB Exposure
Draft, “Managerial Cost Accounting for the Federal Government” (see pages 26-30).
Responsibility segments are used to accumulate costs and outputs for major lines of activity.

5A consolidated financial statement presents the transactions and balances for a
reporting entity’s components in a single column. In arriving at the consolidated amounts,
the transactions and balances among the entities are eliminated. A consolidating financial
statement presents the information for the reporting entity’s components as well as the
consolidated amounts in individual columns. The elimination of the inter-entity transactions
and balances needed to arrive at the consolidated amounts might or might not be presented
in a separate column.

16Sub-organizations required by statute to prepare and issue a separate financial statement
would, by definition, also need to do so.
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would need to identify the parent entity and describe the sub-
organization’s relationship to the parent.

77. The components of any reporting entity are likely to conduct
transactions with other components in the reporting entity, other
Federal entities, and persons and organizations outside the Federal
Government. Likewise, they are likely to have assets due from and
liabilities due to other Federal components and entities and to non-
Federal persons and organizations. In reporting the transactions and
balances of a Federal reporting entity in its entirety, it is conceptually
desirable, although not always practicable, to eliminate the intra-entity
transactions and balances. Factors to consider are the utility of the
information for the entity in its entirety if the intra-entity balances are
not eliminated, the misunderstanding that might result if the balances
are not eliminated, and the cost-benefit of making the eliminations.'”

78. Some of a reporting entity’s components are likely to be required by
law or policy to prepare and issue financial statements in accordance
with accounting standards other than those recommended by FASAB
and issued by OMB and GAO, e.g., accounting standards issued by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board or accounting standards
established by a regulatory agency. Those components should
continue to issue the required reports. The reporting entities of which
the components are a part can issue consolidated, consolidating, or
combining statements that include the components’ financial
information prepared in accordance with the other accounting
standards. They need to be sensitive, however, to differences resulting
from applying different accounting standards that could be material to
the users of the reporting entity’s financial statements. If these
differences are material, the standards recommended by FASAB and
issued by OMB and GAO should be applied. The components would
need to provide any additional disclosures recommended by FASAB

17A reporting entity that eliminates none of the intra-entity transactions or balances and still
desires to present the information for its individual components in separate columns could
do so by preparing and issuing a combining financial statement. If the individual columns
are added to a total column without elimination of the intra-entity transactions or balances,
the total column would have to be labeled “Memorandum Only” to signify that it is not net of
eliminations. Recognizing that the U.S. Standard General Ledger does not presently provide
accounts for identifying intra-entity transactions, the decision as to when the information for
areporting entity other than the Federal Government as a whole should be presented in a
consolidating financial statement rather than a combining financial statement would be
specified by OMB in a Form and Content Bulletin.
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and included in the OMB-issued standards that would not be required
by the other standards.

Financial Reporting For  79.

The Entire Government

80.

81.

82.

83.

Readers of the financial statements for the entire government are
likely to be concerned primarily with whether the government has
been a proper steward. This can best be achieved with the preparation
and issuance of the following:

management discussion and analysis;

balance sheet;

statement of operations or net costs;

statement of program performance measures;

accompanying footnotes;

required supplemental information pertaining to physical, human,
and research and development capital and selected claims on
future resources; and

o other supplemental financial and management information, when
appropriate

The readers should be made aware of whether the financial statements
for the entire government exclude any significant entities that are
included in the budget or include significant entities that are not
included in the budget.

Readers of the financial statements for the entire government are also
likely to be concerned with the results of the budget process. This
interest can be fulfilled by providing a comparison of budgeted and
actual use of resources, presented on the same basis as the budget is
accounted for; and a reconciliation of accrual-based operating results
to the budget-based operating results. The budget would be the
amounts included in the President’s Budget or the Mid-session Review
of the budget, whichever is appropriate.

The financial statements for the entire government could also be used
to provide information on Presidential initiatives or crosscutting
programs that is not available in financial statements for individual
organizations or programs.

Because the government is a complete and integral economic entity, in
contrast to the departments and major agencies whose components
frequently have nothing in common other than belonging to the same
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department, it would be appropriate that the financial statement for
the entire government be a consolidated financial statement. However,
it might also be appropriate to display selected information for the
components, funds, etc., either within the consolidated financial
statement, in accompanying footnotes, and/or as supplemental
information.

Recommended

Contents For The
Recommended
Displays

Balance Sheet

84. The elements most likely to be presented in the balance sheet of a
Federal suborganization/organization, program, or the entire
government would be as follows:

Page 103

Fund Balance with Treasury. This represents the amount in the
entity’s accounts with the U.S. Treasury that is available only for
the purposes for which the funds were appropriated. It may also
include balances held by the entity in the capacity of a banker or
agent for others. However, Fund Balance with Treasury (FBWT)
meeting the definition of fiduciary FBWT should not be
recognized on the balance sheet, but should be disclosed in
accordance with the provisions of SFFAS 31, Accounting for
Fiduciary Activities.

Cash and other monetary assets. Cash consists of coins, paper
currency and readily negotiable instruments, such as money
orders, checks, and bank drafts on hand or in transit for deposit,
amounts on demand deposit with banks or other financial
institutions, cash held in imprest funds, and foreign currencies.
Investments. While Federal agencies have the authority to
invest, they are typically limited to investing in securities issued
by the Department of the Treasury or other Federal entities.
There could be instances, however, when an agency owns
property or securities issued by state or local governments,
private corporations, or government sponsored enterprises,
primarily for the purpose of obtaining a monetary return.
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Receivables. These are the amounts that the entity claims for
payment from others. Receivables can result from such activities
as the sales of goods or services, the non-payment of taxes, the
making of loans or loans assumed from defaults on previously
made loan guarantees, the earning of interest, the advance or
prepayment of monies, etc.

Inventories and related properties. Inventories consist of
tangible personal property held for sale, in the process of
production for sale, or to be consumed in the production of goods
for sale or in the provision of services for a fee. Related
properties that could be owned by a Federal program,
suborganization or organization, or the entire government
include operating materials and supplies, stockpile materials,
seized property, forfeited property, and goods held under price
support and stabilization programs.

Property, plant, and equipment. Property, plant, and
equipment (PP&E) have been defined in the Federal Government
as tangible items owned by the Federal Government and having
an expected useful life of greater than two years. Some PP&E are
held by the Federal Government but not used to provide a
service. They are in themselves a service. Examples are heritage
assets such as monuments and museum collections; the service is
the sense of tradition, understanding, and pride visitors receive
visiting these sites. Information pertaining to these assets would
not necessarily be displayed in the balance sheet, but rather as
required supplemental information.™®

Liabilities. These are the amounts the reporting entity owes to
others for goods or services received, progress in contract
performance, defaulted guarantees, funds held as deposits etc.
Because no liability can be paid without an enacted
appropriation, some liabilities are funded while others are
unfunded. Also, because the Federal Government is a sovereign
entity, it can abrogate at any time many of its liabilities arising
from other than contracts. This does not, however, eliminate the

8The Board issued an Exposure Draft, Accounting for Property, Plant, and Equipment
(PP&E ED), on February 28, 1995 addressing those items of PP&E that would be reported on
the balance sheet. The PP&E ED also proposes definitions for categories of PP&E that
would not be reported on the balance sheet. In a separate ED, the Board will address other
means of reporting on the non-balance sheet categories—-possibly including separate basic
financial statements and required supplemental information.
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85.

existence of, and therefore the need to report, liabilities incurred
by the reporting entity.

. Net position. Net position is the residual difference between
assets and liabilities. It is generally composed of unexpended
appropriations and the cumulative results of operations. Included
in the former would be appropriations not yet obligated or
expended, including undelivered orders. Included in the latter
would be the amounts accumulated over the years by the entity
from its financing sources less its expenses and losses, which
would include donated capital and transfers in the net investment
of the Government in the reporting entity’s assets; and an amount
representing the entity’s liabilities for such things as accrued
leave, credit reform subsidies, and actuarial liabilities not
covered by available budgetary resources.

Assets the reporting entity holds and has the authority to use in its
operations should be displayed separately from assets the entity holds
but does not have the authority to use. Likewise, liabilities for which
budgetary authority has been received for liquidating the liabilities
should be displayed separately from liabilities for which budget
authority has not been received (even if the authority is expected).
Assets and liabilities arising from transactions among Federal entities
should be displayed separately from assets and liabilities arising from
transactions with non-Federal entities.

Statement Of Net Costs

86.

87.

The main purpose of a statement of net costs is to provide an
understanding of the net costs of each organization and each program
that the government supports with taxes and other unearned monies.
Another important purpose for the statement is to provide gross and
net cost information that can be related to the amounts of outputs and
outcomes for the programs and/or organization. Thus the statement of
net costs should present the amounts paid, the consumption of other
assets, and the incurrence of liabilities as a result of rendering
services, delivering or producing goods, or carrying out other
operating activities.

The costs can be classified in a reporting entity’s statement of net
costs by sub-organization (assuming the reporting entity is an
organization), by program, or by object class, or any combination
thereof. Object class, also referred to as a “natural” classification,
represents the nature or types of goods or services acquired without
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88.

89.

90.

91.

regard to the organization involved or the program for which they
were used. Reporting of the sub-organization incurring the costs
and/or the purposes for which the costs were incurred generally
provides more useful information than reporting on the types of goods
or services acquired.

The statement of net costs should also present the revenues earned by
each program and organization. The manner in which the earned
revenues would be presented would depend on the purpose of the
program and the reasons why the revenues are present.

Some programs are established with generation of revenue as a
primary consideration or purpose. One example would be when the
goods or services provided by the organization are also available from
the private sector and not charging a fee for the goods or services
would be unfair competition. Another example would be when it is
deemed appropriate that the persons or organizations receiving the
goods or service pay for the goods or services, usually to be able to
ascertain the true cost of the activity using the goods or services, e.g.,
the Defense Business Operations Fund, Postal Service. Still another
example is when revenues are imposed to limit the unnecessary
consumption of the goods or services. In each of these instances, the
revenues earned by the program(s) should be considered a deduction
from the total costs of the program(s).

With other programs, the revenues are generated from administering
an inherently governmental service, which means the revenues are not
a primary consideration for the program. Rather, the revenues are a
means to recover all or most of the costs of administering the
program, e.g., the Securities and Exchange Commission. In those
instances, the revenues should be considered a deduction from the
total costs of the organization, not the program.

In still other instances, an organization’s revenues can be generated by
providing a specific program, but the revenues are not a primary
consideration in the conduct of the program,; they are incidental to the
purpose of the program, e.g., the sale of maps by the Geological
Survey. In those instances, it would be appropriate to consider the
earned revenues as a deduction from the incremental costs that need
to be incurred in order to provide the goods or services that generate
the incidental revenues, to the extent that the incremental costs are
measurable and relevant to decision making. Otherwise the revenues
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92.

93.

9.

95.

should be considered a deduction from the program’s or organization’s
total costs.

Earned revenues that are insignificant in amount can be netted into
the costs of the programs with the amounts disclosed in
accompanying footnotes, if appropriate.

An organization or sub-organization could receive different types of
revenues for different purposes and/or reasons. Each of the revenues
and associated costs would be displayed in accordance with the
concepts presented in paragraphs 89 through 92.

The costs associated with and displayed for each program should
reflect costs that can be directly traced to the program, assigned to the
program based on cause and effect, or allocated to the program on a
reasonable and consistent basis, consistent with the premise that any
costs reported for a program should be controllable by the program to
at least some degree. Those costs that are not directly traceable,
assignable, or allocable could be considered program or management
support costs that are incurred by the reporting organization or
another organization to administer the reporting organization’s or
program’s activities. For example, in a reporting entity that provides
social services, the program costs would be the cash payments and the
salary and other costs, e.g., rent, supplies, directly associated with
persons providing counseling to the recipients of the cash payments.
The organizational support costs would be the costs of the
organizational structure required to administer the organization, i.e.,
not directly attributable to the programs provided by the organization.

Organizational and program management costs are necessary costs of
operating an organization and programs. Not displaying these costs
because of a belief that an allocation for these activities would be
eliminated or reduced in order to obtain a reduction of the cost of the
entire organization or program is illogical. The alternative concept,
which is burying the management costs with the program costs,
increases the likelihood that the management activity will be subject
to reductions imposed on the program delivery activities. Separately
identifying the management costs enables the use of resources for
these activities to be justified on their own merit. The costs for
managing the organization and/or program can therefore be displayed
on the face of the financial statements or in accompanying footnotes,
particularly when it would assist in evaluating operating performance
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96.

97.

98.

99.

and is cost-effective. Disclosure of what the support costs entail would
be appropriate.

The total costs displayed in a reporting entity’s financial statements
should be the same as the total costs recorded by an organization in its
cost accounting system. If, for financial reporting purposes, the
organization does not allocate organizational management costs
among the programs, the total costs displayed for any one program in
the entity’s financial statements could be different than the costs
recorded for that program in the cost accounting system.

Other earned revenues would include revenues not attributable to a
specific program.

Costs and revenues arising from transactions with other Federal
entities should be displayed separately from transactions with non-
Federal entities.

The decision as to how to display total program costs, earned
revenues, net program costs, and organizational and program
management costs should be based, in part, on a consideration of what
the Congress, management, and others might want to know about the
costs of providing an organization’s programs.

Statement Of Changes In
Net Position

100.

The appropriate elements for a statement of changes in net position
would be as follows:

. Net costs display the amount that had to be financed by other
than earned revenues.

e  Appropriations used represent the amount of budget authority,
including transferred budget authority, used by the organization
to finance its operations.

. Non-exchange revenues include dedicated taxes, fines, and
other revenues the Government is able to obtain due to its
sovereign powers.

o Donations are monies and materials given by private persons
and organizations to the Government without receiving anything
in exchange.

. Transfers in are amounts of cash or other capitalized assets
received by one Government entity from another Government
entity without reimbursement.
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. Transfers out are amounts of cash or other capitalized assets
provided by one Government entity to another without
reimbursement.

e Imputed financing sources are of two types: amounts equal to
the costs that have been incurred by the reporting entity but
financed by another entity, e.g., retirement costs; and amounts
representing costs that are attributable to the reporting entity’s
activities but that do not require a direct out-of-pocket payment,
e.g., the interest costs associated with carrying inventory or
investing in physical assets."

e  Prior period adjustments are corrections of prior period
results of operations.

¢ Increase (decrease) in unexpended appropriations is the
change in appropriated capital, including transferred budgetary
resources, that does not affect the net cost of operations but does
affect net position.

e Net position-beginning of the period is the total unexpended
appropriations and cumulative results of operations held by the
entity at the beginning of the reporting period.

¢ Net position-end of the period results from adding and netting
the various amounts associated with the operations of the entity
during the reporting period, including the net position-beginning
of the period and any prior period adjustments. The amount will
thus equal the total unexpended appropriations and cumulative
results of operations held by the entity at the end of the period.

Statement Of Custodial
Activities

101. A separate statement of custodial activities would be appropriate for
those entities whose primary mission is collecting taxes or other
revenues, particularly sovereign revenues that are intended to finance
the entire Government’s operations, or at least the programs of other
entities, rather than their own activities. The revenues should be
characterized by those agencies as custodial revenues. The statement
should display the sources and amounts of the collections of custodial
revenues, any increases or decreases in amounts collectable but not
collected, the disposition of the collections through transfers to other

YThe Board plans to undertake a project on the interest cost associated with investing in
operating assets. At this time, no decision has been made on the recognition by individual
entities of these types of costs.
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entities, the amounts retained by the collecting entity, and any
increase or decrease in the amounts to be transferred.

102. Custodial collections do not include deposit funds, i.e., amounts held
temporarily by the government (e.g., bidders’ earnest money or
guarantees for performance) or amounts held by the Government as
an agent for others, (e.g., state income taxes withheld from Federal
employees’ salaries that are to be transferred to the states). These
types of collections should be reported in accordance with the
provisions of SFFAS 31, Accounting for Fiduciary Activities.

103. Organizations that collect custodial revenues that are incidental to
their primary mission do not need to report the collections and
disposition of these revenues in a separate statement. The disclosure
of the sources and amounts of the collections and the amounts
distributed to others could be disclosed in accompanying footnotes.

Statement Of Budgetary 104. The appropriate elements for a statement of budgetary resources
Resources prepared for a reporting entity would be as follows:

. Budgetary resources made available is the amount available
to enter into obligations that will result in immediate or future
outlays involving Federal Government funds. The resources
should be relevant to the reporting period. The components of
budgetary resources would include budget authority (i.e.,
appropriations, borrowing authority, and contract authority) and
unobligated balances of multi-year and no-year money remaining
from prior reporting periods. Budgetary resources would also
include reimbursements and other income (i.e., spending
authority from offsetting collections credited to an appropriation
or fund account) and adjustments (e.g., recoveries of prior year
obligations).

. Status of Budgetary Resources displays the disposition of the
budgetary resources made available. It consists of the obligations
incurred; the unobligated balances of multi-year and no-year
budget authority that are available; and the unobligated balances
of one-year and multi-year lapsed budget authority that are not
available, but have been carried forward to be used only to
record, adjust, or liquidate obligations chargeable to the
appropriation. The total amount displayed for status should be
equal to the total amount displayed as being made available.
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. Outlays are payments to liquidate obligations, net of offsetting
collections. Obligations are usually liquidated by means of cash
payments (currency, checks, or electronic funds transfers), but in
certain cases obligations are liquidated and outlays recorded
even though no cash is disbursed. It would be appropriate, in
displaying outlay information, to tie it to the obligations incurred
by also displaying the transfers of obligations and the obligated
balances at the beginning and end of the period.

105. Budgetary resources, obligations, outlays, and receipts are reported in
the Treasury’s Annual Report and Monthly Treasury Statement and in
the President’s Budget, although not all these publications report all
these measures. These documents are usually issued prior to the
issuance of financial statements prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles applicable to the Federal
Government. In preparing these statements, significant differences
should be noted between amounts reported in the former documents
and amounts reported in the subsequently prepared financial
statements. Such differences should be adjusted in the records of the
reporting entity and in the related records maintained by the central
agencies, and the correct amounts reported in the financial
statements. It would also be desirable to provide a reconciliation for
significant differences appearing in the two types of statements.

Statement of Financjng 105A. The purpose of the Statement of Financing is to explain how
budgetary resources obligated during the period relate to the net
cost of operations for that reporting entity. This information should
be presented in a way that clarifies the relationship between the
obligation basis of budgetary accounting and the accrual basis of
financial (i.e., proprietary) accounting. By explaining this
relationship through a reconciliation, the statement provides
information necessary to understand how the budgetary (and some
nonbudgetary) resources finance the cost of operations and affect
the assets and liabilities of the reporting entity. The appropriate
elements for the Statement of Financing would be as indicated in the
following paragraphs. They provide logical groupings of reconciling
items that help the reader move from obligations to net cost of
operations.

105B. Obligations incurred are amounts of new orders placed, contracts
awarded, services received, and other similar transactions during the
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period that will require payments during the same or a future period.
A deduction is needed for spending authority from offsetting
collections and recoveries of prior period obligations.

105C. Nonbudgetary resources represent the net amount of resources
received by the entity that are not included in budgetary resources.
These items could include donations of assets, transfers of assets
from (to) other federal entities, and financing imputed for cost
subsidies. This amount would also include decreases (increases) in
receivables related to revenue accrued from the public because,
while the cash collected for exchange revenue is a budgetary
resource, the accrual amount is not.

105D. Resources that do not fund net cost of operations are primarily
(a) the change in amount of goods, services, and benefits ordered
but not yet received or provided, (b) amounts provided in the
current reporting period that fund costs incurred in prior years, and
(¢) amounts incurred for goods or services that have been
capitalized on the balance sheet.

105E. Costs that do not require resources are most commonly the
result of allocating assets to expenses over more than one reporting
period (e.g., depreciation) and the write-down of assets (due to
revaluations).

105F. Financing sources yet to be provided are the financing amounts
needed in a future period to cover cost incurred in the current

period.

105G. The bottom line of this reconciliation would be the net cost of

operations.
Statement Of Program 106. The statement of program performance measures should include
Performance Measures measures for each of the major programs the reporting entity

operates. The preferred types of measures are (1) output measures,
i.e., the quantity of a service or product provided or the percentage of
the target group provided the service or product, and that ideally
meets a certain quality requirement; and (2) outcome measures, i.e.,
the accomplishments or results that occurred because of the services
or outcomes provided. Outcome measures could address either the
ultimate program outcome or intermediate outcomes, e.g., accuracy

Page 112 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

of, timeliness of, or satisfaction with the services provided. Workload,
process, and input measures should be in the minority. Explanatory
information that helps the readers understand the reported measures,
assess the entity’s performance, and evaluate the significance of
underlying factors that may have affected the reported performance is
appropriate. Comparative measures from prior years or similar
programs and industry standards are also appropriate. They help to
provide a better understanding of the level of the reporting entity’s
performance.”

107. The measures selected for reporting should relate to the programs’
purposes and goals. It would be particularly useful to include
measures previously included in budget documents and other
materials released to the public. It would also be useful to base the
selection of measures on discussions with budget examiners,
Congressional staffs, and other users of the entity’s financial
statements.

108. The statement of program performance measures should not be
cluttered with trivial measures. Measures selected should be
considered important by decisionmakers and particularly the resource
providers that are likely to use the financial statements. Also, relevant
measures should be reported, without regard to whether they portray
positive or negative performance. The most significant measures
should be extracted for highlighting in the management discussion and
analysis.

109. Other characteristics to consider for reporting program performance
measures are as follows :

e  Completeness. The measures, in the aggregate, should cover all
aspects of the reporting entity’s mission.

OThe acceptance of a statement of program performance will increase in relation to the
users’ perception of the relevance and reliability of the reported information. These
perceptions can be enhanced to the extent there are independent assessments of the
appropriateness of the measures, the completeness of the data, the actual occurrence of the
reported events, and the values assigned to the data. Auditors of Federal agency financial
statements are currently required (by an OMB Bulletin) to evaluate the underlying control
structure for program performance measures included with the financial statements. The
extent to which auditors will be expected to expand the scope of their involvement with
program performance measures to include the aforementioned independent assessments
would be specified by OMB consistent with government audit standards.
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Legitimacy. The measures should be accepted as relevant both
inside the reporting entity and by the external stakeholders and
others, e.g., the central management agencies, Congress, interest
groups, the public.

Understandability. The measures should communicate the
performance of the entity in a readily understandable manner to
any reasonably informed and interested party.

Comparability. The measures should provide a frame of
reference for assessing, and comparing, if appropriate, the
performance of the entity and entities with similar programs for
both the immediate period and over time.

Ability to relate to cost. The measures should be such that a
cost can be defined for each unit of output, outcome, input, etc.
Timeliness. The measures should be available to users of the
financial statements before they lose their capacity to be of value
in assessing accountability and making decisions. The value of
timeliness should not preclude the use of important measures for
which results are not immediately available.

Consistency. The measures should be reported consistently
from period to period to allow users to have a basis for
comparison and to gain an understanding of the measures being
used and their meaning (recognizing that the measures should be
reviewed regularly and modifications made to reflect changing
circumstances).

Reliability. The information should be derived from systems that
produce controlled and verifiable data, although at times it may
be necessary to rely on secondary sources of data.?!

110. Since many Federal Government programs have counterpart programs
at the state and local government level, for those programs, it would
also be appropriate to consider the measures states and local
governments use to report performance.

'The Public Management Committee of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development, which is comprised of the twenty four democratic nations with advanced
market economies, has been studying performance management systems. It has concluded,
based on the experiences of countries that have implemented such systems, that
performance measures should reflect three important characteristics: validity, continuity,
and legitimacy. These characteristics, while intended to guide management systems in their
totality, rather than simply inclusion in financial statements, have nonetheless been
incorporated into the above characteristics.
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111. Numerical measures are not the only way to report program
performance. In some instances, it may be more meaningful and
practicable to report performance with other than numerical
measures.

stttk

112. Example formats for displaying the recommended elements are
provided in appendix 1. These formats are illustrative and provided
solely to help readers of this document better understand the
recommended concepts for displaying financial and related
information. In exposing proposed standards, the Board might portray
other formats. The ultimate specification of the form and content for
financial statements for Federal agencies is defined by OMB.
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Appendlx 1-A: Example Financial Statement Formats
Balance Sheet

]
BALANCE SHEET - as of September 30, 19X4 - ASSETS

Suborganization Suborganization Suborganization Total Total
C FY 19X4 FY 19X3
Entity assets:
Fund balance with Treasury $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx
Cash (and other monetary assets) XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Investments:
Intragovernmental XXX XXX XXX XXX
With the public XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Receivables:
Intragovernmental XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
With the public XXX XXX XXX XXX
Inventories and related properties XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Physical assets XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total entity assets XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Non-entity assets:
Fund balance with Treasury XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Cash XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Receivables:
Intragovernmental XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
With the public XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total non-entity assets XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total assets $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx
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L _____________________________________________________________________________________________________|
BALANCE SHEET - as of September 30, 19X4 - LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Suborganization Suborganization Suborganization Total Total
A B C FY19X4 FY 19X3
LIABILITIES
Liabilities covered by budgetary
resources:
Intragovernmental liabilities:
Payables $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx
Governmental liabilities:
Payables XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total liabilities covered by budgetary
resources XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Liabilities not covered by budgetary
resources:
Intragovernmental liabilities:
Payables XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Governmental liabilities:
Payables XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Amounts held for others XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total liabilities not covered by budgetary
resources XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total liabilities XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
NET POSITION
Unexpended appropriations XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Cumulative results of operations XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total net position XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total liabilities and net position $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx

Note: The above balance sheet format is for an organization composed of three significant suborganizations. An organization deciding to forego
presenting the information pertaining to the suborganizations would provide only the information contained in the last two columns.
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Appendix 1-B:
Statement of Net

Costs

Example Financial Statement Formats

|
STATEMENT OF NET COSTS - For the year ended September 30, 19X4

Suborganization Suborganization Suborganization Total Total
C FY19X4 FY 19X3
COSTS:
Program A:
Intragovernmental $xxx $--- $--- P$xxx P$xxX
With the public XXX --- - ---
Total XXX --- --- ---

Less earned revenues XXX XXX

Net program costs XXX - -— XXX XXX
Program B:

With the public XXX XXX XXX XXX

Less earned revenues XXX XXX XXX XXX

Net program costs - XXX XXX XXX XXX
Program C:

Intragovernmental XXX XXX - XXX XXX

With the public XXX XXX - XXX XXX

Net program costs XXX XXX === XXX XXX
Program D:

Costs with the public XXX - XXX XXX
Cost not allocated to programs XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Less other earned revenues - --- XXX XXX XXX
NET COST OF OPERATIONS $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx
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Appendlx 1-C: Example Financial Statement Formats

Statement of
Changes in Net
Position

L _____________________________________________________________________________________________________|
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION - For the year ended September 30, 19X4

Suborganization Suborganization Suborganization Total Total
C FY19X4 FY 19X3
NET COST OF OPERATIONS $(xxx) $(xxx) $(xxx) $(xxx) $(xxx)
FINANCING SOURCES
Appropriations Used XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Taxes (non-exchange revenue) XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Donations (non-exchange revenue) XXX XXX XXX XXX
Imputed Financing XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Transfers-in XXX - XXX XXX XXX
Transfers-out (xxx) (xxx)
NET RESULTS OF OPERATIONS XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS XXX XXX --- XXX XXX
NET CHANGE IN CUMULATIVE RESULTS XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
OF OPERATIONS
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN UNEXPENDED XXX (xxx) XXX XXX XXX
APPROPRIATIONS
CHANGE IN NET POSITION XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
NET POSITION-BEGINNING OF PERIOD XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
NET POSITION-END OF PERIOD $xxx $xxX $xxx $xxx $xxX

Note: The above statement of changes in net position format is for an organization comprised of three significant suborganizations. An organization
deciding to forego presenting the information pertaining to the suborganizations would provide only the information contained in the last two columns.

Page 119 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

Appendlx 1-D: Example Financial Statement Formats

Statement of
Custodial Activities

L _____________________________________________________________________________________________________|
STATEMENT OF CUSTODIAL ACTIVITIES - For the year ended September 30, 19X4

FY 19X4 FY 19X3
Collections:
Income Taxes $(xxx) $(xxx)
Estate and gift taxes XXX XXX
Excise Taxes XXX XXX
Employment Taxes XXX XXX
Penalties and Interest XXX XXX
Total collections XXX XXX
Refunds and other payments (xxx) (xxx)
Net collections XXX XXX
Accrual adjustment XXX (xxx)
Total revenues collected XXX XXX
Disposition of revenues collected:
Transferred to others:
Department of the Treasury XXX XXX
Department of Labor XXX XXX
Environmental Protection Agency XXX XXX
Total transfers XXX XXX
Retained by the entity XXX XXX
Increase (decrease) in amounts to be transferred XXX (xxx)
Total disposition of revenues collected XXX XXX
Net custodial collections $000 $000

Page 120 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

Appendix 1-E:
Statement of
Budgetary
Resources

Example Financial Statement Formats

STATEMENT OF BUDGETARY RESOURCES - For the year ended September 30, 19X4

Suborganization Suborganization Suborganization Total Total
C FY19X4 FY 19X3
Budgetary resources made available:
Budget authority $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx $xxx
Unobligated balances-beginning of period XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Reimbursements and other income XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Adjustments XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total, budgetary resources made
available XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Status of budgetary resources:
Obligations incurred (gross) XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Unobligated balances-end of period XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Unobligated balances-not available XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total, status of budgetary resources XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Outlays
Obligations incurred, net XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Obligations balance transferred XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Obligations balance-beginning of period XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Less: obligations balance-end of period XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
Total, outlays $xxx $xxx $xxx $XXX $xxx
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Appendlx 1-F" Example Financial Statement Formats

Statement of
Program
Performance
Measures

|
Statement of Program Performance Measures? - For the year ended September 30, 19X4

FY 19X4 FY 19X3 FY 19X2
Sub-organization A
Program
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Program
Performance Measure XX% XX% XX%
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Program
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Performance Measure XX% XX% XX%
Sub-organization B
Program
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Performance Measure XX% XX% XX%
Program
Performance Measure XX% XX% XX%
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Sub-organization C
Program
Performance Measure XXX XXX XXX
Performance Measure XX% XX% XX%

Note: Sub-organizations A, B, and C are equivalent to responsibility segments for which cost and financial data are collected. (See FASAB Exposure
Draft, “Managerial Cost Accounting for Federal Government”, pages 26-30.)

ZAlthough this example contains only numerical measures, the performance for some programs might be reported with other than
numerical measures.

Page 122 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 2

Appendix 1-G:

Statement of
. . |
Fmancmg EXAMPLE FINANCIAL STATEMENT FORMATS - STATEMENT OF FINANCING - For the
year ended September 30, 19X4

Obligations and Nonbudgetary Resources

Obligations incurred $XXX
Spending authority for offsetting collections and other (X)
budgetary adjustment

Donations not in the budget X
Financing imputed for cost subsidies X
Transfers-in (out) X
Other X
Obligations, as adjusted, and Nonbudgetary Resources XXX
Resources That Do Not Fund Net Cost of Operations

Change in amount of goods, services, and benefits (X)
ordered but not yet received or provided

Cost capitalized on the balance sheet (X)
Financing sources that fund costs of prior periods (X)
Other (X)
Costs That Do Not Require Resources

Depreciation and amortization X
Revaluation of assets and liabilities X
Other X
Financing Sources Yet to be Provided X
Net Cost of Operations $XXX

Appendix 2: List of See Consolidated List of Acronyms in “Appendix F: Consolidated List of
ACI'OnymS Abbreviations” on page 1557.
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Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 3:
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Status

Issued April 1999

Interpretations and Technical Releases

Affects SFFAC 1, paragragh 181, by providing guidance on MD&A
Affected by SFFAS 27, paragraph 39, amends paragraph 26.
Summary

This document describes the concepts on which the Board relied in recommending standards for
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) to be included in general purpose federal financial reports
(GPFFR).! Concepts Statements are not authoritative in the sense that they do not establish standards or
principles. Preparers may find them useful, but these concepts are not “prescribed guidelines” for required
supplementary information as discussed in section 558 of the Codification of Statements on Auditing
Standards published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. No standards or prescribed
guidelines for MD&A are presented in this statement of concepts.

MD&A is an important vehicle for (1) communicating managers’ insights about the reporting entity, (2)
increasing the understandability and usefulness of the GPFFR, and (3) providing accessible information about
the entity and its operations, service levels, successes, challenges, and future. Some federal agencies also
refer to MD&A as the “overview.”

The basic concept that underlies the standards for MD&A is:

Each general purpose federal financial report (GPFFR) should include a section devoted to
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A). It should address the reporting entity’s performance
measures, financial statements, systems and controls, compliance with laws and regulations, and actions
taken or planned to address problems. The discussion and analysis of these subjects may be based partly
on information contained in reports other than the GPFFR. MD&A also should address significant events,
conditions, trends and contingencies that may affect future operations.

!The term general purpose financial report, abbreviated “GPFFR,” is used as a generic term to refer to the report that contains the
entity’s financial statements that are prepared pursuant to federal accounting principles.

A separate document titled Standards for Management’s Discussion and Analysis presents the standards for
MD&A. The standards for MD&A say that MD&A should address:
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the entity’s mission and organizational structure;

the entity’s performance goals and results;

the entity’s financial statements;

the entity’s systems, controls, and legal compliance; and

the possible future effects on the entity of existing, currently-known demands, risks, uncertainties,
events, conditions and trends.

The discussion and analysis of these subjects may be based on information in other discrete sections of the
GPFFR or it may be based on reports separate from the GPFFR. The standards require MD&A to be included
in each GPFFR as required supplementary information (RSI).
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Statement Of
Concepts

Basic Concept 1. Each general purpose federal financial report (GPFFR, see figure 1 on
130) should include a section devoted to management’s discussion and
analysis (MD&A).! MD&A should address the reporting entity’s
program and financial performance measures, financial statements,
systems and controls, compliance with laws and regulations, and
actions taken or planned to address problems. The discussion and
analysis of these subjects may be based partly on information
contained in reports other than the GPFFR. MD&A also should
address significant events, conditions, trends and contingencies that
may affect future operations.

Discussion and rationale 2. A typical GPFFR is a highly summarized profile of a complex entity. It
is based on conditions that exist at the reporting date and events that
occurred in the preceding period. It shows what has happened, but it
does not explain why it happened or what may reasonably be expected
to happen in the future.

3. Financial reports have two key roles. One is a feedback role to provide
information used for evaluating past decisions, expectations, and
trends. Another is a predictive role to provide information used for
formulating expectations and making decisions about the future. Both
roles can be enhanced by insights and interpretations from an entity’s
management.

The term general purpose federal financial report, abbreviated “GPFFR,” is used as a
generic term to refer to the report that contains the entity’s financial statements that are
prepared and audited pursuant to the CFO Act of 1990, as amended. entities may refer to
these reports using different terms, such as “Annual Report,” “Accountability Report,”
“Financial Management report,” etc. Paragraphs 54-112 and Appendix 1 of Statement of
Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 2, Entity and Display, describe and illustrate the
contents of the GPFFR. For more information on the “Accountability Report” see paragraph
59 and the glossary. (Other words defined in the glossary are marked with an asterisk.) See
also Toward a Report to Citizens on the State of their Nation and the Performance of Their
Government: proceedings of the AGA Task Force on a Report to Citizens on the State of the
Nation, Association of Government Accountants, 1994.
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4.  The managers of an entity have detailed knowledge of the
transactions, events, and conditions reflected in the entity’s financial
report and of the policies that govern the entity’s operations. The
managers also have informed expectations regarding the future based
on that knowledge. As a part of their stewardship responsibility,
managers should explain the significance of key financial and
nonfinancial information shown in the report, the strategies that led to
the results reported, and the implications for future operations of
events that have occurred or are likely to occur. The distinction
between “financial” and “nonfinancial” information is arbitrary and
often tenuous, but in this context “nonfinancial information” can
include information on systems, controls, compliance with laws and
regulations, and performance.

5. A Federal reporting entity’s GPFFR should be understandable and
useful to a wide audience, not just members of the entity’s
management and specialized analysts working for special interest
groups, corporations, and other entities affected by the Government’s
actions. Therefore, the report should be accompanied by a concise
narrative discussion and analysis. Even insiders and specialized
analysts often need such a discussion and analysis to understand the
report. Communication with a wide audience may require effective
use of colors, graphs, photographs, and charts. Reporting
understandable, accessible information on the Government’s actions
and the effects of its actions helps assure accountability and provides
a more “level playing field” on which the public interest can best be
served.

Background 6. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has for many years
recognized the importance of such a narrative discussion of the
financial statements. To serve the interests of investors and creditors,
the SEC requires such a narrative discussion and analysis from
management of companies under its purview. The SEC wants MD&A
to help readers understand the entity’s financial position and results of
operations with the benefit of management’s understanding and
perspective. The SEC also wants MD&A to go beyond the basic
financial statements, to include relevant forward-looking information.
Research on MD&A for companies registered with the SEC shows that
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MD&A adds value to the financial statements. Forward-looking
information, for example, can be an important contribution.”

7.  Several factors suggest that MD&A may be even more important for
Federal reporting entities than for those in the private sector and may
need to be more extensive in scope. These factors include the
complexity of Federal operations, the myriad objectives they pursue,
and the diverse nature of the groups affected by and interested in the
Government’s activities. Fundamentally, the Government’s objective is
to provide for the common defense and to promote the general
welfare, not to earn a profit. Therefore, reporting on performance and
other matters in a way that is understandable to diverse audiences is
important. For these reasons, both SFFAC 1, Objectives of Federal
Financial Reporting, and SFFAC 2, Entity and Display, refer to
MD&A in concept as part of the general purpose federal financial
report.

8.  Page 130 presents a schematic diagram of a sample GPFFR. It is
schematic because the information called for by the statements of
federal financial accounting standards should be located in the report
in a logical sequence, not necessarily in the order shown. MD&A for
the reporting entity as a whole normally will be located immediately
after the agency head’s letter. Reporting entities that organize their
GPFFR by responsibility segment may combine MD&A regarding each
segment; alternatively, they may have MD&A for each responsibility
segment located separately in each of the respective subsections of
the report. Preparers have flexibility to structure their report in the
manner most appropriate under the circumstances. This diagram, the
entire statement of concepts, and the accompanying standards for
MD&A are intentionally written in general terms, in light of the
evolving practice of performance reporting and accountability
reporting in the federal government. The standards for MD&A define
in general terms required supplementary information that should
accompany financial statements prepared in conformance with federal
accounting principles.

Research on MD&A in private sector financial reporting suggests that forward-looking
information in MD&A, in particular, is a significant source of added value for financial
analysts. See Stephen H. Bryan, “Incremental Information Content of Required Disclosures
Contained in Management Discussion and Analysis,” The Accounting Review Vol. 72 No. 2,
(April 1997), pp. 285-301.
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|
FIGURE 1: Schematic Diagram of a Sample General Purpose Federal Financial Report

Agency Head’s Letter
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (RSI)
<=mmem Other Elements of the General Purpose Federal Financial Report ----- >

1. Basicfinancial 2. Required 3. Required 4. Performance 5. Other 6. Management’s
statements and Supplementary Supplementary Information Accompanying assertions and
notes, with Stewardship Information Information reports on
auditor’s report Information (RSI) (OAl) controls,
if audited (RSSI) compliance,

and corrective
actions under
FMFIA and
FFMIA (or
portions of
these
assertions and
reports)

The GPFFR is represented by MD&A plus columns 1-6 of the diagram. (The agency head’s letter is part of the GPFFR by general practice, though it
is not required by federal accounting principles.) This is not a literal depiction of the organization of a report. Information should be presented in a
logical arrangement. MD&A will address major issues that are typically reported in more detail in the discrete sections of the GPFFR or in other
publicly available reports that the GPFFR incorporates by reference. Incorporating another report by reference does not, by itself, mean that the
separate report is subject to audit.

Unless law or managerial action requires more extensive audit review or examination of the material incorporated by reference, the FASAB expects
that the auditor of the financial statements will treat the material incorporated by reference as other accompanying information, although it does not
physically accompany the GPFFR. OMB has authority to provide specific guidance on the auditor's minimum responsibility regarding this material.
OMB may, for example, direct auditors to treat the material incorporated by reference as if it were other accompanying information in an auditor-
submitted document.

SFFAC 2 (paragraphs 106-111 and Appendix 1-F) calls for a “Statement of Performance Measures” as part of the GPFFR, but FASAB has not yet
recommended standards for it. Other titles may be used for this section of the GPFFR. Performance indicators included in the GPFFR will either be
those in the entity’s annual performance report under the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993 (GPRA or the Results Act) or a subset of
them.

Alternatively, that report may be incorporated by reference. Until further guidance is available, the agency should select the indicators to report in
consultation with OMB.

The assertions and report on control called for by the Federal Managers Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA or Integrity Act) would not be stated in full in
MD&A. They would be reported in a discrete section of the GPFFR or incorporated in the GPFFR by reference. They are within the scope of MD&A
because highly important aspects of systems, compliance, and internal controls should be discussed in MD&A. “Highly important” in this context may
imply a higher threshold than “materiality” for the financial statements.

If the report also includes financial statements for component entities (bureaus, responsibility segments, etc.), management should use its judgment
in organizing the report. The component entities’ financial statements may be discussed in separate sections of the report or as subsections of MD&A
of the consolidated entity.
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9. MD&A should address:

. the entity’s structure, mission, goals, and objectives, with
indicators® of its performance;

e actions taken or planned to improve performance, when
appropriate;

. the financial statements;

. systems, internal controls™ and legal compliance, including
corrective action taken or planned; and

e the future effects of existing, currently- known demands, risks,
uncertainties, events, conditions and trends. MD&A may also
address the possible future effects of anticipated* future
demands, events, conditions, trends, etc. that management
believes would be important to the reader of the report.

10. MD&A should address these subjects even if, as will be true for many
Federal reporting entities, separate documents report much of the
information in more detail. Information about these subjects is
essential to address the objectives of federal financial reporting
regarding performance, stewardship, budgetary integrity, and systems
and controls.

The following paragraphs explain the implications of this.

11. Regarding the entity’s mission and performance, MD&A should inform
the reader how well the reporting entity is doing. This means that it
should tell the reader what the reporting entity and its programs have
accomplished, and how well the entity is managing its programs. To do
this, MD&A should answer such questions as:

e  What do we need to know to gauge operating success?
. How do we measure what we accomplished?
e  What do the measurements show?

3This document uses the terms “performance measure” and “performance indicator”
synonymously. Some people use the term “performance indicator” instead of “performance
measure” because the performance of government programs typically involves several
factors or dimensions, and many of these dimensions of performance cannot be measured
precisely.

*Words marked with * are defined in the glossary.
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12.

13.

14.

To understand the information on performance, systems, controls, and
legal compliance, it typically is necessary to understand something
about the reporting entity’s organizational structure, mission, and
strategic plan. Accordingly, MD&A should concisely inform the reader
about these topics.

Reporting information that helps people assess the performance of the
Government’s programs and organizations is an important objective of
Federal financial reporting. For governmental entities, in contrast to
profit-seeking entities, the financial result of governmental-type
activities is rarely an adequate indicator of performance. (For a few
governmental entities, mainly those that conduct primarily business-
type instead of governmental-type activities, the financial results of
operations may be an important, albeit rarely sufficient, performance
indicator.) To assess performance, people need additional information
on the consequences of the Government’s activities. For a competitive,
profit-seeking entity, the value of its products or services is measured
by the amount of money customers are willing voluntarily to pay for
them. In such a situation, the traditional income statement reports on
both the efforts (measured by expenses incurred) and the
accomplishments (measured by revenue earned) of the entity. For
government, expense reflects efforts, as it does in the private sector,
but indicators other than revenue must be used to report on
accomplishments. A discrete section of the GPFFR therefore presents
indicators of accomplishments (such as indicators of outputs and
outcomes) and other indicators of performance. Alternatively, the
GPFFR incorporates performance indicators by reference to a
separate report such as the Annual Performance Report required by
the Results Act. Either way, performance information is an integral
part of the GPFFR and should be discussed in MD&A. Management’s
discussion and analysis should therefore address the most important
facets of performance as well as the financial statements and
supplementary information.

Regarding the financial statements, MD&A should answer questions
such as the following, to the extent that they are relevant and
important for the entity:
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What is the entity’s financial position? What is its financial

condition?” How did this come about?

What were the significant variations:

—  from prior years?

—  from the budget?"

—  from performance plans, long-term plans, or other relevant
plans in addition to the budget?

What is the potential effect of these factors, of changed

circumstances, and of expected future trends? In other words, to

the extent that it is feasible to project the effects of these factors,

will future financial position, condition, and results, as reflected

in future financial statements, probably be different from this

year’s and, if yes, why? (Any such discussion should acknowledge

that the future is unpredictable and will be influenced by factors

outside the reporting entity’s control, including actions by

Congress.)

15. Regarding systems and controls, MD&A should tell the reader whether
internal accounting and administrative controls (some authorities
prefer the term “management controls”) are adequate to ensure that:

transactions are executed in accordance with budgetary and
financial laws and other requirements, consistent with the
purposes authorized, and are recorded in accordance with
Federal accounting standards;

assets are properly acquired and used, safeguarded to deter theft,
accidental loss or unauthorized disposition, and fraud; and
performance measurement information is adequately supported.

16. Reporting information that helps people assess the condition of the
entity’s management systems and of the relevant internal controls is an
important objective of Federal financial reporting. The relevant
internal controls for this purpose are those that support reporting on
financial and operating performance and reporting on compliance

SThe traditional concepts of “financial position” and “financial condition” are typically applicable
to revolving funds, Government corporations, and other reporting entities that are intended to be
self-financing. The concepts may be less relevant, or may require some qualification or
modification, for other kinds of Federal reporting entities.

‘Management should use its judgment to decide what variances are relevant for MD&A. It
will not always be essential or appropriate to discuss all variances.
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with applicable laws.” The great diversity of people (often with
competing interests) affected by governmental action, and the fact
that governments function within and by means of a framework of
laws, mean that more attention to these matters is necessary than in
financial reports for profit-seeking entities.

17. An entity’s ability to prepare auditable financial statements and other
reliable reports for management from the entity’s books and records is
a positive signal about the finance-related systems and controls of that
entity. By themselves, however, the financial statements of a
governmental entity do not provide adequate information about the
status of the entity’s management systems and internal controls that
support reporting on financial and operating performance and
reporting on compliance with applicable laws. For these reasons, the
GPFFR of a Federal reporting entity should include information about
systems, internal controls, and legal compliance, in addition to the
basic financial statements. This information—Ilike the information on
performance—is presented in a discrete section of the GPFFR;
alternatively it may be incorporated in the GPFFR by reference to
separate reports such as those required by the Integrity Act. MD&A
should therefore address the most important facets of this information
on systems, controls and legal compliance, as well as the financial
statements, supplementary information, and performance information.

Relationship to other
reports

18. The information in the GPFFR about systems, internal controls, and
legal compliance (column 6 in figure 1) may include the assertions and
a summary of the reports on controls, legal compliance, and corrective
actions pursuant to the Integrity Act and the Federal Financial
Management Improvement Act (FFMIA), or those reports may be
incorporated by reference. This information should be presented in
conformance with guidelines published by OMB. MD&A, in turn,
should discuss the most important aspects of the information on these

“Internal controls are also relevant to other objectives. For example, controls help
management assure efficient and effective use of resources for the purpose intended. They
also support preparation of performance reports pursuant to GPRA. See, for example,
paragraph 40.
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19.

20.

21.

22.

topics. Referring to separately-issued reports on systems and controls
does not eliminate the need to discuss these topics in MD&A.?

The performance information (column 4 in figure 1) may include the
indicators in an entity’s performance report pursuant to the Results
Act or a selection of the most important performance indicators.
Alternatively, a separate performance report may be incorporated by
reference. This information should be presented in conformance with
guidelines published by OMB. MD&A, in turn, will discuss the most
important aspects of the performance information. Reference to a
separately-issued performance report does not eliminate the need to
discuss performance in MD&A.

The performance reports required by the Results Act may be
voluminous for some agencies. In such cases, it may not be desirable
to include all this information in the GPFFR. It is necessary to include
at least some information about performance with the financial
statements, however, so that people who use the GPFFR can
understand why the costs reported in the financial statements were
incurred and the consequences of doing so.

In the same way, the GPFFR by itself may not provide a
comprehensive report on systems, controls and legal compliance.
There may be voluminous reports from management and auditors on
these topics. It is necessary to include at least some information about
these topics, however, so that users of the GPFFR can understand
whether the resources on which it reports were properly safeguarded
and used for the purposes intended, whether reliable reports can be
prepared, and whether the other objectives of internal controls are
being met. This information is important both to provide a basis for
understanding the financial statements themselves and to address the
objectives of federal financial reporting.

Combining information on these topics adds value by putting the
information about performance, internal controls, and systems in the
context of audited financial statements. For example, the quality of

%Note that the purpose of the pilot Accountability Reports is to eliminate the need for
numerous separate reports and to include the information required by those reports in a
single report. For example, the Integrity Act requires an assertion on controls by the agency
head. Pilot agencies are including this assertion in the Accountability Report.
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information on the cost of outputs and outcomes of programs is
enhanced by linking these indicators to the audited Statement of Net
Cost. This is true even though the Statement of Net Cost may be too
highly aggregated to identify separately all the programs reported on
for the Results Act. Similarly, the auditor’s tests of transactions and
controls in connection with the audit of the financial statements
provide information about the condition of the systems and controls
used to safeguard resources and to assure that they are used for the
intended purposes, in conformance with law. (Paragraphs 15 and 40-49
say more about the discussion and analysis of systems, controls, and
performance.)

Authoritative status of
accounting concepts

Topics For MD&A

23.

This Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts describes
ideas and goals to guide the Board in its work. Concepts are not
authoritative in the sense that they do not constitute accounting
standards or principles for federal reporting entities. In particular, they
are not “prescribed guidelines” for required supplementary
information as discussed in section 558 of the Codification of
Statements on Auditing Standards published by the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

24.

This section provides specific suggestions for the content of MD&A.
Like the other sections of this document, this material does not
constitute accounting standards or principles for federal reporting
entities. Except to the extent that OMB may issue supplementary
mandatory guidance regarding the content of MD&A, the following
items should be read as suggestions to be considered, not as
prescriptive rules that must be followed.

Mission and
Organizational Structure

2b.

MD&A should contain a brief description of the mission(s) of the
entity and describe its related organizational structure.
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Discussion and Analysis
of the Financial
Statements

26.

27.

28.

Financial Results, Position and Condition’—MD&A should help those
who read it to understand the entity’s financial results and financial
position and the entity’s effect on the financial position and condition
of the Government.'® It should give readers the benefit of
management’s understanding of the significance and potential effect
from both a short- and a long-term perspective of:

. the variations discussed in paragraph 14 in terms of major
changes in types or amounts of assets, liabilities, costs, revenues,
obligations and outlays;

e  particular balances and amounts shown in the basic financial
statements, including the notes, such as those dealing with
earmarked funds, if relevant to important financial management
issues and concerns; and

. the entity’s required supplementary stewardship information
(because RSSI describes economic conditions that cannot be
expressed in the basic financial statements).

Only those variations, balances and amounts, and stewardship
matters of potential interest to readers who are not part of agency
management should be discussed. Not all changes that are material to
the GPFFR are sufficiently important to be included in MD&A. A line-
by-line analysis of the financial statements is not generally
appropriate. Instead, MD&A should summarize the most important
items, explain the relevant causes and effects, and place them in
context.

Budgetary Integrity—MD&A should concisely explain how budgetary
resources have been obtained and used, instances in which their
acquisition and use were not in accordance with legal authorization,
the status of budgetary resources, and how information on the use of
budgetary resources relates to information on the cost of program
operations. MD&A should explain when major support for cost of a
program or activity is provided outside the reporting entity’s budget

For many readers program performance information is more important than the financial
statements. The order in which topics are discussed in this document does not imply that

performance information is of secondary importance. See paragraphs 43 and following,.

Materiality of effects to be discussed should be evaluated in the context of the specific
reporting entity, not the Government as a whole.
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29.

30.

31.

and when the entity’s budget supports a program primarily reported by
another entity. The discussion should describe major financing
arrangements, guarantees, and lines of credit, including those not
recognized in the basic financial statements.

MD&A should explain major changes during the period to the budget
originally approved, major failures to comply with finance-related
laws, and other matters management believes necessary. These could
include:

o unfunded liabilities that may require appropriations;

e  assets that could be sold to augment future budgetary resources;

. amounts of payments that have not been matched with
obligations;

) anticipated increases in the cost to complete long-term projects
in progress that may require additional obligations or
appropriations.

Use of Estimates—MD&A should concisely explain the use of
estimates where that is important to understand issues discussed in
MD&A, such as the major risks and uncertainties mentioned in
paragraph 31 or the key forward-looking information discussed in
paragraph 32. For example, the future expenses and the long term
obligations'! associated with major social insurance programs such as
Social Security and Medicare should be discussed in MD&A of the
financial report of the relevant reporting entities. These estimates are
inherently imprecise and sensitive to several assumptions. Such
factors would, therefore, be worthy of discussion in MD&A.

Current Demands, Risks, Uncertainties, Events, Conditions, and
Trends—MD&A should describe important existing, currently-known
demands, risks, uncertainties, events, conditions and trends--both
favorable and unfavorable--that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and supplementary information. The information
called for by this paragraph and paragraph 32 is closely related.
Preparers should combine the presentation of this information in
whatever fashion is appropriate under the circumstances that apply to
the reporting entity.

The term “obligations” is used here in the customary sense, not as it is used in budgetary
accounting.
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32. Future Effects of Current Demands, Risks, Uncertainties, Events
Conditions and Trends—The discussion of these current factors
should go beyond a mere description of existing conditions, such as
demographic characteristics, claims, deferred maintenance,
commitments'? undertaken, and major unfunded liabilities, to include
a discussion of the possible future effect of those factors. (This
discussion of possible future effect of existing, currently-known
factors is required pursuant to the standards in Standards for
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.)

33. Future Effects of Anticipated Future Events, Conditions, and Trends—
To the extent feasible and appropriate, the discussion should also
encompass the possible future effects of anticipated future events,
conditions, and trends, although this additional information is not
required by the standards for MD&A.'® For example, MD&A might
discuss the possible future effect of anticipated trends in the cost of
inputs that may significantly affect future output costs. Other
examples include the future effect of anticipated demographic trends,
such as declining mortality rates, and the future effects of potential
changes in behavior that may be caused by changes in Government
programs. Such behavioral changes can greatly affect the future cost
of some Governmental programs. For example, such effects can arise
if subsidized insurance encourages the people or entities most at risk
to participate in insurance programs (“adverse selection”) or
encourages risky behavior (“moral hazard”).

34. An anticipated condition such as a prospective demographic trend or
potential behavioral change may not, in itself, constitute a contingency
or assumed risk that must be recognized, disclosed, or reported
pursuant to SFFAS b. Likewise, it may not be something that must be
discussed in MD&A pursuant to the Standards for Management'’s
Discussion and Analysis. Even so, if there is a reasonable prospect of
a major effect on the reporting entity due to the anticipated condition,
then MD&A should include this information to the extent feasible.

2The term “commitments” is used here in the customary sense, not as it is used in budgetary
accounting.

BSome projections that could involve consideration of anticipated factors would be
presented as required supplementary stewardship information pursuant to the standards
exposed for comment in FASAB’s exposure draft Accounting for Social Insurance, February,
1998.
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35.

36.

37.

Where appropriate, the description of possible future effects of both
existing and anticipated factors should include quantitative forecasts*
or projections”. Such forecasts or projections can show the
implications of existing policies and conditions in light of anticipated
or reasonably possible future conditions. For example, for MD&A of
the Government-wide financial statements, long-term projections of
the deficit or surplus may be important indicators of financial
condition and sustainability. For insurance programs, this kind of
projection—which actuaries sometimes call “dynamic analysis”—
would consider possible interactions among current assets, reserves,
policies in force, expected future business or populations covered by
the insurance, and potential behavioral changes such as adverse
selection and moral hazard, if appropriate. Some programs are inter-
related among themselves and/or with conditions in the private sector.
For example, flood insurance programs and disaster assistance
programs may be related to such an extent that analysis of programs
individually would not provide a good idea of their potential impact on
the Government. To the extent feasible, projections should consider
the potential implications of such relationships.

The future implications of current or anticipated factors often can
better be expressed as a range of possible outcomes and associated
probabilities than as a single point estimate. Sometimes the
implications may best be discussed in nonfinancial as well as financial
terms. Forward-looking information can be highly useful, but
management should avoid turning this part of MD&A into mere
“lobbying” for more budgetary authority.

Understanding Financial Reporting—MD&A should make federal
financial statements understandable to a wide audience, not just to
users who are specialized analysts or members of the entity’s
management. There may be many potential sources of
misunderstanding. Management should try to identify those sources of
misunderstanding that may be important and deal with them in MD&A.
Some of these are general and pervasive, such as those that may arise
in the minds of new users of federal financial statements. New users
may have been budget-oriented rather than accrual-accounting
oriented, or may be accustomed to seeing financial statements
prepared on the basis of private sector accounting standards. A
general discussion and reference to the Statement of Financing and
the basis of accounting footnote may be sufficient for such users,
although more specific treatment may be appropriate where the
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38.

39.

resulting differences in the reported amounts may be important to the
understanding of users.

Emphasis that may be given in the financial statements to the costs of
suborganizations and programs may require cautionary discussion of
the relevance and utility of cost information. When MD&A itself
discusses the cost of program outcomes, the problems of associating
costs with outcomes may need to be discussed. In addition, the
possible imprecision of cost information should be mentioned when it
could be relevant to users’ understanding. Similarly, any account-level
discussion in MD&A of variations, balances, and amounts in the basic
and stewardship information made in response to paragraphs 26 and
27 may require mention of the imprecision of amounts cited.

Exceptions and disclaimers in the auditor’s report should be
mentioned in MD&A, and management should respect the auditor’s
professional judgment if management expresses disagreement with
auditor’s findings. (This does not mean that management must refrain
from stating views that differ from the auditor’s; e.g., different views as
to whether a weakness in control is material.) There may be other
sources of misunderstanding. Management should be sensitive to
them and guide the user to a better understanding when the problem
could significantly affect the conclusions and judgments of substantial
numbers of users.

Discussion and Analysis
of Systems, Controls and
Legal Compliance

40.

The schematic diagram of a sample GPFFR on page 130 includes a
discrete section that reports on the status of the entity’s management
systems and internal controls that support (1) preparation of financial
statements and performance information in accordance with Federal
Accounting Standards and management’s criteria, respectively, and
(2) the entity’s compliance with applicable laws.' That section also

"These responsibilities are defined in numerous laws and administrative requirements,
including the Federal Financial Management Improvement Act, OMB Circulars A-123 and A-
127, and OMB Bulletin 98-08. A law of special importance in this connections is the Federal
Managers’ Financial Integrity Act of 1982 (FMFIA or the Integrity Act). The Integrity Act
requires, in part, that “internal accounting and administrative controls of each executive
agency shall be established.. and shall provide reasonable assurance that --

(i) obligations and costs are in compliance with applicable law;

(ii) funds, property, and other assets are safeguarded against waste, loss, unauthorized use,
or misappropriation; and

(iii) revenues and expenditures applicable to agency operations are properly recorded and
accounted for to permit the preparation of accounts and reliable financial and statistical
reports and to maintain accountability over the assets.
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Discussion and
Analysis of
Performance

41.

describes material problems revealed by audits or otherwise known to
management, and the corrective actions taken or planned regarding
material problems.

Where relevant, management should discuss the results of audits of
non-Federal entities such as those pursuant to the Single Audit Act as
amended and OMB Circular A-133. MD&A should also discuss actions
taken, in progress, or planned to address systemic problems in
program design that contributed to the audit findings. Where relevant,
management should describe the methods used to limit, detect, and
recover improper payments; to assure that grantees and other
nonfederal recipients of Federal funds use the funds as intended; and
to assure that Federal and nonfederal entities comply with finance-
related laws and regulations. MD&A should include a concise
description of any major problems in these areas and of the corrective
action taken or planned.

42.

43.

Performance Measurement—The objectives and needs of the Federal
Government are markedly different from the objectives and needs of
non-governmental organizations. This difference extends to the needs
of those who use financial statements of governmental organizations.
Their needs are different in many ways from the needs of investors,
which the SEC’s requirements address. In particular, reporting on the
performance of governmental programs, organizations, and activities
requires information that goes beyond the change in net assets and,
indeed, beyond financial information.

The actual outcomes, accomplishments, or degree to which
predetermined objectives are met provide indicators or measures of
some aspects of effectiveness.'”” MD&A should objectively discuss the
entity’s program results and indicate the extent to which its programs

SFFAC 1, paragraph 206 notes that, to the extent feasible and practical, effectiveness
evaluation should focus on program results or effects in the sense of “impacts’,” i.e., the
difference between what actually occurred and what would have occurred in the absence of
the program. Assessing impacts of Governmental action in this sense typically requires
program evaluations or other techniques that transcend annual performance reporting,
although these techniques often will avail of information i the annual performance reports.
Valid and reliable evaluations of program impacts are not feasible for some programs. When
they are conducted, they often require several years of data, are expensive, and typically are
not performed on an annual basis for a given program.
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44.

45.

46.

are achieving their intended objectives.'® Efficiency and effectiveness
are important elements of performance measurement, and measuring
cost is an integral part of assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of
programs. Relating outputs (the quantity of services provided) to
inputs (the cost incurred to provide the services) provides an indicator
or measure of one aspect of efficiency. Information about
effectiveness is often combined with cost information to help assess
“cost effectiveness.”

The entity’s financial performance should be summarized to provide
significant indicators of its financial operations for the reporting
period. Indicators of financial performance are presented in notes and
supplementary information as well as on the face of the principal
financial statements, e.g., information about management of loans and
accounts receivable. Financial performance is only one aspect of
performance for governmental entities. Financial performance should
be discussed to the extent relevant for the entity, in a way that
appropriately balances the discussion of financial and nonfinancial
performance relevant to the program or other reporting entity.

The discussion of performance should relate to major goals and
objectives from the agency’s strategic plan and to the indicators
reported pursuant to the Results Act. It should explain what key
performance indicators say about program performance. The
summary discussion of performance in MD&A should:

e  discuss the strategies and resources the agency uses to achieve
its performance goals;

e  provide a clear picture of actual and planned performance across
the agency; and

¢  explain the procedures that management has designed and
followed to provide reasonable assurance that the reported
performance information is relevant and reliable.

The discussion of performance should:

. include both positive and negative results;

pParagraphs 106-111 and Appendix 1-F of Statements of Federal Financial Accounting
Concepts 2, Entity and Display, discuss and illustrate reporting on performance in the
GPFFR.
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47.

48.

49.

. present historical and future trends, if relevant (see paragraphs
31-36 regarding projections of the financial effects of known and
anticipated demands, commitments, events, risks, uncertainties
or trends for which a material financial effect is reasonably
possible);

o be illustrated with charts and graphs, whenever helpful, for easy
identification of trends;

o explain the significance of the trends;

o provide comparison of actual results to goals or benchmarks;

o explain variations from goals and plans; and

e  provide other explanatory information that management believes
readers will need to understand the significance of the indicators,
the results, and any variations from goals or plans.

To further enhance the usefulness of the information, agencies should
include an explanation of what needs to be done and what they plan to
do to improve program performance.

Understanding Performance Reporting—Important limitations and
difficulties associated with performance measurement and reporting
should be noted to the extent relevant to the vital performance
indicators discussed in MD&A. The relevant limitations will vary from
program to program, but some common factors that may need to be
discussed include the following:

o performance usually cannot be fully described by a single
indicator;

) indicators of performance do not, by themselves, say why
performance is at the level reported; and

. focusing exclusively on quantifiable indicators can sometimes
have unintended consequences.

For these and other reasons, performance indicators generally need to
be accompanied by suitable explanatory information. Explanatory
information helps report users understand reported indicators, assess
the reporting entity’s performance, and evaluate the significance of
underlying factors that may have affected the reported performance.
Explanatory information may include, for example, information about
factors substantially outside the entity’s control, as well as information
about factors over which the entity has significant control.
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This Statement of Recommended Concepts was adopted
unanimously by the eight members of the Federal Accounting
Standards Advisory Board serving on the Board in April 1999.
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Appendix A: Basis
For Conclusions

Background and Project
History

50.

The Board identified MD&A as a topic for its agenda shortly after the
Board’s inception. The Board deferred work on this topic, however,
until it completed recommendations for an initial set of basic
accounting standards. FASAB published an initial exposure draft on
MD&A in January, 1997. The Board received comment letters on the
initial exposure draft from the following sources:

Federal Nonfederal
(internal) (external) Total
Users, Academics and Others'® 4 4
Auditors 7 3 10
Preparers and Financial Managers 16 16
Totals 23 7 30

51.

The basic rationale for MD&A has not changed since the initial
exposure draft. As a result of its deliberations after receiving
comments on the 1997 exposure draft, however, the Board made
certain changes. The more significant changes are discussed below.

Concepts and Standards

The initial exposure draft was presented as a statement of
recommended concepts. The Board proposed that it would deal with
MD&A conceptually, with the understanding that OMB would provide
authoritative guidance on MD&A to implement the concepts. This
approach would have been similar to the one used to deal with the
topics of entity and display. The Board dealt with those topics
conceptually in SFFAC 2. OMB then provided authoritative guidance
in its Bulletin on Form and Content. The 1997 exposure draft asked
respondents whether all or part of its provisions should be issued as
recommended standards rather than recommended concepts.

"This category include representational organizations, retired federal employees, federal
employees responding as individuals, and federal contractors, as well as academics and
other GPFFR users.
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53.

Responses were mixed; most of those who commented on this
question favored concepts, but a significant number expressed the
view that standards would be appropriate.

The Board concluded that, given the importance of MD&A as an
integral part of the GPFFR, it would be appropriate to recommend
standards for MD&A. At the same time, however, the Board concluded
that for now this information should be treated as required
supplementary information. The Board also agreed that no detailed
requirements or guidelines for MD&A should be incorporated in
federal accounting standards at this time beyond those proposed in
the subsequent exposure draft (discussed below) titled Standards for
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. In other words, the Board
agreed, a discussion and analysis that addresses the topics listed in the
proposed standards should be an essential part of a complete GPFFR.
At the same time, management should have great discretion about
what to say regarding those topics, subject only to the criteria
proposed in the exposure draft Standards for Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and the pervasive requirement that MD&A
not be misleading. Because of this change, the Board decided to
expose separately for further comment the proposed new standards
and concepts. The exposure drafts were issued in October 1998;
responses were requested by January 1999.

Responses to Second
Exposure Draft

The Board received comment letters on the second exposure draft
from the following sources:

Federal Nonfederal
(internal) (external) Total

Citizens, Users, Academics and 3 3
Others

Auditors'® 3 3 6

Preparers and Financial Managers 11 11

Totals 14 6 20

BIncludes the AICPA’'s Federal Accounting and Auditing Subcommittee and the Comptroller
General’s Advisory Council on Government Audit Standards.
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55.

Most comments were generally favorable, but comments were mixed
regarding some points. A few auditors and preparers expressed some
concern about requiring forward-looking information as RSI. Others
expressed support for doing so. After considering these responses, the
Board agreed to defer the recommended implementation date of the
standard by one year and to make minor editorial changes to the
standards and concepts that were exposed for comment.

Incorporation of 56.

Guidance in OMB
Bulletin 97-01

This document, like both exposure drafts, integrates some of the
guidance in OMB Bulletin 97-01 for preparing the “Overview” of the
financial report with some of the guidance proposed in FASAB'’s initial
exposure draft for MD&A. Some portions of the guidance regarding
performance measurement in 97-01’s discussion of the “Overview”
have been omitted. As an interim step prior to implementation of the
Results Act, OMB and many agencies used the Overview as a major
vehicle for reporting on performance, not just as a summary and
analysis. With the full implementation of the Results Act in FY 1999,
however, it will be appropriate to implement the financial reporting
model contemplated in SFFAC 2. This contemplates a discrete section
of the GPFFR focused on performance. Alternatively, performance
information may be incorporated in the GPFFR by reference to
another report or reports.

Management’s 57.

Assertions

Senior management of the reporting unit is responsible for the content
of the GPFFR, including MD&A. Consistent with that, the initial
exposure draft included the following paragraph:

MD&A should include a discrete section with management’s
explicit assertions that it is responsible for maintaining internal
accounting and administrative controls that are adequate to
ensure that

e transactions are executed in accordance with budgetary and
financial laws and other requirements, consistent with the
purposes authorized, and are recorded in accordance with
Federal accounting standards;

. assets are properly safeguarded to deter fraud, waste, and
abuse; and

¢ performance measurement information is adequately
supported. [footnote omitted]
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58. This paragraph, which was based on the language of objective four in
SFFAC 1, was modified after the first exposure. The Board concluded
that such assertions should be presented in a separate section of the
GPFFR, not in MD&A. Alternatively, management’s assertions about
internal control and related information about systems, controls, and
compliance may be incorporated in the GPFFR by reference to
another report or reports. (As noted previously, pilot agencies are
including these assertions in their accountability reports.) FASAB
expects to consider whether a new statement of standards is needed
to assure that Federal financial reports adequately address objective
four of Federal financial reporting, “Systems and Controls.” As noted
in paragraph 41, MD&A should include a description of any major
deficiencies in the management systems and internal controls
designed to provide reasonable assurance that management
responsibilities are satisfactorily carried out. It also should describe
the corrective action planned.

Accountability Reports 59. The Board notes that the concept and practice of the “Accountability
Report” continue to evolve through the pilot project voluntarily
undertaken by several agencies. The Board supports this evolution
and encourages agencies to participate in the pilot project. The
concepts and standards FASAB recommends are intended to be
applicable to the GPFFR of Federal entities, whether those reports are
prepared pursuant to the Chief Financial Officers Act, the Government
Management Reform Act, or some future law that might establish a
statutory basis for Accountability Reports. In the event of such future
legislation, OMB will need to resolve any questions about how to apply
existing Federal accounting standards in the context of new legislative

requirements.
Incorporation by 60. Some respondents were disturbed by the notion of providing program
Reference performance information through reference. Some were concerned

that, if readers are merely directed to other reports for this
information, the GPFFR will become irrelevant. They believe that the
GPFFR should contain information about program performance,
systems, and controls, not only in MD&A but also in discrete sections,
such as the Statement of Program Performance discussed and
illustrated in SFFAC 2, paragraphs 106-111 and Appendix 1-F.

61. The Board agrees that, as is stated in paragraph 20, “it is necessary to
include at least some information about performance with the
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62.

63.

64.

Page 150

financial statements . . . so that people who use the GPFFR can
understand why the costs reported in the financial statements were
incurred and the consequences of doing so.”

The Board acknowledges that SFFAC 2 calls for and illustrates a
Statement of Program Performance Measures. (Footnote 13 in SFFAC
2 explains that this statement is not “basic” information as that term is
used in audit standards: “The Statement of program performance
measures is not a basic financial statement. Nevertheless, it is an
important component of the financial reports.”) The Board continues
to believe that performance information is a vital, integral part of
general purpose financial reporting. It should be noted, however, that
SFFAC 1 and SFFAC 2 were issued before the performance planning
and reporting requirements of GPRA became effective. The Results
Act creates an elaborate new planning and reporting environment that
is still evolving. Some details of the reporting model that were
envisioned conceptually in SFFAC 2 may accordingly need to be
revised slightly.

This statement of concepts is intended to be consistent with the
previously stated goals and concepts of the Board, while recognizing
that some details of how best to achieve those goals in the new
context still need to be defined. OMB will play a key role in this
process; FASAB may also provide further guidance in future projects.
FASAB agrees that the GPFFR should not address performance,
systems, and controls only by means of reference to other reports.
The standards for MD&A require that MD&A do more than refer to
other documents.

Others expressed concern that, if MD&A is to be regarded as RSI,
audit problems might arise from “incorporation by reference” in
MD&A of information drawn from other sources that might not be
subject to audit or review as basic or required supplementary
information, and for which authoritative guidance had not been
provided by a standard setter. The Board noted that most of those who
commented, including most auditors, did not appear to be greatly
concerned about this potential problem. The Board concluded,
therefore, that any such problems were not likely to be
insurmountable. The Board did, however, agree to defer by one year
the implementation date of the standard to allow OMB and GAO time
to resolve any audit issues that may arise.

FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 3

Appendlx B: See Consolidated Glossary in “Appendix E: Consolidated Glossary” on
page 1498.
Glossary
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Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 4: Intended
Audience and Qualitative Characteristics for the Consolidated
Financial Report of the United States Government

Status

Issued March 2003
Interpretations and Technical Releases None.
Affects None.
Affected by None.
Summary

In this Statement of Concepts, the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) has identified the
intended or primary audience for the Consolidated Financial Report (CFR) of the US Government. FASAB
also has described the characteristics of the audience and the qualitative characteristics FASAB believes will
aid in meeting financial reporting objectives for the CFR. The concepts in this document are intended to help
the Board as it develops accounting standards and the accounting and reporting framework for the Federal
Government.

To provide guidance on the CFR, the Board reviewed its existing technical guidance on Federal financial
reporting to discern how to apply that guidance to the CFR. It also researched other pertinent studies, and
considered its experience with Federal accounting principles and the evolution of the CFR. The Board
developed its assessment of who should be the general primary audience for the CFR. As a result of that
review and assessment, the Board has identified five audiences for the CFR: Citizens, Citizen Intermediaries,
Congress, Federal Executives, and Program Managers. However, the Board believes that the external user
groups, Citizens and Citizen Intermediaries, are the primary audiences for the CFR.

The Board will rely on qualitative characteristics from SFFAC 1 in developing accounting standards for the
CFR that will effectively meet the needs of the intended audience. These Qualitative Characteristics include:
understandability, reliability, relevance, timeliness, consistency and comparability. While all these
characteristics are important, given the intended audience for the CFR, understandability and timeliness are
particularly fundamental to the usefulness of the CFR.

This concepts statement provides that the CFR should be a "general purpose" report directed to external users
(citizens and their intermediaries), should address the Board's objectives,' should have highly understandable
information, and should be timely.

!Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 1, Objectives of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts (SFFAC 1) defines
those objectives in terms of user needs as 1) budgetary integrity, 2) operating performance, 3) stewardship, and 4) systems and
control. See Appendix A for a description of these objectives.
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]
Introduction

Relation of Federal Accounting Concepts and Standards to
Governmentwide Consolidated Reporting. The Federal
Accounting Standards Advisory Board's (FASAB or "the Board") first
Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts, SFFAC 1,
Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting, provides the foundation
for generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, and for the
Federal accounting and reporting framework. SFFAC 1 provides that
Federal accounting and reporting should address four broad
objectives: 1) budgetary integrity; 2) operating performance; 3)
stewardship; and 4) systems and controls.! These objectives were
developed based on studies of users' needs done during FASAB's
initial years of operation and apply to all entity level reporting
including agency, department, bureau or project level, and the
Government as a whole. In addition to reporting objectives, SFFAC 1
established qualitative characteristics for information in financial
reports (see pars. 156 to 164 of SFFAC 1).

Because of increased experience with, and interest in the US
Government's primary consolidated financial report, the Consolidated
Financial Report of the US Government (CFR), the Board has
determined that concepts specifically directed to that report would be
helpful. Such concepts would help guide the Board as it develops
future standards and changes in its framework for financial
accounting and reporting. This document provides concepts related to
the primary audience for the CFR and identifies qualitative
characteristics for the CFR. The Board may decide in the future to
address other aspects of the CFR.

Governmentwide Consolidated Reporting. The preparer of the
CFR, is the United States Department of the Treasury. Prior to any
formal guidelines, Treasury voluntarily produced its first "prototype"
governmentwide consolidated financial reports in 1976 for fiscal year
1975. The Government Management Reform Act of 1994 required the
consolidated financial report of the US to be audited. Treasury's 1997
annual consolidated financial report was the first CFR to be issued
pursuant to the Act and to undergo an audit. Since that time, Treasury
has continued to refine the preparation and presentation of the CFR.

! See Appendix A for a full description of these four objectives from SFFAC 1, Objectives of
Federal Financial Accounting Concepts.
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Concepts: Intended
Audience and
Related Qualitative
Characteristics for
the CFR

Currently, the CFR is an extensive, informative document that
includes highlights of summarized agency level activity, consolidated
financial statements, and some accompanying information whose
source is not agency level entity reporting. The CFR includes both
financial and non-financial information and has been focused on
presenting understandable data for a variety of audiences. As a result,
the report has grown in size and complexity. Some have questioned
whether the CFR is trying to satisfy too many audiences with different
needs in one format. Others believe that the information to be
presented would depend on the needs of users and that identifying the
primary users might better focus the CFR.

The Board determined that it would be beneficial to designate the
intended or primary audience® and qualitative characteristics for the
CFR that would be most useful for that audience.

6.

The CFR should be a general purpose statement of accountability to
the public. A general purpose report should be easily understandable
to the "average citizen" who has a reasonable understanding of
Federal Government activities and is willing to study the information
with reasonable diligence.* Moreover, the CFR is a general purpose
report that is aggregated from agency reports and tells users where to
find information in other formats, both aggregated and disaggregated,
such as individual agency reports, agency websites, and the
President’s Budget.

The CFR should generally be directed to five user groups: Citizens,
Citizen Intermediaries, Congress, Federal Executives, and Program
Managers. However, citizens and citizen intermediaries should be the
audience to whom the CFR is primarily directed.

2 The Board acknowledges that this concepts statement addresses only some aspects of CFR
reporting. It may address further aspects as more experience is gained in CFR reporting.

3 Toward a Report to Citizens on the State of Their Nation and the Performance of Their
Government: Proceedings of the AGA Task Force on a Report to Citizens on the State of the

Nation, November 1994, p.12 The report did not define "average citizen.”

* Based on the definition of a general user as described in the Financial Accounting
Standards Board Concepts Statement 1. The FASAB narrowed the definition to make it
specific to the Federal Government.
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The CFR should provide information that addresses the areas of the
Board's objectives as identified in SFFAC 1: 1) budgetary integrity, 2)
operating performance, 3) stewardship, and 4) systems and control.
The Board does not intend that the CFR should satisfy all of the
Board's objectives for all audiences. It earlier provided that each of the
reporting objectives could be met to a greater or lesser degree by
different statements prepared by different entities. For example,
program and financing schedules for individual budget accounts could
help address budgetary integrity, and financial statements from
organizations could help address operating performance. °

SFFAC 1 also provides that information should be reliable, relevant,
consistent, comparable, understandable and timely. While all of these
characteristics are important for all reports and all users, it is
particularly fundamental that the CFR be timely and understandable
for citizens and citizen intermediaries. The content and structure of
the CFR should be clear and complete to citizens and citizen
intermediaries and the CFR should be available on a timely basis. For
example, to be timely, the CFR should be issued not less than annually
and as close to the end of the fiscal year as is possible. °

Basis for
Conclusions

Intended Audience for the Consolidated Financial Report (CFR)

10.

11.

This appendix does not constitute authoritative guidance for those
who prepare and audit general purpose federal financial reports. It
summarizes important matters that the FASAB members considered
as they deliberated on this Statement. It includes reasons for accepting
certain approaches and rejecting others. Individual Board members
gave greater weight to some factors than to others.

FASAB published the exposure draft, Target Audience and
Qualitative Characteristics for the Consolidated Financial Report of
the United States Government, March 19, 2002. There were 12
respondents as described in the table below:

? Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 2, Entity and Display, par. 56.

¢ The Board understands that the preparer's ability to meet this goal is beyond the Board’s
purview. Guidance on reporting deadlines is provided by the Office of Management and
Budget.
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Category Federal Federal | Non-federal
(Civilian) | (Military)

Users, academics,
and others (includes
professional organizations 5

Preparers and
Financial Managers

Totals

[e2] [o)]
-_—
(¢}

12.

13.

14.

15.

In general, respondents agreed with the Board’s identification of the
primary audience as citizens and citizen intermediaries. Other
respondent comments are addressed in the discussions that follow.

In providing guidance on the CFR, the Board primarily relied on its
earlier conclusions supporting decisions on SFFAC 1, Objectives of
Federal Financial Information. It then filtered into those conclusions
its years of experience subsequent to its earlier conceptual work and
other pertinent literature that describes user groups of government-
level financial information. In particular, the Board relied on one of the
most extensive studies on user needs for Federal Government
financial information, the joint US-Canadian user needs study, Federal
Government Reporting Study of March 1986. In this study, conducted
by the US Comptroller General and the Auditor General of Canada, the
researchers identified similar groups of users as those the Board had
identified in SFFAC 1 and in this document.

The Board agreed that, in general, users of Federal financial
information fall into the four categories identified in SFFAC 1:
Citizens, Congress, Executives, and Program Managers.” However, for
information at the more highly summarized governmentwide or
consolidated level the Board divided those four groups identified in
SFFAC 1 into two major groups: external users (Citizens), and internal
users (Congress, Executives, and Program Managers).

The Board believes that citizens should be the primary audience for
the CFR. This is based on the notion that citizens as compared to the
other groups do not have ready access to more detailed Federal
financial reports on which to make decisions. Moreover, they may not

"SFFAC 1, par. 88-104.
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have the knowledge or desire to take the time to understand more
sophisticated reports, preferring instead to look to a more summarized
report for highlights of interest. Thus, the Board believes that the CFR
should not attempt to meet all users needs for all objectives. Instead it
should focus on meeting the basic needs of citizens for highly
summarized information.

16. Further, for the CFR the Board believes that the Citizen user group
identified in SFFAC 1 has two different sets of needs and therefore
should be divided into two groups: Citizens and Citizen Intermediaries.
Citizen needs are more specifically targeted to issues of general
interest and to broad indicators of the overall financial health of the
Government. On the other hand, Citizen Intermediaries devote more
time to reading, analyzing, and interpreting more detailed information
that they then analyze, summarize, and pass on to Citizens for further
application. For these reasons, the Board expanded its original four
groups of users to five user groups for the CFR. The group
characteristics are summarized in the paragraphs that follow.

External Users

17. Citizens. This group includes individuals outside the Government who
are interested in information that supports their goals of generating
and preserving income and savings, and improving their standard of
living.® Citizens are interested in many aspects of the Federal
Government. They are concerned about individual programs,
candidates for office, the services the Government provides, and the
fiscal responsibility of their elected and appointed representatives.
Citizens receive and pay for Government services and therefore are
concerned with the outputs and outcomes of those services and the
efficiency with which they are provided. Citizens are concerned about
their families and, in particular, with the financial burden their
children and grandchildren will inherit.” These users are interested in a
"comprehensive but concise...report [that would provide] a broad and
complete picture of the Government's...many and varied activities and
resulting overall financial position."’

8 Federal Government Reporting Study: A Joint Study by the Office of the Auditor General
of Canada and the US Government Accountability Office, March 1986, p.10.

9 SFFAC 1, par. 77.
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18.

19.

20.

Citizen Intermediaries. This group also includes individuals from
outside the Government. It includes, among others, individuals such
as: the media; public interest and advocacy groups; state and local
legislators and executives; and analysts from corporations, academe
and elsewhere. As citizens typically have limited time and ability to
analyze reports about their government, they want and rely on
assurances that the government is functioning economically,
efficiently, and effectively.!! However, citizens, for the most part, "
would look to analysts in the media, financial institutions, policy
institutes, etc., to do such analysis for them."? Citizen intermediaries
would analyze and interpret the more detailed information to deliver it
to citizens. They also would provide more in-depth analysis that
citizens may not have the desire or the ability to perform. Citizen
intermediaries typically have more skill, time and ability to gather and
analyze detailed data from alternative sources.

Intermediaries are interested in all of the major facets of each of the
Board's objectives, including individual programs; Government
services and activities; fiscal responsibility of elected and appointed
representatives; program outputs and outcomes; and assurances of
Government economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Intermediaries,
therefore, are interested in a wider array of information on all aspects
of budget, program operations, the Federal Government's
stewardship, and systems and controls. "Media and analysts are the
most frequent direct users of Federal Government financial reports,
the major source of information about the Government for citizens
and corporations, and an important source of information for
legislators."”® The Board believes that intermediaries may rely on the
CFR as a starting point but that they will seek more detailed reports.

The Board agrees with the conclusion of the Federal Government
Reporting Study. A significant finding was that "users depend on each
other for the communication of financial information about the
Federal Government. Legislators - generally considered to have a

Y Federal Government Reporting Study, p.v.

I SFFAC 1, paragraph 77.

2 bid. p.5.

3 Tbid. pp.5-6.
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primary role in the use of Federal Government financial information -
depend to a considerable extent on the interpretations of information
by analysts and the media to provide them with the understanding they
need. This also applies to citizens and corporations. Thus, needs of
analysts and the media are considered crucial because, if they are not
well served, the understanding of government activities by others will
suffer."*

Internal Users

21.

Internal users are those groups inside the Federal Government who
typically have more access to the myriad of Federal Government
information including summarized and detailed financial, program,
budget, cost, and economic reports and analyses for all entities.
Because they are able to get information on their specific issues of
interest, they might benefit from the CFR but are not its primary
audience. Internal users include Congress, Federal executives, and
program managers. Of these three internal users, some have
considered Congress as the ultimate intermediary between the public
and its Government. That notwithstanding, Congress, as would the
other internal users, has access to more specific internal information
and reports for conducting its work. Thus they are not the main
audience of the CFR. However, these users may rely on the CFR with
its broad indicators and summarized information as "a reference
document to lead to more detailed or disaggregated information in
specific areas."”” Each internal user has access to detailed,
disaggregated information, but relies on summarized data in a more
limited capacity as indicators for general Governmental financial
position and condition. Internal users would use the CFR to provide
"an overall picture of the financial health of the Government that is not
available elsewhere...[and provide it with] a general framework to
situate [its] own activities."

4 Ibid. pp. iv-v.

" Ibid. p.8.

16 Tbid. p.9.
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Summary

22.

23.

Based on the above analysis, the Board concluded that the CFR would
be of general interest to five user groups. However, the Board believes
that the external user groups representing the general public, that is,
Citizens and Citizen Intermediaries, are the primary audiences for the
CFR.

The Board also considered comments from respondents to its
exposure draft (see paragraph 11). Some respondents requested that
specific individuals be added to the examples of persons included in
the Citizen Intermediary group. Since the Board intended that the
individuals listed in the group description were typical examples
rather than an exhaustive list, it decided not to expand the list of
examples. Rather it decided to slightly modify the wording of the
description of the Citizen Intermediary group to clarify that the
individuals and groups listed are typical examples and not an
exhaustive list.

Qualitative Characteristics

24.

To be useful, FASAB’s SFFAC 1 provides that information should be
reliable, relevant, consistent, comparable, understandable and timely.
The FASAB considers these characteristics as it deliberates standards
applicable to all Federal reporting entities, both agency level and the
government as a whole. In the Federal environment, satisfaction of
these characteristics occurs when FASAB develops standards for
Federal reporting. At the CFR level, where the audited agency level
data are aggregated, the manner in which the data are presented to the
general audience for which the CFR is intended is a fundamental
consideration. Because Federal financial statements differ from
commercial financial statements in concept, form, volume, and
complexity and the intended audience for Federal financial statements
is so all encompassing, the FASAB is emphasizing the need for the
CFR to be understandable. The Board concurs with a study by the
Association of Government Accountants on Government
accountability reporting that concluded that, "the problem of reporting
to the citizens is not primarily one of inability to develop meaningful
information or lack of it. Rather, the principal problem is the manner
in which this information is communicated to the American citizens."""
The study suggested that the abundance of detailed financial data
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2b.

26.

27.

published by the Government does not give citizens a succinct and
comprehensive picture of the Government’s activities.

To support supplying citizens with a full picture of Government
activities in an understandable manner, the Board concluded that each
user group should be able to easily locate the types of information in
which it might be interested. For example, if an item is reported, all
information related to that item should be reported in one primary
location, if feasible.!® If not feasible, the report should provide clear
linking language, notes, or other information that would guide the
reader to the information on the item or topic that is split among
different sections of the report. Ultimately, the CFR’s content and
structure should be clear and complete to users.

In addition to the characteristic of understandability to citizens who
may not have detailed knowledge of accounting principles (discussed
above), this concepts statement emphasizes the qualitative
characteristic of timeliness as being important for the CFR. As noted
in SFFAC 1 (par. 162), “if financial reports are to be useful, they must
be issued soon enough to affect decisions.” No matter how relevant,
reliable, consistent, or comparable information might be, if the
intended audience does not understand the information or if the
information is not available in a timely manner, the information will
not be useful to or used by that audience.

The Board also considered comments from some respondents who did
not believe that the qualitative characteristics of understandability and
timeliness should be emphasized at the expense of the other 4
characteristics (relevance, reliability, consistence and comparability).
The Board affirmed that its intent as stated in paragraph 9 of the
exposure draft was to acknowledge that all 6 characteristics were
important for all reports and users. Its focus on the characteristics of
understandability and timeliness related to the aggregated nature of

T Toward a Report to Citizens on the State of Their Nation and the Performance of Their
Government: Proceedings of the AGA Task Force on a Report to Citizens on the State of the
Nation, November 1994, p.25.

BIf items to be reported have mixed levels of audit coverage, the level of audit coverage for
each item should be clearly identified. The audit standards in AU 558 will govern the labeling
of the items.
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28.

the report and the intended audiences. It decided to delete the last two
sentences of paragraph 22 of the exposure draft:

Thus, these two qualitative characteristics (understandability and
timeliness) serve as a foundation for constructing accounting
standards for a useful CFR. The Board will consider the other
qualitative characteristics as standards are developed,
considered, and adopted.

The Board believes that these two sentences caused some
respondents to conclude the other 4 characteristics were not
important to the Board.

General Purpose Financial Reporting

29.

Since the Board considers the CFR a general purpose financial report,
it reiterates its discussion from SFFAC 1, where it described the
limitations of financial reporting. It said that “general purpose
financial reporting is not the only source of financial information ... In
many cases, users of general purpose financial reports need to consult
other sources to satisfy their information needs...While certain
information is provided by general purpose financial reports, other
information is better provided by, or can be provided only by, financial
reporting outside such reports. Still other information is provided by
nonfinancial reports or by financial reports about segments of the
national society other than the Federal Government and its
component entities (e.g., economic reporting).”

Board Approval

30.

The Board unanimously approved issuing this concepts statement.

Y SFFAC 1, Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting, par. 30-31.
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Appendlx A: 31. Bu(_igetary Integrity. Federal financial reporting should assist in '
Obiecti f fu}flllmg the Government's duty to be publicly accpuntable 'for monies
JeCcuves O raised through taxes and other means and for their expenditure in

Federal Financial accordance with the appropriations laws that establish the
20 Government's budget for a particular fiscal year and related laws and
Reportmg regulations. Federal financial reporting should provide information
that helps the reader to determine

e  how budgetary resources have been obtained and used and
whether their acquisition and use were in accordance with the
legal authorization,

o the status of budgetary resources, and

e  how information on the use of budgetary resources relates to
information on the cost of programs [and] operations and
whether information on the status of budgetary resources is
consistent with other accounting information on assets and
liabilities.

32. Operating Performance. Federal financial reporting should assist
report users in evaluating the service efforts, costs, and
accomplishments of the reporting entity; the manner in which these
efforts and accomplishments have been financed; and the
management of the entity's assets and liabilities. Federal financial
reporting should provide information that helps the reader to
determine

) the costs of providing specific programs and activities and the
compositions of, and changes in, these costs;

o the efforts and accomplishments associated with Federal
programs and the changes over time and in relation to costs; and

. the efficiency and effectiveness of the Government's
management of its assets and liabilities.

33. Stewardship. Federal financial reporting should assist report users in
assessing the impact on the country of the Government's operations
and investments for the period and how, as a result, the Government's
and the Nation's financial conditions have changed and may change in
the future.

2 From Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts 1, SFFAC 1, Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting, par. 13-17.

Page 164 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



Concepts 4

34. Federal financial reporting should provide information that helps the
reader to determine whether

the Government's financial position improved or deteriorated
over the period,

future budgetary resources will likely be sufficient to sustain
public services and to meet obligations as they come due, and
Government operations have contributed to the Nation's current
and future well-being.

35. Systems and Controls. Federal financial reporting should assist
report users in understanding whether financial management systems
and internal accounting and administrative controls are adequate to
ensure that

Page 165

transactions are executed in accordance with budgetary and
financial laws and other requirements, consistent with the
purpose authorized, and are recorded in accordance with Federal
accounting standards;

assets are properly safeguarded to deter fraud, waste, and abuse,
and

performance measurement information is adequately supported.
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Appendlx B: AICPA - American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Acr onyms CFR - Consolidated Financial Statement of the US Government
FASAB - Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

GAAP - generally accepted accounting principles

SFFAC — Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Concepts

SFFAS — Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards
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Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 1:
Accounting for Selected Assets and Liabilities

Status

Issued March 30, 1993

Effective Date For fiscal years ending September 30, 1994 and thereafter.

Interpretations and Technical Releases

Affects None.

Affected by * Paragraph 53, SFFAS 7, affects paragraph 41, by providing additional guidance

regarding accruing accounts receivable.

e SFFAS 31 amends paragraphs 26, 29, 31, 37 and 38, and adds paragraph 38a.
* SFFAS 32 amends paragraphs 86.

Summary

This statement defines and illustrates the distinction between Entity Assets and Non-entity Assets, as well as
Intragovernmental and Governmental Assets and Liabilities.

Assets available to an entity to use in its operations are entity assets while those assets not available to an
entity but held by the entity are non-entity assets. While both entity and non-entity assets are to be reported in
entity statements, the standards require the segregation of entity and non-entity assets. In addition, a liability
(due to Treasury or other entities) must be recognized in an amount equal to non-entity assets.

Intragovernmental assets and liabilities arise from transactions among federal entities. Governmental assets
and liabilities arise from transactions of the federal government or an entity of the federal government with
nonfederal entities. The standards require that all selected assets and liabilities addressed in SFFAS No. 1 be
reported separately as intragovernmental or governmental assets and liabilities.

The statement also establishes specific standards for six assets: Cash, Fund Balance with Treasury, Accounts
Receivable, Interest Receivable, Advances and Prepayments, and Investments in Treasury Securities; and
three liabilities: Accounts Payable, Interest Payable, and Other Current Liabilities. The standards provide
definitions of each asset and liability as well as recognition, measurement, and disclosure requirements.
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]
Introduction

Objective

In this Statement, the Board recommends accounting standards for
selected assets and liabilities of the federal government and its
entities. The standards apply to both governmental and commercial-
type functions of the federal government.

The selected assets and liabilities are among the fundamental
elements of federal accounting and financial reporting. By
recommending these standards in the Board’s first Statement, the
Board’s objective is to provide definitive accounting and reporting
guidance to federal agencies in these fundamental areas at the earliest
stage of the Board’s consideration and development of federal
accounting standards.

In a separate project, the Board is identifying users’ needs and federal
accounting and reporting objectives. Although the Board’s
deliberation on objectives has not been finalized, there is a general
consensus that one overall objective for accounting and financial
reporting is to assure accountability of federal governmental entities.
The Board believes that issuing these selected standards will help in
fostering that overall objectives.

Specifically, the recommended standards would assist users of
financial statements in:

e  assessing the efficiency and effectiveness of the government’s
management of its assets and liabilities, and

e determining whether the government’s financial position
improved or deteriorated over the reporting period.

Approach

The Board’s initial approach to developing accounting standards was
to review the existing accounting standards prescribed by the
Government Accountability Office (GAO) in its Policy and Procedures
Manual for the Guidance of Federal Agencies, Title 2 Accounting,
(Title 2). The purpose of the review was to determine whether some
of the Title 2 standards, with any necessary modifications, could be
recommended by the Board to the principals of the Joint Financial
Management Improvement Program (JFMIP).
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6.  Although the Title 2 standards had not been fully implemented by
federal agencies, they represented a starting point for further analysis.
The Title 2 standards were reviewed in light of the accounting and
reporting requirements established in the Chief Financial Officers
(CFOs) Act of 1990. At the time, the Board considered current
accounting practices of federal agencies. It also considered the
findings from its project on user needs and objectives of federal
financial reporting. As a result of the review, the Board decided that
with certain modifications, accounting standards for selected assets
and liabilities could be recommended to the JFMIP principals.

7. These selected assets and liabilities involve less complex issues than
other assets and liabilities to be considered by the Board in the future.
The Board also believes that the selected assets and liabilities are so
basic to financial reporting that they will not conflict with any
conceptual framework that the Board may develop.

8. The standards on the selected assets and liabilities were proposed in
the Board’s first Exposure Draft issued in September 1991, entitled
Financial Resources, Funded Liabilities, and Net Financial
Resources and Federal Entities. A total of 69 respondents submitted
their comments to the Board on the Exposure Draft. A public hearing
on the Exposure Draft was held on February 28, 1992.

9. In preparing this Statement of recommended standards, the Board
considered the respondents’ comments. Based on the comments the
Board received and its reevaluation in relation to the Board’s current
thinking on user needs and objectives of federal financial reporting,
the Board made changes to the proposals contained in the Exposure
Draft. The specific changes are discussed in Appendix A, “Basis of the
Board’s Conclusions.”

Scope

10. The selected assets addressed in this Statement are:

. Cash

'The Board is also addressing other assets and liabilities. It has issued a proposed standard
for direct loans and loan guarantees (see Exposure Draft entitled Accounting for Direct
Loans and Loan Guarantees, September 15, 1992, and Accounting for Inventory and
Related Property, December 1992).
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11.

Fund Balance with Treasury
Accounts Receivable

Interest Receivable

Advances and Prepayments
Investments in Treasury Securities

The selected liabilities addressed in this Statement are:

e Accounts Payable
. Interest Payable
. Other Current Liabilities

Materiality

12.

13.

Except as otherwise noted, the accounting and reporting provisions of
the accounting standards recommended in this Statement need not be
applied to items that are qualitatively and quantitatively immaterial.

The determination of whether an item is material depends on the
degree to which omitting or misstating information about the item
makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on
the information would have been changed or influenced by the
omission or the misstatement.

Applicability

14.

The accounting standards recommended in this Statement are
applicable to the federal government and its departments and agencies
in the executive branch that fall within the definition of “executive
agency” as defined in 31 U.S.C. 102 and 3501.

Effective Date

15.

The accounting standards recommended in this Statement will be
effective for financial statements prepared for fiscal years ending
September 30, 1994, and thereafter. Earlier adoption is encouraged.

|
Explanation

16.

The Board’s focus in this Statement is on setting accounting standards
for the individual federal entity level of reporting. In this Statement,
the standards are also applicable to financial reporting by the U.S.
government as a whole, except for those standards related to
intragovernmental assets and liabilities, which are defined in the
general standards and noted in specific standards.
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17.

The word “entity” refers to a unit within the federal government, such
as a department, agency, bureau, or program, for which a set of
financial statements will be prepared. The word entity also
encompasses a group of related or unrelated commercial functions,
revolving funds, trust funds, and/or other accounts for which financial
statements are prepared in accordance with OMB guidance on the
form and content of financial statements.

General Standards

Intragovernmental vs.
Governmental Assets
and Liabilities

19.

20.

21.

22.

Intragovernmental assets and liabilities arise from transactions
among federal entities. Intragovernmental assets are claims of a
federal entity against other federal entities. Intragovernmental
liabilities are claims against the entity by other federal entities.

Among the assets covered by this Statement, intragovernmental assets
include an entity’s fund balance with Treasury, investments in Treasury
securities, accounts and interest receivable from federal entities, and
advances and prepayments to federal entities.

Intragovernmental liabilities include accounts and interest payable to
federal entities and other current liabilities due to federal entities,
such as receipt of federal advances and prepayments.

Governmental assets and liabilities arise from transactions of the
federal government or an entity of the federal government with
nonfederal entities. Governmental assets are claims of the federal
government or an entity within the federal government against
nonfederal entities. Governmental liabilities are amounts that the
federal government or an entity within the federal government owes to
nonfederal entities. The term nonfederal entities encompasses
domestic and foreign persons and organizations outside the U.S.
government. The term public is also used in this Statement to
represent nonfederal entities.

Among the assets covered by this Statement, governmental assets that
would be reported by a federal entity include cash, accounts and
interest receivable from nonfederal entities, and advances and
prepayments made to nonfederal entities.

Page 172 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



SFFAS 1

23.

24.

Governmental liabilities include accounts and interest payable to
nonfederal entities, other liabilities due to nonfederal entities, and
advances and prepayments received from nonfederal entities.

Intragovernmental assets and liabilities should be reported separately
from governmental assets and liabilities. This requirement applies to
all of the selected assets and liabilities addressed in this document.

Entity Assets vs. 25.

Non-entity Assets

26.

Entity assets are those assets which the reporting entity has
authority to use in its operations. Non-entity assets are those assets
that are held by an entity but are not available to the entity. An
example of non-entity assets are customs duty receivables that the
Customs Service collects for the U.S. government but has no authority
to spend. A similar example is federal income tax receivable that the
Internal Revenue Service collects for the U.S. government.

Both entity assets and non-entity assets under an entity’s custody or
management should be reported in the entity’s financial statements,
except for non-entity assets meeting the definition of fiduciary assets,
which should not be recognized on the balance sheet, but should be
disclosed in accordance with the provisions of SFFAS 31, Accounting
JSor Fiduciary Activities. Non-entity assets recognized on an entity’s
balance sheet should be segregated from entity assets. An amount
equal to non-entity assets should be recognized as a liability (due to
Treasury or other entities) recognized on the balance sheet.

SFFAS 31, Accounting for Fiduciary Activities, amended the
provisions in paragraph 26. This amendment is effective for periods
ending after September 30, 2008. To view the requirements in effect
prior to this date, please see the previous edition of the Original
Pronouncements at http://www.fasab.gov/codificaarchives.html.

Specific Standards

Cash 27.

Cash, including imprest funds, should be recognized as an asset. Cash
consists of:
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28.

29.

a. coins, paper currency and readily negotiable instruments, such as
money orders, checks, and bank drafts on hand or in transit for
deposit;

b. amounts on demand deposit with banks or other financial
institutions; and

c. foreign currencies, which, for accounting purposes, should be
translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the financial
statement date.

Entity cash. Entity cash is the amount of cash that the reporting
entity holds and is authorized by law to spend.

Non-entity cash. Non-entity cash is cash that a federal entity collects
and holds on behalf of the U.S. government or other entities. In some
circumstances, the entity deposits cash in its accounts in a custodial
capacity for the U.S. Treasury or other federal component entities, or
in a fiduciary capacity for non-federal parties.

a. Non-entity cash recognized on the balance sheet should be
reported separately from entity cash.

b. Non-entity cash meeting the definition of a fiduciary asset should
not be recognized on the balance sheet, but should be disclosed
in accordance with the provisions of SFFAS 31, Accounting for
Fiduciary Activities.

SFFAS 31, Accounting for Fiduciary Activities, amended the
provisions in paragraph 29. This amendment is effective for periods
ending after September 30, 2008. To view the requirements in effect
prior to this date, please see the previous edition of the Original
Pronouncements at http://www.fasab.gov/codificaarchives.html.

30.

Restricted cash. Cash may be restricted. Restrictions are usually
imposed on cash deposits by law, regulation, or agreement. Non-entity
cash is always restricted cash. Entity cash may be restricted for
specific purposes. Such cash may be in escrow or other special
accounts. Financial reports should disclose the reasons and nature of
restrictions.
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Fund Balance with
Treasury

31.

A federal entity’s fund balance with the Treasury (FBWT) is the
aggregate amount of funds in the entity’s accounts with Treasury for
which the entity is authorized to make expenditures and pay liabilities.
FBWT is an intragovernmental item, except for fiduciary or other non-
federal non-entity FBWT. From the reporting entity’s perspective, the
reporting entity’s FBWT is an asset because it represents the entity’s
claim to the federal government’s resources. However, from the
perspective of the federal government as a whole, it is not an asset;
and while it represents a commitment to make resources available to
federal departments, agencies, programs and other entities, it is not a
liability. In contrast, fiduciary and other non-federal non-entity FBWT
is not intragovernmental, and it represents a liability of the
appropriate Treasury component and of the federal government as a
whole to the non-federal beneficiaries.

SFFAS 31, Accounting for Fiduciary Activities, amended the
provisions in paragraph 31. This amendment is effective for periods
ending after September 30, 2008. To view the requirements in effect
prior to this date, please see the previous edition of the Original
Pronouncements at http://www.fasab.gov/codificaarchives.html.

32.

33.

34.

A federal entity’s fund balance with Treasury includes clearing account
balances and the dollar equivalent of foreign currency account
balances. Foreign currency account balances should be translated into
U.S. dollars at exchange rates determined by the Treasury and
effective at the financial reporting date. A federal entity’s fund balance
with Treasury also includes balances for direct loan and loan
guarantee activities held in the credit reform program, financing, and
liquidating accounts.

An entity’s fund balance with Treasury is increased by (a) receiving
appropriations, reappropriations, continuing resolutions,
appropriation restorations, and allocations, and (b) receiving transfers
and reimbursements from other agencies. An entity’s fund balance
with Treasury is also increased by amounts borrowed from Treasury,
Federal Financing Bank, or other entities, and amounts collected and
credited to appropriation or fund accounts that the entity is authorized
to spend or use to offset its expenditures.

An entity’s fund balance with Treasury does not include contract
authority or unused authority to borrow. Contract authority is a
statutory authority under which contracts or other obligations may be
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35.

36.

37.

38.

entered into prior to receiving an appropriation for the payment of
obligations. The later enacted appropriation provides cash to liquidate
obligations.? Thus, contract authority merely permits a federal entity
to incur certain obligations but does not, in itself, add funds to the
agency’s accounts with Treasury.

Authority to borrow is a statutory authority that permits a federal
agency to incur obligations and make payments for specific purposes
out of borrowed funds. Authority to borrow adds funds to an agency’s
accounts with Treasury only after the agency actually uses the
authority to borrow a specific amount of funds. Thus, authority to
borrow is included in an entity’s fund balance with Treasury only to
the extent that funds are actually borrowed under the authority.

An entity’s fund balance with Treasury is reduced by

(a) disbursements made to pay liabilities or to purchase assets, goods,
and services, (b) investments in U.S. securities (securities issued by
Treasury or other federal government agencies), (c¢) cancellation of
expired appropriations; (d) transfers and reimbursements to other
entities or to the Treasury, and (e) sequestration or rescission of
appropriations.

Disclosure should be made to distinguish three categories of funds
within the FBWT reported on the balance sheet: the obligated balance
not yet disbursed the unobligated balance, and non-budgetary FBWT.
The obligated balance not yet disbursed is the amount of funds against
which budgetary obligations have been incurred, but disbursements
have not been made.

The unobligated balance is the amount of funds available to an entity
against which no claims have been recorded. Unobligated balances are
generally available to a federal entity for specific purposes stipulated
by law. Unobligated balances may also include balances in
expired/canceled accounts that are available only for approved
adjustments to prior obligations. Certain unobligated balances may be
restricted to future use and are not apportioned for current use.
Disclosure should be provided on such restrictions. Non-budgetary
FBWT includes unavailable receipt accounts, clearing accounts and
other accounts that do not represent budget authority, as well as non-
entity FBWT that is recognized on the balance sheet.

2Source of definition: OMB Circular A-34.
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38a. In addition to entity and non-entity FBWT that is recognized on the

balance sheet, a federal entity may also administer fiduciary FBWT on
behalf of non-federal entities or individuals. Fiduciary FBWT is not
recognized on the balance sheet, but is subject to separate disclosure
requirements for fiduciary FBWT, see SFFAS 31, Accounting for
Fiduciary Activities.

SFFAS 31, Accounting for Fiduciary Activities, amended the
provisions in paragraphs 37, 38, and 38a. This amendment is effective
for periods ending after September 30, 2008. To view the
requirements in effect prior to this date, please see the previous
edition of the Original Pronouncements at
http://www.fasab.gov/codificaarchives.html.

39.

Federal entities should explain any discrepancies between fund
balance with Treasury in their general ledger accounts and the balance
in the Treasury’s accounts and explain the causes of the discrepancies
in footnotes to financial statements. (Discrepancies due to time lag
should be reconciled and discrepancies due to error should be
corrected when financial reports are prepared.) Agencies also should
provide information on unused funds in expired appropriations that
are returned to Treasury at the end of a fiscal year.

Accounts Receivable

40.

41.

Accounts receivable arise from claims to cash or other assets. The
accounting standard for accounts receivable is set forth below.

Recognition of receivables.’? A receivable should be recognized
when a federal entity establishes a claim to cash or other assets
against other entities, either based on legal provisions, such as a
payment due date, (e.g., taxes not received by the date they are due),
or goods or services provided. If the exact amount is unknown, a
reasonable estimate should be made. [See SFFAS 7, paragraph 53 for
more.]

*The word recognition used in this document bears the same meaning as used by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in its conceptual statements. It means the

process of formally recording or incorporating an item into the financial statements of an

entity as an asset, liability, revenue, expense, or the like. A recognized item is depicted in
both words and numbers, with the amount included in the statement totals. Recognition
comprehends both initial recognition of an item and recognition of subsequent changes in or
removal of a previously recognized item. FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. b, par. 6.
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42. Separate reporting. Receivables from federal entities are
intragovernmental receivables, and should be reported separately
from receivables from nonfederal entities.

43. Entity vs. Non-entity receivables. Receivables should be
distinguished between entity receivables and non-entity receivables.
Entity receivables are amounts that a federal entity claims for
payment from other federal or nonfederal entities and that the federal
entity is authorized by law to include in its obligational authority or to
offset its expenditures and liabilities upon collection.* Non-entity
receivables are amounts that the entity collects on behalf of the U.S.
government or other entities, and the entity is not authorized to
spend.” Receivables not available to an entity are non-entity assets
and should be reported separately from receivables available to the
entity.

44. Recognition of losses due to uncollectible amounts. Losses on
receivables should be recognized when it is more likely than not that
the receivables will not be totally collected. The phrase more likely
than not means more than a 50 percent chance of loss occurrence.

45. An allowance for estimated uncollectible amounts should be
recognized to reduce the gross amount of receivables to its net
realizable value.® The allowance for uncollectible amounts should be
reestimated on each annual financial reporting date and when
information indicates that the latest estimate is no longer correct.

46. Measurement of losses. Losses due to uncollectible amounts should
be measured through a systematic methodology. The systematic

‘An entity may have receivables that, once collected, can be used as offsets to the entity’s
budget authority and outlays only when authorized by Congress. Before receiving the
authorization, however, those receivables are non-entity receivables.

*Governmental receipts include collections arising from the sovereign and regulatory
powers unique to the federal government, e.g., income tax receipts, customs duties, court
fines, certain license fees, etc. A federal entity may be responsible for collecting these
receipts on behalf of the U.S. government, but is not authorized to use the monies collected
to offset its expenditures.

°In the Board’s Exposure Draft, Accounting for Direct Loans And Loan Guarantees,

September 15, 1992, receivables are accounted for on a net present value basis. [See SFFAS
No. 2]
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47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

methodology should be based on analysis of both individual accounts
and a group of accounts as a whole.

Individual account analysis. Accounts that represent significant
amounts should be individually analyzed to determine the loss
allowance. Loss estimation for individual accounts should be based on
(a) the debtor’s ability to pay, (b) the debtor’s payment record and
willingness to pay, and (c) the probable recovery of amounts from
secondary sources, including liens, garnishments, cross collections
and other applicable collection tools.

The allowance for losses generally cannot be based solely on the
results of individual account analysis. In many cases, information may
not be available to make a reliable assessment of losses on an
individual account basis or the nature of the receivables may not lend
itself to individual account analysis. In these cases, potential losses
should be assessed on a group basis.

Group analysis. To determine the loss allowance on a group basis,
receivables should be separated into groups of homogeneous accounts
with similar risk characteristics.

The groups should reflect the operating environment. For example,
accounts receivable can be grouped by: (a) debtor category (business
firms, state and local governments, and individuals), (b) reasons that
gave rise to the receivables (tax delinquencies, erroneous benefit
payments, trade accounts based on goods and services sold, and
transfers of defaulted loans to accounts receivable), or (c) geographic
regions (foreign countries, and domestic regions). Within a group,
receivables are further stratified by risk characteristics. Examples of
risk factors are economic stability, payment history, alternative
repayment sources, and aging of the receivables.

Statistical estimation by modeling or sampling is one appropriate
method for estimating losses on groups of receivables. Statistical
estimation should take into consideration factors that are essential for
estimating the level of losses, including historical loss experience,
recent economic events, current and forecast economic conditions,
and inherent risks.
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b2.

Disclosure. Agencies should disclose the major categories of
receivables by amount and type, the methodology used to estimate the
allowance for uncollectible amounts, and the total allowance.

Interest Receivable

53.

54.

55.

56.

Interest receivable should be recognized for the amount of interest
income earned but not received for an accounting period. Interest
receivable should be recognized as it is earned on investments in
interest-bearing securities. Interest also should be recognized on
outstanding accounts receivable and other U.S. government claims
against persons and entities in accordance with provisions in 31 U.S.C.
3717, Interest and Penalty Claims. (See also Federal Claims Collection
Standards, 4 CFR Part 103, paragraph 102.13.)"

No interest should be recognized on accounts receivable or
investments that are determined to be uncollectible unless the interest
is actually collected. Payments received from the debtor are required
to be applied first to penalty and administrative cost charged, second
to interest receivable, and third to outstanding debt principal, per
Federal Claims Collection Standards, 4 C.F.R. 102.13(f).

However, until the interest payment requirement is officially waived
by the government entity or the related debt is written off, interest
accrued on uncollectible accounts receivable should be disclosed.

Interest receivable from federal entities should be accounted for and
reported separately from interest receivable from the public.

Advances and
Prepayments

b7.

Advances are cash outlays made by a federal entity to its employees,
contractors, grantees, or others to cover a part or all of the recipients’
anticipated expenses or as advance payments for the cost of goods
and services the entity acquires. Examples include travel advances
disbursed to employees prior to business trips, and cash or other
assets disbursed under a contract, grant, or cooperative agreement
before services or goods are provided by the contractor or grantee.

"Accounting for imputed interest, interest on long-term leases, interest on loans, and interest
on amounts deposited in credit reform accounts will be addressed when the Board considers
accounting standards in these areas.
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58.

59.

60.

61.

Prepayments are payments made by a federal entity to cover certain
periodic expenses before those expenses are incurred. Typical prepaid
expenses are rents paid to a lessor at the beginning of a rental period.
Progress payments made to a contractor based on a percentage of
completion of the contract are not advances or prepayments.

Advances and prepayments should be recorded as assets. Advances
and prepayments are reduced when goods or services are received,
contract terms are met, progress is made under a contract, or prepaid
expenses expire. A travel advance, for example, should be initially
recorded as an asset and should be subsequently reduced when travel
expenses are actually incurred. Amounts of advances and
prepayments that are subject to refund (for example, a settled travel
claim indicating the traveler owes part of the advance to the
government) should be transferred to accounts receivable.

Advances and prepayments paid out by an entity are assets of the
entity. On the other hand, advances and prepayments received by an
entity are liabilities of the entity (see the recommended standard for
other current liabilities). In financial reports of an entity, advances and
prepayments the entity paid out (assets) should not be netted against
advances and prepayments that the entity received (liabilities).

Advances and prepayments made to federal entities are
intragovernmental items and should be accounted for and reported
separately from those made to nonfederal entities.

Investments in Treasury 62.

Securities

63.

Scope. This standard applies to investment by federal entities in
Treasury securities, including (a) nonmarketable par value Treasury
securities, (b) market-based Treasury securities expected to be held to
maturity, and (c) marketable Treasury securities expected to be held
to maturity. This standard does not apply to investments by federal
entities in securities (debt and equity) and other financial instruments
issued by other than the U.S. Treasury.

Nonmarketable par value Treasury securities are special series debt
securities that the U.S. Treasury issues to federal entities at face value
(par value). The securities are redeemed at face value on demand; thus
investing entities recover the full amounts invested.
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64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

Mavrket-based Treasury securities are debt securities that the U.S.
Treasury issues to federal entities without statutorily determined
interest rates. Although the securities are not marketable, their terms
(prices and interest rates) mirror the terms of marketable Treasury
securities.

Mavrketable Treasury securities, including Treasury bills, notes, and
bonds, are initially offered by Treasury to the marketplace and can
then be bought and sold on securities exchange markets. Their bid and
ask prices are publicly quoted by the marketplace.

Treasury securities expected to be held to maturity. Aside from
nonmarketable par value Treasury securities, this standard applies to
market-based and marketable Treasury securities that are expected to
be held to maturity. An investment in securities is expected to be held
to maturity only if the investing entity has the intent and ability to
hold those securities to maturity. An investment in Treasury securities
should not be considered as expected to be held to maturity if the
investing entity is likely to sell the securities in response to short-term
cash needs, changes in market interest rates, or for other reasons.

Separate accounting and reporting for federal and nonfederal
securities. Investments of a federal entity in U.S. securities
(securities issued by Treasury and federal agencies) are
intragovernmental investments. These U.S. securities also represent
intragovernmental liabilities of the Treasury Department or other
federal entities that issue the securities. Investments in securities
issued by the U.S. Treasury or other federal entities should be
accounted for and reported separately from investments in securities
issued by nonfederal entities.

Initial recording. The three types of Treasury securities covered by
this standard (nonmarketable par value Treasury securities,
market-based Treasury securities expected to be held to maturity, and
marketable Treasury securities expected to be held to maturity)
should be recognized at their acquisition cost. If the acquisition is
made in exchange for nonmonetary assets, the acquired securities
should be recognized at the fair market value of either the securities
acquired or the assets given up, whichever is more definitively
determinable.
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69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

If the acquisition cost differs from the face (par) value, the security
should be recorded at the acquisition cost, which equals the security’s
face value plus or minus the premium or discount on the investment. A
discount is the excess of the security’s face amount over its purchase
price. A premium is the excess of the purchase price over the
security’s face value. The balance in the valuation account is treated as
a contra account to the debt security.

Valuation subsequent to acquisition. Subsequent to their
acquisition, investments in Treasury securities should be carried at
their acquisition cost, adjusted for amortization, if appropriate, as
explained below.

If an amount of premium or discount exists, the carrying amount of
the investments should be adjusted in each reporting period to reflect
the amortization of the premium or the discount. Premiums and
discounts should be amortized over the life of the Treasury security
using the interest method. Under the interest method, the effective
interest rate (the actual interest yield on amounts invested) multiplied
by the carrying amount of the Treasury security at the start of the
accounting period equals the interest income recognized during the
period (the carrying amount changes each period by the amount of the
amortized discount or premium). The amount of amortization of
discount or premium is the difference between the effective interest
recognized for the period and the nominal interest for the period as
stipulated in the Treasury security. (See Appendix B for an illustration
of the interest method of amortization.)

Disclosure of market value. For investments in market-based and
marketable Treasury securities, the market value of the investments
should be disclosed. For purposes of determining a market value,
investments should be grouped by type of security, such as marketable
or market-based Treasury securities. The market value of investments
in a group is calculated by the market price of securities of that group
at the financial reporting date multiplied by the number of notes or
bonds held at the financial reporting date.

Investment reclassification. In rare instances, significant
unforeseeable circumstances may cause a change in an entity’s intent
or ability to hold to maturity certain securities that are initially
classified as expected to be held to maturity. In these circumstances,
the affected securities should be reclassified as securities available for
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sale or early redemption (redemption before the security’s maturity).
Once a security is reclassified it is no longer subject to this standard.

Accounts Payable

74.

75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

Page 184

Accounts payable are amounts owed by a federal entity for goods and
services received from, progress in contract performance made by,
and rents due to other entities.

Accounts payable are not intended to include liabilities related to
on-going continuous expenses such as employees’ salary and benefits,
which are covered by other current liabilities. (See recommended
standard for Other Current Liabilities.)

Amounts owed for goods or services received from federal entities
represent intragovernmental transactions and should be reported
separately from amounts owed to the public.

When an entity accepts title to goods, whether the goods are delivered
or in transit, the entity should recognize a liability for the unpaid
amount of the goods. If invoices for those goods are not available
when financial statements are prepared, the amounts owed should be
estimated.

When a contractor provides the government with goods that are also
suitable for sale to others, the liability usually arises when the
contractor physically delivers the goods and the government receives
them and takes formal title. However, when a contractor builds or
manufactures facilities or equipment to the government’s
specifications, formal acceptance of the products by the government
is not the determining factor for accounting recognition. Constructive
or de facto receipt occurs in each accounting period, in accordance
with the following paragraph.

For facilities or equipment constructed or manufactured by
contractors or grantees according to agreements or contract
specifications, amounts recorded as payable should be based on an
estimate of work completed under the contract or the agreement. The
estimate of such amounts should be based primarily on the federal
entity’s engineering and management evaluation of actual
performance progress and incurred costs.
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80.

The reporting entity should disclose accounts payable not covered by
budgetary resources.

Interest Payable 81.

82.

Interest payable should be recorded for the amount of interest
expense incurred and unpaid. Interest incurred results from
borrowing funds from Treasury, Federal Financing Bank, other federal
entities, or the public. Interest also should be recorded on late
payment of bills by the federal entity (see provisions in 31 U.S.C. 3901
through 3907, Prompt Payment) and on refunds (see provisions in 26
U.S.C. 6611). Interest payable of an entity on borrowed funds and
unpaid bills should be recognized at the end of each period.

Interest payable to federal entities is an intragovernmental liability and
should be accounted for separately from interest payable to the public.

Other Current Liabilities 83.

84.

85.

The term other current liabilities is used to report current liabilities
that are not recognized in specific categories such as accounts
payable; interest payable; debt owed to the public, Treasury, or other
entities; and liabilities for loan guarantee losses. Other current
liabilities may include unpaid expenses that are accrued for the fiscal
year for which the financial statements are prepared and are expected
to be paid within the fiscal year following the reporting date.

Typical examples of other current liabilities to be recognized are:

(a) accrued employees’ wages, bonuses, and salaries for services
rendered in the current fiscal year for which paychecks will be issued
in the following year; (b) accrued entitlement benefits payable, such as
Old Age Survivors Insurance (OASI) and Veterans Compensation and
Pension benefits applicable to the current period but not yet paid, and
(c) annuities for the current fiscal year administered by trust, pension,
or insurance programs for which payment would be made in the
following fiscal year. Such liabilities may be presented on the face of
the financial reports as Other Current Liabilities or as one or more
separate categories depending on the materiality of the amounts.

Federal entities may receive advances and prepayments from other
entities for goods to be delivered or services to be performed. Before
revenues are earned, the current portion of the advances and
prepayments should be recorded as other current liabilities. After the
revenue is earned (goods or services are delivered, or performance
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progress is made according to engineering evaluations), the entity
should record the appropriate amount as a revenue or financing
source and should reduce the liability accordingly. Other current
liabilities due to federal entities are intragovernmental liabilities that
should be reported separately from those due to employees and the
public.

86. The reporting entity should disclose the amount of current liabilities

not covered by budgetary resources. The U.S. government-wide
financial statements need not include this disclosure.
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Appendix A: Basis
Of The Board’s
Conclusions

87.

This Appendix provides a discussion on the substantive comments
that the Board received from respondents to Exposure Draft No. 1,
“Financial Resources, Funded Liabilities, and Net Financial Resources
of Federal Entities” (November 18, 1991) and from testimony at a
public hearing on the Exposure Draft held February 28, 1992. The
Appendix explains the basis of the Board’s conclusions on issues
raised by the respondents.

Basic Concepts

88.

89.

90.

91.

Net financial resources. In the Exposure Draft, the Board proposed
the concept of net financial resources . The term net financial
resources was referred to as an entity’s total financial resources less
its total funded liabilities (Exposure Draft, page 11). The Exposure
Draft stated that the amount of net financial resources provides a
general measure of an entity’s financial sufficiency before new
appropriations are provided. The Exposure Draft further stated that
information on the components of an entity’s net financial resources
(obligated and unobligated balances of budget authority and other
items) can provide additional insight into an entity’s financial
situation.

Many respondents do not see convincing evidence that the concept of
net financial resources is useful. They point out that there are no
concrete examples to illustrate how the information can be used.
Some respondents also do not believe that the measure of net financial
resources is well defined. They point out that one of the elements
missing from the concept is the amount of unfunded liabilities. They
state that without measuring unfunded liabilities, the measure of net
financial resources is incomplete and can be misleading.

The Board has decided to postpone consideration of the net financial
resources concept. The Board believes that the usefulness of the
concept can be further explored after it completes its project on users’
needs and objectives for financial accounting and reporting.

Entity financial resources. In the Exposure Draft, the Board
discussed the concept of entity financial resources. The concept was
defined as assets of a federal entity that consist of (a) the entity’s cash
and funds authorized and available for disbursement (excluding
contract authority and unused authority to borrow), (b) resources of
the entity that are expected to be converted into cash to satisfy
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92.

93.

94.

95.

96.

liabilities, and (c) conversion of cash into another form (for example
prepayments) that would be consumed. Under this definition, the
Exposure Draft identified as financial resources: cash, funds with
Treasury, claims to cash (for example accounts receivable and loans
receivable), claims to goods and services (for example advances and
prepayments), inventories held for sale, and investments.

As indicated in the Exposure Draft, financial resources are a subset of
assets that provide liquidity (cash and assets that can be converted to
cash) to meet a federal entity’s operational needs. The concept was
considered useful because federal entities obtain resources from the
budget to finance their operations and are held accountable for the use
of the financial resources.

The Board has decided not to use the term financial resources in this
document. However, a definition of the term financial resources and
its usefulness will be further considered by the Board in its conceptual
framework project. In the absence of the term, the items that would
provide future economic benefits to the government and its entities
are referred to as assets. The term asset as used in this document
means an item that embodies a probable future economic benefit that
can be obtained or controlled by the federal government or a reporting
entity as a result of past transactions or events. (The definition of
assets will be considered by the Board in the future.)

Funded liabilities. The Exposure Draft proposed the definition of
“funded liabilities” as “liabilities for which the federal entity has
received budget authority to cover the related expenditure or
expense.”

The term “funded liabilities” would limit the recognition of liabilities to
the extent that they are funded. The Board believes that the liabilities
addressed in this document should be recognized when they are
incurred, regardless of whether they are funded. The Board therefore
decided not to use the term “funded liabilities” in this document.
However, the Board recommends that disclosure be made for
liabilities that are not covered by budgetary resources.

The word “liability” used in this document means a probable and
measurable future outflow of resources arising from past transactions
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or events.® A comprehensive definition of liabilities is being
considered by the Board in its project concerning liabilities in general.
However, this document addresses only those selected liabilities that
routinely recur in normal operations and that are due within a fiscal
year. These liabilities are accounts payable, interest payable, and other
current liabilities. The category of other current liabilities includes
salary and entitlement benefit expenses that are accrued and would be
paid within a fiscal year.

General Standards

97.

98.

The recommended standards apply to reporting by the federal
government and its entities for both governmental assets and liabilities
and intragovernmental assets and liabilities reported at the entity
level.

An entity may have two categories of assets and liabilities
intragovernmental and governmental assets and liabilities. The
difference between intragovernmental and governmental assets and
liabilities is explained below:

(1) Intragovernmental assets and liabilities. These assets and
liabilities arise from intragovernmental transactions. For
example, investments held by a federal entity in Treasury
securities are reported by the entity as an asset. However, the
Treasury securities also are liabilities of the Department of the
Treasury. Thus, the securities represent intragovernmental assets
and liabilities. Another example is fund balance with Treasury. An
entity’s fund balance with Treasury of an entity will be reported
as an asset by the entity. However, it is not an asset of the federal
government; rather, it is a commitment of the U.S. government to
provide funds to a federal entity. (See discussion, which follows;
on Fund balance with Treasury.)

(2) Governmental assets and liabilities. These are assets and
liabilities that arise from transactions of the federal government
with nonfederal entities (persons and organizations outside the
U.S. government, either foreign or domestic). For example,
income taxes to be collected from the public are reported on IRS

8A comprehensive definition of “liabilities” is being considered by the Board in its project
concerning liabilities in general. [See SFFASs 5 and 12 for more on liabilities.]
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financial statements as receivables. These receivables are assets
of the federal government.

99. The recommended standards require that intragovernmental assets

and liabilities be reported separately from governmental assets and
liabilities.

100. Assets reported by an entity also are distinguished between entity and

101.

102.

non-entity assets.

(1) Entity assets. Entity assets are assets that are available to an
entity for its use. Entity assets include both intragovernmental
and governmental assets. Supplies inventory held by an entity for
consumption in its operations is an entity asset as well as a
governmental asset. A receivable of a federal entity from another
federal entity is an entity asset if the receiving entity has authority
to use the amount collected.

(2) Non-entity assets. An entity may have assets under its custody
and management that the entity is not authorized to use. In this
Statement, these assets are called non-entity assets, as
distinguished from entity assets that the entity is authorized to
use in its operations. For example, customs duty receivables to
be collected by the Customs Service is a non-entity asset that
would be reported by the Customs Service.

The Board recommends that both entity assets and non-entity assets
under an entity’s custody or management be recognized in the entity’s
financial statements. Non-entity assets should be separately reported
in an entity’s financial statements.

The following exhibit, using receivables as an example, illustrates the
relationship between entity and non-entity assets on one hand and
intragovernmental and governmental assets on the other hand.

Page 190 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



SFFAS 1

Accounts Receivable

Entity Assets Non-Entity Assets
Intra-governmental Amounts receivable from a Amounts to be collected from a
Assets federal entity for goods or federal entity that will not be

services delivered that will be  available to the receiving entity
available to the receiving entity to spend.
to spend.

Governmental Assets  Amounts receivable from a Amounts (such as taxes) to be

nonfederal entity for goods or  collected from a nonfederal
services that will be available to  entity that will not be available
the receiving entity to spend. to the receiving entity to spend.

Specific Standards

The Board has retained from the Exposure Draft the requirement for
separate reporting of restricted and unrestricted cash. However, after
considering comments on the Exposure Draft, the Board has modified
the definition of restricted cash.

The Exposure Draft proposed that unrestricted cash include amounts
in demand deposits. However, whether an amount of cash is restricted
does not depend on where the cash is kept. For example, federal
entities may hold cash in demand deposit accounts on behalf of
Treasury. Since the entities have no authority to spend the cash, from
the entities’ perspective, these amounts of cash are restricted.

The recommended standard in this document redefines restricted cash
as (1) amounts of cash that an entity holds on behalf of Treasury or
other entities and does not have authority to spend, and

(2) amounts of cash that are legally restricted to specific purposes.

Cash 103.
104.
105.
Fund Balance with 106.
Treasury

The recommended standard provides guidance on the composition of
fund balance with Treasury. Events that cause an entity’s fund balance
to increase include receiving appropriations, allocations, transfers,
receipts that the entity is authorized to spend (or to use to offset its
expenditures) and borrowing from Treasury. An entity’s fund balance
is reduced by amounts disbursed to pay liabilities and expenditures,
amounts invested in securities, amounts of appropriations canceled or
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107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

rescinded, and amounts transferred to other agencies or to the
Treasury.

With respect to fund balance with Treasury, the Board has considered
the following issues:

(1) Is fund balance with Treasury an asset?

The Board believes that from the perspective of a federal entity (such
as a bureau, a program, or a fund), fund balance with Treasury is an
asset. In fact, it is the most important source against which an entity
can make expenditures and incur liabilities.

However, the Board recognizes that a fund balance with Treasury is an
intragovernmental item. It represents a entity’s authorized claim to the
federal government’s resources on one hand, and the government’s
commitment to supply resources to the entity on the other hand. The
claims and commitments would not be reported when financial
reports of individual entities are consolidated on a government-wide
level. Thus, from the perspective of the federal government as a whole,
fund balances with Treasury are not assets of the federal government.

(2) How does fund balance with Treasury relate to budgetary
resources?

A fund balance is created by budget authority. An appropriation is the
major form of budget authority that creates a fund balance with
Treasury for an entity. Thus, the relationship between fund balance
with Treasury and budget authority cannot be ignored.

However, an entity’s fund balance with Treasury does not necessarily
equal its budgetary resources. The difference between these two
concepts may be clarified by examining their definitions. A fund
balance represents the sum of amounts that is actually available in an
entity’s accounts with Treasury. Budgetary resources on the other
hand encompass all authorities for an entity to incur obligations. Some
of the authorities do not in themselves provide funds to the entity.
Contract authority, for example, allows an entity to incur obligations
under a contract. However, it does not, in itself, provide funds to the
entity’s accounts with Treasury. An appropriation is necessary for the
entity to have funds to liquidate obligations incurred under contract
authority.
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112.

113.

114.

115.

Authority to borrow does not in itself place funds into an entity’s
accounts with Treasury. In order to increase its fund balance with
Treasury, an entity must actually borrow under its borrowing
authority.

For these reasons, the recommended standard states that fund
balance with Treasury does not include contract authority and unused
authority to borrow.

(3) Should the fund balance exclude funds designated for
special purposes?

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft believe that the standard
should identify funds held with Treasury that are not available to the
entity’s operations. For example, the Department of Energy collects
fines levied under the Emergency Petroleum Allocation Act of 1973,
deposits those funds in an escrow account with Treasury, and
ultimately disburses those funds to injured parties or for other uses as
directed by court decisions.

It is not unusual that funds in certain accounts are held and restricted
to specific purposes. Amounts of trust funds, for example, are held for
the specific purpose of making benefit payments to eligible recipients.
The restriction on funds held for the Department of Energy to pay
persons injured by oil pricing and allocation violations is another
example. The Board believes that the fund balance of a reporting
entity should include funds held in all accounts of the entity regardless
of whether they are designated for specific purposes.

Accounts Receivable

116.

117.

Respondents raised issues related to the recognition and measurement
of losses due to uncollectible amounts. Before addressing the Board’s
actions in relation to respondents’ comments, however, the terms
recognition and measurement as used in this Statement are explained
below:

Recognition means formally recording or incorporating an item into
the records and financial statements as an asset, liability, expense,
revenue, or similar element. For assets or liabilities, recognition
encompasses subsequent changes to the amounts of assets and
liabilities.
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118.

119.

120.

121.

122.

123.

Measurement is the process of expressing an asset or liability in
monetary units. Measuring an item requires selecting an appropriate
measurement attribute such as historical cost, current market value,
net realizable value, or present value of future cash flows.

In the proposed standard and the discussion of accounts receivable,
the term recognition concerns the timing of recording an asset or the
impairment of an asset in the financial records. The term
measurement concerns the valuation basis and the dollar amount of
the asset that should be reported.

Detailed discussions of respondents’ comments and the Board’s
actions are provided in the following paragraphs.

Timing of receivable recognition. The Exposure Draft states that a
receivable should be recorded when events (e.g., payment due dates)
or transactions occur that entitle an entity to accrue revenue or
receive a reimbursement or fund transfer. Some respondents
questioned the use of payment due dates as a criterion for recognizing
receivables. These respondents stated a receivable should be
recognized when an entity is owed an amount or earns a revenue, and
that due dates are irrelevant.

Some receivables result from exchange transactions. For example,
receivables may result from goods and services provided to other
entities. However, claims to cash or other assets also result from the
federal government’s legal authority to levy taxes and impose duties,
fees and fines. These receivables are not related to revenue-earning
functions or exchange transactions, but are based on the federal
government’s authority to collect the payments and a party’s liability to
pay cash or provide other assets to cover the claims. For the accrual of
taxes, the tax due date represents the date that the government
demands payment. The payment due date is a definitive criterion for
accruing taxes.

The Board, therefore, recommends that a receivable be recognized
when a claim to cash or other assets is established based either on
goods or services provided or the government’s legal authority to levy
and collect. The Board is not recommending a revenue recognition
standard at this time.
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124.

125.

126.

127.

128.

129.

Loss recognition. In the Exposure Draft, it was proposed that a loss
be recognized when it is more likely than not that a receivable has
been impaired. The phrase more likely than not means a greater than
50 percent probability of occurrence.

Several respondents questioned why the Board used the more likely
than not criterion for loss recognition instead of the probable criterion
used in the private sector under generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).’

The Board may refer to the pronouncements and statements issued by
other standard setting bodies in deliberating accounting standards for
the federal government. However, the Board is not bound by these
pronouncements and statements, especially when accounting
standards promulgated for other sectors are not relevant to the federal
government.

In the case of loss recognition on receivables, the Board believes that
there should be a definitive guideline for recognizing government
credit losses. The word probable is subject to broad interpretation
(often being interpreted as meaning a virtual certainty of occurrence)
and could allow for belated recognition of losses.

The Board proposed the more stringent criterion of more likely than
not, which requires the recognition of losses when there is more than a
50 percent chance that some receivables will not be collected. In
recommending the more likely than not criterion, the Board’s intent is
to achieve unbiased, consistent, and reliable loss recognition in federal
government accounting.

The more likely than not criterion can be applied to both individual
accounts and groups of accounts. Both significant individual accounts
receivable (e.g., unusually large refunds due from contractors,
medicaid reimbursements from third parties, substantial tax
delinquencies, or other large claims) and groups of small accounts
should be analyzed and losses recognized if it is more likely than not
that some or all of the amounts owed will not be collected.

9FASB Statement of Standards No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
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130. When applying the loss recognition criterion, the Board believes it is
appropriate to recognize the nature of federal receivables. Many of the
federal government’s receivables, unlike trade accounts of private
firms or loans made by banks, are not created through credit screening
procedures. These receivables arise because of activities such as fines
from regulatory violations, refunds from erroneous benefit payments,
reimbursements, and overdue taxes and duties. In these
circumstances, historical experience and economic factors indicate
that the receivables frequently are not fully collectible. These
receivables meet the loss recognition test because of their inherent
risk. Therefore, an appropriate amount of allowance for losses should
be recognized at their inception.

131. Loss measurement. Because of the large volume of federal
transactions, accounts receivable generally exist in large groups. Some
groups may consist of several hundred thousand accounts. In such
cases, losses on uncollectible amounts should be assessed on a group
basis using statistical sampling techniques. Statistical sampling should
be supplemented by historical trend experience, adjusted for current
conditions.

132. On the other hand, some government receivables arise from
transactions of significant amounts. These receivables should be
individually analyzed to assess losses due to risks specifically
attributable to the individual accounts. The assessment of impairment
of individual accounts may not always provide a valid basis to estimate
the impairment of the entire group. Often, losses may exist for the
group that are not currently identifiable on an individual basis. The
Board believes that the federal government’s receivables are generally
subject to losses due to inherent risks. Therefore, allowances for
receivables should be viewed in the context of the overall risk of the
receivables being assessed.

133. Based on the above considerations, the recommended standard
provides that, for reporting purposes, losses on accounts receivable
should be determined by evaluating accounts on both a group and an
individual basis.

Interest Receivable 134. In the Exposure Draft, the proposed standard requires that interest be
recognized on a receivable until the receivable is repaid or written off.
At the same time, the proposed standard requires that an allowance
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135.

136.

for uncollectible interest be provided. The intent of the proposed
standard is to establish the debtor’s liability for the accrued interest.

Some respondents expressed concern that there is usually a lengthy
period from the time a receivable is determined to be uncollectible
until it is written off. It would be burdensome to recognize interest on
the uncollectible receivable and, at the same time, offset the amount of
interest recognized by an allowance for uncollectible interest.

The initial intent of this procedure was to maintain a correct amount
of the debtor’s liability. This purpose can be achieved by
record-keeping procedures rather than financial reporting. Therefore,
for financial reporting, the Board has concurred that (a) interest
receivable should be recognized only on collectible accounts, and

(b) interest receivable on uncollectible accounts should be recognized
only when it is actually received.

Advances and
Prepayments

137.

138.

139.

There were no comments on the substance of the recommended
accounting standard for advances and prepayments since the standard
does not contain significant changes from the current accounting
practice within federal government agencies. Some respondents
requested that the Board clarify that prepayments do not include
progress payments made on long-term contracts. Since progress
payments are made based upon percentage of completion of a
contract, the Board concluded that progress payments are not
advances or prepayments.

Comments were also received questioning whether advances and
prepayments should be included within the definition of financial
resources (as proposed in the Exposure Draft) since advances and
prepayments are not usually converted to cash or budget authority
available for use by the entity.

The Board recognizes that, as in the case of inventories held for
consumption, advances and prepayments convert into goods and
services, but do not convert into cash. However, since the term
financial resources is not used in this Statement, the issue is now
moot. Advances and prepayments normally benefit current operations
and, therefore, are normally considered current assets.
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Investments in Treasury  140.

Securities

141.

142.

143.

144.

145.

The recommended standard applies to investments in Treasury
securities, including (1) nonmarketable par value Treasury securities,
(2) market-based Treasury securities held to maturity, and

(3) marketable Treasury securities held to maturity.

In the future, the Board will address investments that are not covered
by this standard. In the interim, federal entities should continue their
current accounting practices for those investments not covered by this
standard.

Federal entities, particularly the Social Security and the retirement
trust funds, invest available funds in excess of their current needs in
special Treasury securities issued in the government account series.
The terms of the Treasury securities are usually designed to meet the
cash needs of government accounts. The vast majority of the
investments are in nonmarketable Treasury securities issued
exclusively to federal agencies. Most of them are par value securities,
and some are market-based securities whose prices and interest rates
reflect market terms. Thus, although the scope of the recommended
standard is limited, it covers more than 90 percent of federal entities’
investments.

A few federal entities are permitted to buy and sell marketable
Treasury securities on the open market. Some federal entities which
conduct business with the public or provide insurance to the private
sector may acquire marketable Treasury securities as a part of a
rescue and takeover transaction. This standard applies to marketable
Treasury securities only to the extent that they are expected to be held
to maturity.

In the Exposure Draft, the Board proposed that investments in par
value nonmarketable Treasury securities be reported at cost. The
Board also proposed that marketable securities and market-based
Treasury securities be reported at market value as of the reporting
date.

A number of respondents, however, expressed concern with the
recognition of increases and decreases in assets based on market
value, and the recognition of associated gains or losses. These
respondents believe these are unrealized gains and losses which do
not represent actual increases or decreases in assets. Some
respondents also indicated that market value fluctuations generally do
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not affect an entity’s investments in securities intended to be held to
their maturity.

146. In this Statement, the Board continues to use the cost based valuation
for nonmarketable par value Treasury securities. The cost basis is
appropriate for this type of security because the invested amounts will
be fully recovered at redemption.

147. The Board also recommends the cost or amortized cost basis for the
valuation of market-based Treasury securities and marketable
Treasury securities that are to be held to maturity. The Board believes
that the cost basis is appropriate because the invested amounts can be
fully recovered when the Treasury securities mature. During the time
periods when the securities are outstanding, the market prices of the
securities may fluctuate due to interest rate changes or other
temporary causes. However, so long as the securities are not to be sold
to the market, the investing entity would not be affected by such
market price fluctuations. For this reason, the Board decided to
recommend the cost based approach rather than market value
approach for marketable Treasury securities expected to be held to
maturity.

148. The Board considered the valuation issues related to securities not
covered by this standard. The Board has concluded that the use of a
fair value approach pertains to a broad conceptual issue that needs to
be addressed in its conceptual framework. Until the Board reaches
decisions on the conceptual framework, it is premature to recommend
a valuation basis for securities beyond those covered by this standard.

149. The Board believes that the criteria for classifying an investment as
expected to be held to maturity should be based on the intent and
ability of the investing entity to hold the security to its maturity. Intent
and ability differ from a mere absence of an intent to sell the security.
An evaluation of whether an entity has the intent and ability to hold its
investments should be based on the entity’s current and projected
financial condition and its recent pattern in buying, selling, and
managing Treasury securities. A security should not be classified as
expected to be held to maturity if for cash needs or other investment
management reasons the investing entity is not able to hold the
security to its maturity.

Page 199 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



SFFAS 1

150.

At each financial reporting date, the appropriateness of this
classification should be reassessed. In rare instances, an entity’s
originally stated intent or ability to hold a security to maturity may
change due to significant unforeseen changes in the entity’s cash
needs or in other circumstances. When this occurs, securities initially
classified as expected to be held to maturity should be reclassified to
securities available for sale or early redemption.

Accounts Payable 151.

152.

153.

154.

155.

Accounts payable are set up to record an entity’s liability for goods and
services received or work progress made by a contractor for which
payment has not been made.

Some respondents questioned the timing of recognizing a liability in
accounts payable. A federal entity, under budgetary accounting,
records an obligation when the entity places a purchase order or signs
a contract. An obligation, once incurred, reduces an entity’s resources
available for obligation. Budgetary accounting entries are required to
record the amounts obligated and to reduce the available budget
authority. For financial reporting purposes, liabilities are recognized
when goods and services are received or are recognized based on an
estimate of work completed under a contract or agreement.

Some federal entities believe it is appropriate to recognize a liability in
accounts payable when a purchase order is placed. The theory of this
practice is that the purchase order represents a use of the entity’s
budgetary resources and that recognizing the liability would correctly
reduce the entity’s available budgetary resources.

Proponents for this practice also argue that, in many cases, goods
produced under government contracts bear unique specifications for
government needs and, as a result, cannot be sold to other customers.
Thus, they argue that it is virtually certain that the government has
incurred a liability toward the contractor.

The Board recognizes that there is a need to reconcile budget
execution results and financial effects. In budgetary accounting, when
a purchase order is placed, an obligation is recorded to ensure
budgetary control. However, recognition of the claim from a financial
accounting standpoint does not occur until goods are delivered, work
progress is actually made by a contractor, or services are performed
since these events generally trigger a cash outlay that liquidates the
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156.

obligation. The Board does not believe that recognizing a liability prior
to a actual receipt or constructive receipt of goods or services should
be adopted as a financial accounting standard. It also does not believe
that it is appropriate to erase the distinction between recording
obligations for budget purposes and recognizing a liability for financial
accounting purposes.

Some respondents question whether a liability should be recognized
for multi-year contracts that are to be financed through appropriations
over a number of years. As has been discussed earlier, when a contract
is entered, an obligation is recognized in budgetary accounting.
However, until goods or services are received or work progress is
made, the Board does not believe that an obligation should be
recognized as a liability. When goods or services are received or work
progress is made under either a short or long-term contract, a liability
for unpaid amounts should be recognized.

Interest Payable

157.

There were no substantial comments on the recommended accounting
standard for interest payable. The recommended standard does not
differ from the current accounting practice within federal government
agencies.

Other Current Liabilities

158.

159.

160.

The recommended standard covers the current liabilities that are not
specifically defined in other standards. Current liabilities specifically
defined in this Statement are accounts payable and interest payable.
Accounts payable and interest payable represent liabilities arising
from discrete transactions. The Board also plans to issue statements
to define other specific liabilities such as liabilities incurred under a
loan guarantee contract and borrowings from other entities.

Other current liabilities generally are related to on-going and
continuous expenses, which are typically recognized throughout each
accounting period rather than on an individual transaction basis. A
typical example is the liability for employees salary that is accrued at
the end of a fiscal year but is not paid.

The Exposure Draft indicated that a liability was considered funded if
the related expense was incurred under budget authority. Some
respondents suggested that the term budget authority be changed to
budgetary resources . They argued that budgetary resources
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encompass not only new budget authority, but also other resources
available to incur liabilities for specified purposes in a given year.

161. The Board agrees that a liability (or a portion of the liability) should be
considered funded from the reporting entity’s perspective if it is
covered by available budgetary resources. However, the
recommended standard takes the position that a liability should be
recognized when it is incurred, regardless of whether it is covered by
available budgetary resources. The recommended standard also
requires that disclosure should be made for liabilities that are not
covered by available budgetary resources.

Page 202 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



SFFAS 1

Appendix B:
Ilustration Of The
Interest Method For
Investment
Discount And
Premium

This Appendix provides an illustration of the interest method for amortizing
a discount or premium of an investment in a marketable or a market-based
Treasury security, such as a Treasury bond. The interest method is required
in the recommended standard for investments. Before explaining the
interest method itself, the concept of discount and premium will be
explained.

Bond Discount And
Premium

The price of a bond equals the present value of the bond’s net future cash
flows, including principal and interest payments, discounted to the time of
its issuance. The discount rate is referred to as the effective interest rate.
Since the effective interest rate usually equals the market interest rate, it
may differ from the stated interest rate (the coupon rate) of the bond. The
difference between the effective interest rate of a bond and its stated
interest rate causes the bond price to be different from its face amount.

A Treasury bond may be purchased at a price higher or lower than the
bond’s face amount (par amount). The difference between the purchase
price and the face amount is a discount if the price is lower than the face
amount; or a premium if the price is higher than the face amount. The
investor initially records the bond at its face amount and records the
discount or the premium in a valuation allowance account. Thus, the
carrying amount of the bond equals its face amount minus or plus the
discount or the premium. The discount or the premium is amortized over
the life of the bond, so that the bond would be redeemed at its face amount
at its maturity.

The Interest Method

Under the interest method of amortization,'® an amount of interest equal to
the carrying amount of the investment times the effective interest rate, is
calculated for each accounting period. This calculated interest is the
effective interest of the investment (referred to as effective yield in some
literature). The amount of effective interest is compared with the stated

YThe interest method of amortization is described in several FASB statements and APB
Opinions. For example, see paragraph 18, FASB Statement No. 91, Accounting for
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Assoctated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and
Initial Direct Costs of Leases, and paragraph 16 of APB Opinion No. 12, Omnibus Opinion.
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interest of the investment. (The stated interest is the interest that is payable
to the investor according to the stated interest rate.) The difference
between the effective interest and the stated interest is the amount by
which the discount or the premium should be amortized (i.e., reduced) for
the accounting period.

Examples

In the first example," which shows the amortization of a discount, Treasury
bonds with the face amount of $100,000 were purchased by a federal entity
on the bonds’ issuance date, January 1, 1992. The bonds’ stated interest rate
is 7 percent, and interest is payable at the end of each year. The bonds will
mature in 5 years, on December 31, 1996. The cost of the investment is
$96,007, with a discount of $3,993, which reflects an effective interest rate
of 8 percent.

In Table 1 below, the annual discount amortization is in column 4, which
equals column 3 minus column 2.

]
Table 1: Discount Amortization

Stated Effective Bonds

Interest Interest Discount Unamortized Carrying
Date 7% 8% Amortization Balance Amount
1/1/92 $3,993 $ 96,007
12/31/92 7,000 $7,681 $681 3,312 96,688
12/31/93 7,000 7,735 735 2,577 97,423
12/31/94 7,000 7,794 794 1,783 98,217
12/31/95 7,000 7,857 857 926 99,074
12/31/96 7,000 7,926 926 0 100,000

In the second example, which is the amortization of a premium, Treasury
bonds with the face amount of $100,000 were purchased by a federal entity
on the bonds’ issuance date January 1, 1992. The bonds’ stated interest rate
is 7 percent, and interest is payable at the end of each year. The bonds will
mature in 5 years, on December 31, 1996. The cost of the investment is

UThe examples are adapted from Glenn A. Welsch and Charles T. Zlatkovich, Intermediate
Accounting, 8th ed. (Boston: Richard D. Irwin, Inc., 1989), p. 656.
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$104,212, with a premium of $4,212, which reflects an effective interest rate

of 6 percent.

In Table 2 below, the annual premium amortization is in column 4, which
equals column 2 minus column 3.

]
Table 2: Premium Amortization

Bonds

Stated Effective Premium Unamortized Carrying

Date Interest 7% Interest 6% Amortization Balance Amount
1/1/92 $4,212  $104,212
12/31/92 7,000 $6,253 $747 3,465 103,465
12/31/93 7,000 6,208 792 2,673 102,673
12/31/94 7,000 6,160 840 1,833 101,833
12/31/95 7,000 6,110 890 943 100,943
12/31/96 7,000 6,057 943 0 100,000
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Appendlx C: See Consolidated Glossary in “Appendix E: Consolidated Glossary” on
page 1498.
Glossary
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Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards 2:
Accounting for Direct Loans and Loan Guarantees

Status

Issued

August 23, 1993

Effective Date

For fiscal years ending September 30, 1994 and thereafter.

Interpretations and Technical Releases

TR 3 (Revised), Auditing Estimates for Direct Loan and Loan Guarantee Subsidies
under the Federal Credit Reform Act — Amendments to Technical Release No. 3
Preparing and Auditing Direct Loan and Loan Guarantee Subsidies under the
Federal Credit Reform Act

TR 6, Preparing Estimates for Direct Loan and Loan Guarantee Subsidies under the
Federal Credit Reform Act — Amendments to Technical Release No. 3 Preparing and
Auditing Direct Loan and Loan Guarantee Subsidies under the Federal Credit
Reform Act

Affects None.
Affected by * SFFAS 18
* SFFAS 19

* SFFAS 32 amends par. 56

Summary

The Statement provides accounting standards for federal direct loans and loan guarantees. The standards
require that direct loans obligated and loan guarantees committed after September 30, 1991, be accounted for
on a present value basis. The use of the present value accounting method is consistent with the intent of the

Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990.

The standards contain the following essential requirements:

e Direct loans disbursed and outstanding are recognized as assets at the present value of their estimated
net cash inflows. The difference between the outstanding principal of the loans and the present value of
their net cash inflows is recognized as a subsidy cost allowance.

. For guaranteed loans outstanding, the present value of estimated net cash outflows of the loan
guarantees is recognized as a liability. Disclosure is made of the face value of guaranteed loans
outstanding and the amount guaranteed.

e  For direct or guaranteed loans disbursed during a fiscal year, a subsidy expense is recognized. The
amount of the subsidy expense equals the present value of estimated cash outflows over the life of the
loans minus the present value of estimated cash inflows.

. The subsidy cost allowance for direct loans and the liability for loan guarantees are reestimated each
year, taking into account all factors that may have affected the estimated cash flows. Any adjustment
resulting from the reestimates is recognized as a subsidy expense (or a reduction in subsidy expense).

e  When direct loans or loan guarantees are modified, the cost of modification is recognized at an amount
equal to the decrease in the present value of the direct loans or the increase in the present value of the
loan guarantee liabilities measured at the time of modification.
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. Upon foreclosure of direct or guaranteed loans, the acquired property is recognized as an asset at the
present value of its estimated future net cash inflows.

The standards permit but do not require restating pre-credit reform direct loans and loan guarantees at
present value.
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Executive Summary

1. The Statement provides accounting standards for federal direct loans
and loan guarantees. The standards require that direct loans obligated
and loan guarantees committed after September 30, 1991, be
accounted for on a present value basis. The use of the present value
accounting method is consistent with the intent of the Federal Credit
Reform Act of 1990.

The standards contain the following essential requirements:

Direct loans disbursed and outstanding are recognized as assets
at the present value of their estimated net cash inflows. The
difference between the outstanding principal of the loans and the
present value of their net cash inflows is recognized as a subsidy
cost allowance.

For guaranteed loans outstanding, the present value of estimated
net cash outflows of the loan guarantees is recognized as a
liability. Disclosure is made of the face value of guaranteed loans
outstanding and the amount guaranteed.

For direct or guaranteed loans disbursed during a fiscal year, a
subsidy expense is recognized. The amount of the subsidy
expense equals the present value of estimated cash outflows over
the life of the loans minus the present value of estimated cash
inflows.

The subsidy cost allowance for direct loans and the liability for
loan guarantees are reestimated each year, taking into account all
factors that may have affected the estimated cash flows. Any
adjustment resulting from the reestimates is recognized as a
subsidy expense (or a reduction in subsidy expense).

When direct loans or loan guarantees are modified, the cost of
modifications is recognized at an amount equal to the decrease in
the present value of the direct loans or the increase in the present
value of the loan guarantee liabilities measured at the time of
modification.

Upon foreclosure of direct or guaranteed loans, the acquired
property is recognized as an asset at the present value of its
estimated future net cash inflows.

The standards permit but do not require restating pre-credit reform

direct loans and loan guarantees at present value.
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Introduction

Background 4.

The federal government, in discharging its responsibility to promote
the nation’s general welfare, makes DIRECT LOANS' and guarantees
loans to segments of the population not adequately served by
nonfederal financial institutions. Examples of federal CREDIT
PROGRAMS include farmers’ home loans, small business loans,
veterans’ mortgage loans, and student loans. For those unable to
afford credit at the market rate, federal credit programs provide
subsidies in the form of direct loans offered at an interest rate lower
than the market rate. For those to whom nonfederal financial
institutions would be reluctant to grant credit because of the high risk
involved, federal credit programs guarantee the payment of these
nonfederal loans, absorbing the costs of defaults.

Because federal credit programs provide interest subsidies and sustain
losses caused by defaults, the costs of these programs are significant.
It is crucial, therefore, that the actual and expected costs of federal
credit programs be fully recognized in both budget and financial
reporting.

The Federal Credit 6.

Reform Act Of 1990

The primary intent of the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990 is to
ensure that the SUBSIDY COSTS of direct loans and LOAN
GUARANTEES are taken into account in making budgetary decisions.
To achieve this general result, the Act has the following specific
purposes: (a) ensure a timely and accurate measure and presentation
in the President’s budget of the costs of direct loan and loan guarantee
programs, (b) place the cost of credit programs on a budgetary basis
equivalent to other federal spending, (c) encourage the delivery of
benefits in the form most appropriate to the needs of beneficiaries,
and (d) improve the allocation of resources among credit programs
and between credit and other spending programs.

"Terms included in Appendix C: Glossary are printed in CAPITAL LETTERS when they
appear for the first time. (Note: See “Appendix E: Consolidated Glossary” on page 1498.)
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7. The major provisions of the Act, which is effective for fiscal year 1992
and thereafter, are to:

e  Require that, for each fiscal year in which the direct loans or the
loan guarantees are to be obligated, committed, or disbursed, the
President’s budget reflect the long-term cost to the government of
the subsidies associated with the direct loans and loan
guarantees. The subsidy cost estimate for the President’s budget
is to be based on the PRESENT VALUE of specified cash flows
discounted at the average rate of marketable Treasury securities
of similar maturity.

o Require that, before direct loans are obligated or loan guarantees
are committed, annual appropriations generally be enacted to
cover these costs. (However, mandatory programs have
permanent indefinite appropriations.)

e Provide for borrowing authority from Treasury to cover the
non-subsidy portion of direct loans.

o Establish budgetary and financing control for each credit
program through the use of three types of accounts: the
PROGRAM ACCOUNT (budgetary), the FINANCING ACCOUNT
(non-budgetary), and the LIQUIDATING ACCOUNT (budgetary).

The Need For 8.  Accounting information on credit programs provides the basis for

Accounting Information evaluating program performance by comparing actual accounting data
with estimated budget data. Budget analysts and decision-makers can
use accounting information to compare actual cash flows with
projected cash flows and actual costs of direct loans and loan
guarantees with their estimated costs.

9. For credit program managers, information on estimated default losses
and related liabilities, when recognized in a timely manner, can be an
important tool in evaluating credit program performance. The
information can help determine a credit program’s overall financial
condition and identify its financing needs.

10. Furthermore, cost and performance information on loans and loan

guarantees maintained by COHORT and RISK CATEGORY can
highlight those groups that are not expected to meet budget estimates
because of increased risk. Based on such information, program
managers can take timely action to reduce costs, control risks where
possible, and improve credit program performance.
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Present Value 11
Accounting
12.
13.
14.

The Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990 requires that effective
October 1, 1991, the cost of direct loans and loan guarantees be
estimated at present value for the budget. The objectives of using the
present value measurement in federal credit reform are to measure,
recognize, and control subsidy costs of direct loans and loan
guarantees.’

For direct loans, the effect of using the present value measurement is
to estimate the extent of the disbursed amounts that would be
recovered, and the extent of the disbursed amounts that is a subsidy
cost. The portion that can be recovered is the present value of
projected net cash inflows discounted at the Treasury rate of similar
maturity. This portion is not considered a cost to the government
because it is expected to be returned to the government in future
amounts. The remaining portion of the cash disbursement represents a
cost to the government, resulting either from lending at a rate lower
than the Treasury interest rate, or from default losses, or both.

Under credit reform, the subsidy portion of direct loans is financed by
appropriations, and the unsubsidized portion of the loans, which
equals the present value of the government collections from the
borrowers, is financed with funds borrowed from Treasury. The
subsidy cost of loans must be REESTIMATED and updated annually.

The present value measurement basis is also applied to loan
guarantees. Before credit reform, as in the case of direct loans, loan
guarantees were measured for the budget on a cash basis. Thus, loan
guarantees could appear to be virtually cost free, since cash payments
by the government were not required unless and until the guaranteed
loans defaulted at a future date. Under credit reform, the future cash
outflows required by LOAN GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS must be
projected and discounted at an appropriate Treasury interest rate. The
present value of the cash outflows is the cost of the loan guarantees.
Before loan guarantees are committed, annual appropriations
generally must be enacted to cover the cost of the loan guarantees.

Congressional Budget Office, “Credit Reform: Comparable Budget Costs for Cash and
Credit” (Dec. 1989), p.33.
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Financial Reporting

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

The Board believes that present value measurement should be
adopted for financial accounting and reporting on direct loans and
loan guarantees that have been or will be obligated or committed after
September 30, 1991. Since the Act requires that the costs of these
POST-1991 DIRECT LOANS AND LOAN GUARANTEES be estimated
at present value for budget purposes, financial reports on actual
results measured at present value can be used as feedback to compare
with budget estimates. Such comparisons can be used as a basis to
improve future estimates and REESTIMATES.

The Board recognizes that effective use of the present value
accounting method depends on accurate projections of future cash
flows over the life of direct or guaranteed loans. The efforts to make
accurate projections should begin with establishing and using reliable
records of historical credit performance data, and should take into
consideration current and forecasted economic conditions.

The Board recognizes the value of having financial accounting support
the budget. It endorses the logic underlying credit reform, and it
recommends that accounting standards for credit be consistent with
budgeting under credit reform. The Board is aware that as more
experience is gained, some modifications may be made in budgetary
requirements. It is the intention of the Board that so long as the
modifications are made on a credit reform basis and do not materially
affect the basic recognition and measurement principles embodied in
the accounting standards, accounting practices for direct loans and
loan guarantees should change as needed in order to be consistent
with the budget.

The Board considered the expected costs and efforts that would be
required in restating PRE-1992 DIRECT LOANS AND LOAN
GUARANTEES at present value. Based on this consideration, the
standards permit but do not require restating those loans and loan
guarantees on a present value basis.

The standards were proposed in an Exposure Draft issued in
September 1992. Comments were received from 36 organizations and
individuals. Oral comments were also presented at a meeting by
representatives of federal agencies with major credit programs. The
Board considered all the comments received and incorporated
changes, as appropriate. Issues raised by those who responded to the
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Exposure Draft and the Board’s conclusions are presented in
Appendix A, “Basis of the Board’s Conclusions.”

Effective Date

The Accounting
Standards

20.

The FASAB recommends that the accounting standards recommended
in this Statement become effective for fiscal years ending September
30, 1994, and thereafter. An earlier implementation is encouraged.

Explanation

21.

These standards concern the recognition and measurement of direct
loans, the liability associated with loan guarantees, and the cost of
direct loans and loan guarantees. The standards apply to direct loans
and loan guarantees on a group basis, such as a cohort or a risk
category of loans and loan guarantees. Present value accounting does
not apply to direct loans or loan guarantees on an individual basis,
except for a direct loan or loan guarantee that constitutes a cohort or a
risk category.

Accounting Standards

Post-1991 Direct Loans

Post-1991 Loan Guarantees

Subsidy Costs of Post-1991
Direct Loans and Loan
Guarantees

22.

24.

Direct loans disbursed and outstanding are recognized as assets at the
present value of their estimated net cash inflows. The difference
between the outstanding principal of the loans and the present value
of their net cash inflows is recognized as a subsidy cost allowance.

For guaranteed loans outstanding, the present value of estimated net
cash outflows of the loan guarantees is recognized as a liability.
Disclosure is made of the face value of guaranteed loans outstanding
and the amount guaranteed.

For direct or guaranteed loans disbursed during a fiscal year, a subsidy
expense is recognized. The amount of the subsidy expense equals the
present value of estimated cash outflows over the life of the loans
minus the present value of estimated cash inflows, discounted at the
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25.

26.

27.

27A.

28.

29.

interest rate of marketable Treasury securities with similar maturity to
the cash flows, applicable to the period during which the loans are
disbursed (hereinafter referred to as the applicable Treasury interest
rate).

For the fiscal year during which new direct or guaranteed loans are
disbursed, the components of the subsidy expense of those new direct
loans and loan guarantees are recognized separately among interest
subsidy costs, default costs, fees and other collections, and other
subsidy costs.

The interest subsidy cost of direct loans is the excess of the amount of
the loans disbursed over the present value of the interest and principal
payments required by the loan contracts, discounted at the applicable
Treasury rate. The interest subsidy cost of loan guarantees is the
present value of estimated interest supplement payments.

The default cost of direct loans results from projected deviations by
the borrowers from the payment schedules for principal, interest, and
fee payments in the loan contracts. However, the measurement of
default costs does not include prepayments. The default cost is
measured at the present value of projected payment deviations due to
defaults minus projected net recoveries. Projected net recoveries
include the amounts that would be collected from borrowers at a later
date or the proceeds from the sales of acquired assets minus the costs
of foreclosing, managing, and selling the assets.

The default cost of loan guarantees results from paying lenders’ claims
upon default of the guaranteed loans. The default cost of loan
guarantees is measured at the present value of projected payments to
lenders required by the guarantee, plus uncollected fees, minus
interest supplements not paid as the result of the default, and minus
projected net recoveries as defined in paragraph 27.

The present value of fees and other collections is recognized as a
deduction from subsidy costs.

Other subsidy costs consist of cash flows that are not included in
calculating the interest or default subsidy costs, or in fees and other
collections. They include the effect of prepayments within contract
terms.
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Subsidy Amortization and 30.

Reestimation

31.

32.

The subsidy cost allowance for direct loans is amortized by the
INTEREST METHOD using the interest rate that was used to calculate
the present value of the direct loans when the direct loans were
disbursed, after adjusting for the interest rate re-estimate. The
amortized amount is recognized as an increase or decrease in interest
income.

Interest is accrued and compounded on the liability for loan
guarantees at the interest rate that was used to calculate the present
value of the loan guarantee liabilities when the guaranteed loans were
disbursed, after adjusting for the interest re-estimate. The accrued
interest is recognized as interest expense.

Credit programs should re-estimate the subsidy cost allowance for
outstanding direct loans and the liability for outstanding loan
guarantees as required in this standard. There are two kinds of re-
estimates: (a) interest rate re-estimates, and (b) technical/default re-
estimates.” Entities should measure and disclose each program’s re-
estimates in these two components separately. An increase or
decrease in the subsidy cost allowance or loan guarantee liability
resulting from the re-estimates is recognized as an increase or
decrease in subsidy expense for the current reporting period.

(A) An interest rate re-estimate is a re-estimate due to a change in interest

rates from the interest rates that were assumed in budget preparation
and used in calculating the subsidy expense to the interest rates that
are prevailing during the time periods in which the direct or
guaranteed loans are disbursed. Credit programs may need to make an
interest rate re-estimate for cohorts from which direct or guaranteed
loans are disbursed during the reporting year. If the assumed interest
rates that were used in calculating the subsidy expense for those
cohorts differ from the interest rates that are prevailing at the time of
loan disbursement, an interest rate re-estimate for those cohorts
should be made as of the date of the financial statements.

(B) A technical/default re-estimate is a re-estimate due to changes in

projected cash flows of outstanding direct loans and loan guarantees
after reevaluating the underlying assumptions and other factors that

%The term “technical/default re-estimate” used in this statement is identical in meaning to the
term "technical re-estimate" used in OMB Circular A-11, as revised in July 1999.
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Criteria for Default Cost
Estimates

Revenues and Expenses

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

affect cash flow projections as of the financial statement date, except
for any effect of the interest rate re-estimates explained in (a) above.
In making technical/default re-estimates, reporting entities should
take into consideration all factors that may have affected various
components of the projected cash flows, including defaults,
delinquencies, recoveries, and prepayments. The technical/default re-
estimate should be made each year as of the date of the financial
statements.

The criteria for default cost estimates provided in this and the
following paragraphs apply to both initial estimates and subsequent
reestimates. Default costs are estimated and reestimated for each
program on the basis of separate cohorts and risk categories. The
reestimates take into account the differences in past cash flows
between the projected and realized amounts and changes in other
factors that can be used to predict the future cash flows of each risk
category.

In estimating default costs, the following risk factors are considered:
(1) loan performance experience; (2) current and forecasted
international, national, or regional economic conditions that may
affect the performance of the loans; (3) financial and other relevant
characteristics of borrowers; (4) the value of collateral to loan
balance; (5) changes in recoverable value of collateral; and (6) newly
developed events that would affect the loans’ performance.
Improvements in methods to reestimate defaults are also considered.

Each credit program should use a systematic methodology, such as an
econometric model, to project default costs of each risk category. If
individual accounts with significant amounts carry a high weight in
risk exposure, an analysis of the individual accounts is warranted in
making the default cost estimate for that category.

Actual historical experience of the performance of a risk category is a
primary factor upon which an estimation of default cost is based. To
document actual experience, a data base should be maintained to
provide historical information on actual payments, prepayments, late
payments, defaults, recoveries, and amounts written off.

Interest accrued on direct loans, including amortized interest, is
recognized as interest income. Interest accrued on the liability of loan
guarantees is recognized as interest expense. Interest due from
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Pre-1992 Direct Loans and
Loan Guarantees

Modification of Direct Loans
and Loan Guarantees

38.

39.

40.

42.

43.

Treasury on uninvested funds is recognized as interest income.
Interest accrued on debt to Treasury is recognized as interest expense.

Costs for administering credit activities, such as salaries, legal fees,
and office costs, that are incurred for credit policy evaluation, loan
and loan guarantee origination, closing, servicing, monitoring,
maintaining accounting and computer systems, and other credit
administrative purposes, are recognized as administrative expense.
Administrative expenses are not included in calculating the subsidy
costs of direct loans and loan guarantees.

The losses and liabilities of direct loans obligated and loan guarantees
committed before October 1, 1992, are recognized when it is more
likely than not that the direct loans will not be totally collected or that
the loan guarantees will require a future cash outflow to pay default
claims. The allowance of the uncollectible amounts and the liability of
loan guarantees should be reestimated each year as of the date of the
financial statements. In estimating losses and liabilities, the risk
factors discussed in the previous section should be considered.
Disclosure is made of the face value of guaranteed loans outstanding
and the amount guaranteed.

Restatement of pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees on a present
value basis is permitted but not required.

The term “modification” means a federal government action, including
new legislation or administrative action, that directly or indirectly
alters the estimated subsidy cost and the present value of outstanding
direct loans, or the liability of loan guarantees.

Direct modifications are actions that change the subsidy cost by
altering the terms of existing contracts or by selling loan assets.
Existing contracts may be altered through such means as forbearance,
forgiveness, reductions in interest rates, extensions of maturity, and
prepayments without penalty. Such actions are modifications unless
they are considered reestimates, or workouts as defined below, or are
permitted under the terms of existing contracts.

Indirect modifications are actions that change the subsidy cost by
legislation that alters the way in which an outstanding portfolio of
direct loans or loan guarantees is administered. Examples include a
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new method of debt collection prescribed by law or a statutory
restriction on debt collection.

44. The term “modification” does not include subsidy cost reestimates, the
routine administrative workouts of troubled loans, and actions that
are permitted within the existing contract terms. Workouts are actions
taken to maximize repayments of existing direct loans or minimize
claims under existing loan guarantees. The expected effects of
work-outs on cash flows are included in the original estimate of
subsidy costs and subsequent reestimates.

A. MODIFICATION OF DIRECT LOANS

45. With respect to a direct or indirect modification of pre-1992 or
post-1991 direct loans, the cost of modification is the excess of the
PRE-MODIFICATION VALUE? of the loans over their
POST-MODIFICATION VALUE* The amount of the modification cost is
recognized as a modification expense when the loans are modified.

46. When post-1991 direct loans are modified, their existing BOOK VALUE
is changed to an amount equal to the present value of the loans’ net
cash inflows projected under the modified terms from the time of
modification to the loans’ maturity and discounted at the ORIGINAL
DISCOUNT RATE (the rate that was originally used to calculate the
present value of the direct loans, when the direct loans were
disbursed, after adjusting for the interest rate re-estimate).

47. When pre-1992 direct loans are directly modified, they are transferred
to a financing account and their book value is changed to an amount
equal to their post-modification value. Any subsequent modification is

3The term “pre-modification value” is the present value of the net cash inflows of direct loans
estimated at the time of modification under pre-modification terms and discounted at the
interest rate applicable to the time when the modification occurs on marketable Treasury
securities that have a comparable maturity to the remaining cash flows of the direct loans
under pre-modification terms (simply stated, the pre-modification terms at the current rate).

“The term “post-modification value” is the present value of the net cash inflows of direct
loans estimated at the time of modification under post-modification terms and discounted at
the interest rate applicable to the time when the modification occurs on marketable
Treasury securities that have a comparable maturity to the remaining cash flows of the
direct loans under post-modification terms (simply stated, the post-modification terms at the
current rate).
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treated as a modification of post-1991 loans. When pre-1992 direct
loans are indirectly modified, they are kept in a liquidating account.
Their bad debt allowance is reassessed and adjusted to reflect
amounts that would not be collected due to the modification.

48. The change in book value of both pre-1992 and post-1991 direct loans
resulting from a direct or indirect modification and the cost of
modification will normally differ, due to the use of different discount
rates or the use of different measurement methods. Any difference
between the change in book value and the cost of modification is
recognized as a gain or loss. For post-1991 direct loans, the
MODIFICATION ADJUSTMENT TRANSFER?® paid or received to
offset the gain or loss is recognized as a financing source (or a
reduction in financing source).

B. MODIFICATION OF LOAN GUARANTEES

49. With respect to a direct or indirect modification of pre-1992 or
post-1991 loan guarantees, the cost of modification is the excess of the
POST-MODIFICATION LIABILITY® of the loan guarantees over their
PRE-MODIFICATION LIABILITY.” The modification cost is recognized
as modification expense when the loan guarantees are modified.

50. The existing book value of the liability of modified post-1991 loan
guarantees is changed to an amount equal to the present value of net

®OMB instructions provide that if the decrease in book value exceeds the cost of
modification, the reporting entity receives from the Treasury an amount of modification
adjustment transfer equal to the excess; and that if the cost of modification exceeds the
decrease in book value, the reporting entity pays to the Treasury an amount of modification
adjustment transfer to offset the excess. (See OMB Circular A-11.)

The term “post-modification liability” is the present value of the net cash outflows of the
loan guarantees estimated at the time of modification under the post-modification terms,
and discounted at the interest rate applicable to the time when the modification occurs on
marketable Treasury securities that have a comparable maturity to the remaining cash flows
of the guaranteed loans under post-modification terms (simply stated, the post-modification
terms at the current rate).

"The term “pre-modification liability” is the present value of the net cash outflows of loan
guarantees estimated at the time of modification under the pre- modification terms and
discounted at the interest rate applicable to the time when the modification occurs on
marketable Treasury securities that have a comparable maturity to the remaining cash flows
of the guaranteed loans under pre-modification terms (simply stated, the pre- modification
terms at the current rate.)

Page 221 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



SFFAS 2

51.

52.

cash outflows projected under the modified terms from the time of
modification to the loans’ maturity, and discounted at the original
discount rate (the rate that was originally used to calculate the present
value of the liability, when the guaranteed loans were disbursed, after
adjusting for the interest rate re-estimate).

When pre-1992 loan guarantees are directly modified, they are
transferred to a financing account and the existing book value of the
liability of the modified loan guarantees is changed to an amount equal
to their post-modification liability. Any subsequent modification is
treated as a modification of post-1991 loan guarantees. When pre-1992
direct loan guarantees are indirectly modified, they are kept in a
liquidating account. The liability of those loan guarantees is
reassessed and adjusted to reflect any change in the liability resulting
from the modification.

The change in the amount of liability of both pre-1992 and post-1991
loan guarantees resulting from a direct or indirect modification and
the cost of modification will normally differ, due to the use of different
discount rates or the use of different measurement methods. Any
difference between the change in liability and the cost of modification
is recognized as a gain or loss. For post-1991 loan guarantees, the
modification adjustment transfer® paid or received to offset the gain or
loss is recognized as a financing source (or a reduction in financing
source).

C. SALE OF LOANS

53.

The sale of post-1991 and pre-1992 direct loans is a direct
modification. The cost of modification is determined on the basis of
the pre-modification value of the loans sold. If the pre-modification
value of the loans sold exceeds the net proceeds from the sale, the
excess is the cost of modification, which is recognized as modification
expense.

80MB instructions provide that if the increase in liability exceeds the cost of modification,
the reporting entity receives from the Treasury an amount of modification adjustment
transfer equal to the excess; and that if the cost of modification exceeds the increase in
liability, the reporting entity pays to the Treasury an amount of modification adjustment
transfer to offset the excess. (See OMB Circular A-11.)
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Foreclosure of Post-1991
Direct Loans and
Guaranteed Loans

54.

55.

For a loan sale with RECOURSE, potential losses under the recourse
or guarantee obligations are estimated, and the present value of the
estimated losses from the recourse is recognized as subsidy expense
when the sale is made and as a loan guarantee liability.

The book value loss (or gain) on a sale of direct loans equals the
existing book value of the loans sold minus the net proceeds from the
sale. Since the book value loss (or gain) and the cost of modification
are calculated on different bases, they will normally differ. Any
difference between the book value loss (or gain) and the cost of
modification is recognized as a gain or loss.” For sales of post-1991
direct loans, the modification adjustment transfer'® paid or received to
offset the gain or loss is recognized as a financing source (or a
reduction in financing source).

D. DISCLOSURE

56.

57.

58.

Disclosure is made in notes to financial statements to explain the
nature of the modification of direct loans or loan guarantees, the
discount rate used in calculating the modification expense, and the
basis for recognizing a gain or loss related to the modification. The
U.S. government-wide financial statements need not include this
disclosure.

When property is transferred from borrowers to a federal credit
program, through FORECLOSURE or other means, in partial or full
settlement of post-1991 direct loans or as a compensation for losses
that the government sustained under post-1991 loan guarantees, the
foreclosed property is recognized as an asset at the present value of its
estimated future net cash inflows discounted at the original discount
rate adjusted for the interest rate re-estimate.

If a legitimate claim exists by a third party or by the borrower to a part
of the recognized value of the foreclosed assets, the present value of
the estimated claim is recognized as a special contra valuation
allowance.

°If there is a book value gain, the gain to be recognized equals the book value gain plus the
cost of modification.

WSee footnote No. 5 for an explanation of “modification adjustment transfer.”
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Write-off of Direct Loans

59.

60.

At a foreclosure of guaranteed loans, a federal guarantor may acquire
the loans involved. The acquired loans are recognized at the present
value of their estimated net cash inflows from selling the loans or from
collecting payments from the borrowers, discounted at the original
discount rate adjusted for the interest rate re-estimate.

When assets are acquired in full or partial settlement of post-1991
direct loans or guaranteed loans, the present value of the government’s
claim against the borrowers is reduced by the amount settled as a
result of the foreclosure.

When post-1991 direct loans are written off, the unpaid principal of the
loans is removed from the gross amount of loans receivable.
Concurrently, the same amount is charged to the allowance for
subsidy costs. Prior to the WRITE-OFF, the uncollectible amounts
should have been fully provided for in the subsidy cost allowance
through the subsidy cost estimate or reestimates. Therefore, the
write-off would have no effect on expenses.

[See SFFAS 18, par. 10 and 11 for additional disclosure requirements.]
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Appendix A: Basis
Of The Board’s
Conclusions

This appendix discusses the substantive comments that the Board received
from respondents to the Exposure Draft, Accounting for Direct Loans and
Loan Guarantees, issued in September 1992. The Appendix explains the
Board’s conclusions on issues raised by the respondents.

Present Value
Accounting

62.

63.

64.

65.

Several respondents were opposed to using present value accounting
for direct loans and loan guarantees. They pointed out that although
the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990 requires the use of present
value to measure the subsidy costs of direct loans and loan guarantees
for the budget, the law does not require using present value for
financial reporting. They believed that since there are no legal
requirements, the adoption of present value accounting should be
based on cost-benefit considerations.

These respondents emphasized the complexity and cost of
implementing and maintaining present value accounting. Because of
the need to separately account for the direct loans or loan guarantees
obligated or committed by each credit program in a fiscal year by
cohort, as years go by, the number of cohorts would multiply. An
agency with a number of loan and loan guarantee programs estimated
that within 5 years, there would be more than 200 cohorts, one for
each year and each program. Since most of its loans are long-term,
maturing in 30 or more years, the number of cohorts would be
staggering.

The respondents who were opposed to present value accounting
doubted whether there would be any significant improvement in
financial information on loans and loan guarantees reported on a
present value basis compared with information traditionally reported
on a nominal value basis. They contended that both present value
accounting and nominal value accounting rely on historical experience
and management judgment to evaluate risk as the primary variable in
determining a default allowance. They further argued that since
present value calculations involve cash flow estimates over future
years, information based on the estimates is not necessarily more
reliable than information reported under the nominal value accounting
method.

A number of respondents expressed support of the Board’s proposal to
use present value accounting for direct loans and loan guarantees.
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66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

They believed that it is a positive step to bring budgeting and financial
reporting together. They also believed that implementation of the
proposed standards would present useful information for monitoring
programs with direct loans and loan guarantees.

In proposing present value accounting, the Board’s primary
considerations were to carry out the intent of the Federal Credit
Reform Act of 1990 and to make financial reporting compatible with
the budget. (See Exposure Draft, Vol. 1, par. 15.) The Board believes
that one of the objectives of financial reporting is to enable the reader
to determine the status of budgetary resources, and whether those
resources were acquired and used in accordance with the enacted
budget."

The Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990 requires using present value for
the budget. The Board does not believe that this requirement should
be ignored for financial reporting. Since budgetary resources for direct
loan and loan guarantee subsidies are provided on a present value
basis, financial reporting on the acquisition, use, and status of the
resources should be on the same basis. Only by using the same basis
can financial information be used to compare the actual results with
the budget.

Indeed, distortion in information would result if present value were
not used to report direct loans or loan guarantees that are budgeted on
a present value basis. This can be illustrated by the following example.

Suppose a group of 5-year term loans in the aggregate amount of
$100,000 were disbursed by a federal credit program at the end of
fiscal year 1992. The loans require paying an annual interest of

5 percent and repaying the principal in fiscal year 1997. It was
estimated that the interest would be collected each year, but only
$80,000 of the principal would be repaid when the loans mature.
During the year the loans were disbursed, the average interest rate of
Treasury securities of the same maturity was 9 percent.

Based on the cash flow projection shown in Table 1 below, at the end
of the 1992 fiscal year, the present value of the direct loans was
$71,440 and the loans’ subsidy cost was $28,560. It is assumed in this

UFASAB Exposure Draft, Objectives of Federal Financial Reporting, Vol. 1, par. 13.
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example, that as required by credit reform, the subsidy cost ($28,560)
was funded with appropriations, and the remaining amount ($71,440)
was financed with borrowing from Treasury at 9 percent.

]
Table 1: The Present Value Of Direct Loans

Fiscal Years Expected Payments
1993 $5,000
1994 5,000
1995 5,000
1996 5,000
1997 $85,000
Present value at 9% $71,400
71. If the nominal value accounting method were used in financial

72.

reporting, the $20,000 of the principal that was estimated to be
uncollectible would have been reported as a bad debt expense. The
estimated uncollectible amount of $20,000 would have been
recognized as the cost of the loans in financial statements. In reality,
however, the agency spent $28,560 of budgetary resources to fund the
cost of the loans.

Also, if the nominal value accounting method were used, the loans as
assets would have been reported at $80,000 at the end of the 1992
fiscal year, which equals the $100,000 principal of the loans minus an
allowance of $20,000 for the uncollectible amount. On the other hand,
debt to Treasury would have been reported at $71,440, which was the
amount actually borrowed to finance the loans. The financial
information would have shown an excess of the assets over the
liability by $8,560. In reality, however, even if the default estimate was
correct, the entire collection of interest and principal would be used to
pay interest and principal to Treasury. The credit program in fact
would have no excess in assets. The following is a comparison of the
loans reported on a present value basis and on a nominal value basis."

2Tables are provided only for illustration. They do not represent a reporting format.
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Table 2: Reporting On The Direct Loans At Present Value On September 30, 1992

Assets Liabilities
Loans receivable $100,000 | Debt to Treasury $71,440
Subsidy cost (28,560)
allowance (28,560)
Loans receivable, $ 71,440
net
Net Position $ 0

|
Table 3: Reporting On The Direct Loans At Nominal Value On September 30, 1992

Assets Liabilities
Loans receivable $100,000 | Debt to Treasury $71,440
Subsidy cost (20,000)
allowance (28,560)
Loans receivable, $ 80,000
net
Net Position $ 8,560
73. A similar distortion would result in reporting loan guarantees. The
distortion would be caused by reporting loan guarantee liabilities on a
nominal value basis, whereas the budgetary resources received to
finance the liabilities are measured at a present value basis.
74. 1In evaluating efforts and costs of implementing present value

accounting for post-1991 direct loans and loan guarantees, one should
keep in mind that the federal direct loan and loan guarantee programs
have modified or will have to modify their accounting systems in order
to implement the budgeting requirements of the Federal Credit Reform
Act of 1990. They will have to maintain data by cohort and risk
category, compute interest on borrowing from Treasury and on
uninvested funds, and make subsidy estimates and reestimates. The
accounting standards provided in this statement do not require more
than the budget process requires in these respects, and thus they
would not result in a substantial amount of additional effort or cost.
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75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

Some respondents indicated that it would be burdensome if present
value accounting were to be implemented on a loan-by-loan (or
transaction) basis. The Board does not propose that the accounting
standards be implemented on a loan-by-loan basis. The standards
should apply to a cohort (or risk category) of direct loans or loan
guarantees in the aggregate.

In addition to making financial reporting consonant with the budget,
the Board also believes that the standards proposed in the Exposure
Draft will produce better financial information for the following
reasons:

First, the proposed standards would require measuring and
recognizing the subsidy costs of direct loans and loan guarantees at
their inception rather than at a later date. The current accounting
practice does not require this. In the absence of this requirement, the
cost of direct loans is not recognized when the loans are disbursed,
and the liability to pay claims under loan guarantees is not usually
recognized when guaranteed loans are disbursed.

Second, the proposed standards would require a comprehensive
evaluation of future cash flows over the life of direct loans and
guaranteed loans, including payments of interest, principal, fees,
prepayments, defaults, delinquencies, and recoveries. The current
accounting practice typically provides an allowance for the portion of
the principal that would not be collected. It does not take into account
the impact of other cash flow elements.

Third, the proposed standards would require discounting the net cash
flows at the government’s borrowing rate on marketable Treasury
securities. Discounting is a basic feature of present value accounting
that measures and recognizes the interest subsidy cost of direct loans
and loan guarantees, and the time value of all cash flows. The time
value of such cash flows is not accounted for under the nominal value
accounting method, and the interest subsidy cost is not accounted for
when the loans are disbursed.

Finally, the proposed standards would require an annual systematic
review of the projected cash flows. The projections would be revised
and updated to reflect newly developed events, changes in economic
conditions, and better understanding of the factors that cause defaults.
The subsidy costs would be reestimated accordingly. The reestimation

Page 229 FASAB: Original Pronouncements, Version 6 (06/2007)



SFFAS 2

81.

82.

requirement assures that credit programs maintain an up-to-date data
base by cohort and risk category of actual collections, defaults, and
amounts written off on federal loans and loan guarantees. Such a
complete data base was not available prior to credit reform.

In summary, the recognition of cost at inception, the comprehensive
evaluation of all future cash flows, and the discounting of future cash
flows to present value are complementary elements at the core of
present value accounting. When taken together, they place an
economic value on the cost the federal government incurs in making
direct loans and loan guarantees. Likewise, they place an economic
value rather than a nominal value on loan assets and loan guarantee
liabilities.

Based on the view that financial accounting should be compatible with
the budget, and based on the other advantages of using the present
value accounting, the Board has concluded that the present value
accounting method should be used in the accounting standards for
post-1991 direct loans and loan guarantees.

Subsidy Cost
Component

83.

84.

85.

86.

The Exposure Draft proposed that when direct or guaranteed loans
are disbursed, their subsidy expense be recognized separately among
interest subsidy costs, default costs, fees (as a deduction from the
costs), and other subsidy costs.

The Exposure Draft also proposed the following requirement: The
interest subsidy allowance shall be amortized using the interest
method. Compound interest shall be accumulated on the allowances
for default losses, fees, and other cost components.

The Exposure Draft posed a question: Should the subsidy cost
components, if material, be recognized separately in financial
reporting? Some respondents agreed that the subsidy cost
components should be separately recognized. They believed that
separate recognition would provide the level of detail needed to
understand the program better and improve their component
estimates for budget formulation.

Some respondents were opposed to reporting subsidy costs by
component on the grounds that (1) only the aggregate amount of
subsidy costs is needed for budget execution purposes,
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87.

88.

89.

(2) information on cost components may not be used by management,
and (3) the cost of complex record-keeping and calculations outweigh
the benefit.

After considering the benefits and efforts required in accounting for
subsidy cost components, the Board has concluded that when direct
or guaranteed loans are disbursed, the subsidy expense of the direct
loans or loan guarantees should be recognized in separate
components. The Board believes that by reporting the subsidy
expense components of direct or guaranteed loans disbursed during
the reporting year, the cost components of newly disbursed direct
loans and loan guarantees can be compared with those of prior years.
The cost component information would be valuable for making credit
policy decisions, monitoring portfolio quality, and improving credit
performance. Information on interest subsidies and fees would help in
making decisions on setting interest rates and fee levels. Information
on default costs would help in evaluating credit performance.

In calculating the present value of the subsidy costs for the budget,
agencies must first develop data on cash flow components. OMB
requires agencies to use the OMB credit subsidy model, which takes
these cash flows as inputs and automatically calculates the
components of the subsidy cost. Since the information on subsidy cost
components of new direct loans and loan guarantees is available,
reporting the information would not require significant additional
efforts.

However, the Board realizes that it would require considerable efforts
to maintain records for the present value of cost components for each
existing cohort of loans and loan guarantees, amortize or accumulate
interest on each component each year, adjust each component each
year for reestimates, and, if applicable, adjust each component for
modifications when they occur. After considering the efforts that
would be required and the benefits that could be derived, the Board
decided not to recommend the requirement to amortize or accumulate
interest on each subsidy cost component. Without this requirement,
credit programs may amortize the subsidy allowance of each cohort in
aggregate, using the interest method. They would not have to maintain
records for the present value of each cost component and adjust them
annually. This would greatly ease the record-keeping and calculation
burden.
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90.

By eliminating the requirement to amortize and accumulate interest on
each component of the subsidy cost allowance, the Board realizes that
information would not be available to track changes in the present
values of the components. However, data would still be available to
track changes in the total amount of a cohort’s subsidy allowance
affected by annual reestimates. The primary factor that causes
changes in the subsidy allowance would be default reestimates.
Furthermore, the Board believes that it is of a critical importance that
each credit program maintain a data base for actual collections,
defaults, delinquencies, and recoveries. For purposes of monitoring
program performance and estimating future losses, the actual default
and collection data base is more important than tracking changes in
the allowance for the present value of subsidy costs by component.
The actual default and collection data base is also necessary for
estimating and reestimating subsidy costs.

Accounting For Fees 91

92.

93.

In the Exposure Draft, the Board proposed that the present value of
estimated fee receipts be recognized as a deduction from the subsidy
expense. The Board posed a question: How should fees be recognized
on an entity’s financial reports? Should they be recognized as a
deduction of subsidy expense, or as a revenue?

Many respondents agreed with the proposal that the present value of
estimated fee collections be recognized as a deduction of subsidy
expense. Some respondents contended that fees should be recognized
as a revenue rather than as an expense component. They stated that
offsetting revenues against expenses would not provide clear
revenue/expense information concerning the operating results of a
credit program. Some of the respondents also said that to the extent
some of the fees are used to defray administrative costs, they should
not offset subsidy expenses because the Federal Credit Reform Act of
1990 excludes administrative costs from subsidy expenses.

The Board is not persuaded by the arguments that fees should be
reported as a revenue. The subsidy expense of direct loans and loan
guarantees is the focal point of credit reform, and it is measured as the
present value of the net cash flows of the direct loans and loan
guarantees. Since the estimated fees are a component of the cash
flows, the Board believes that the present value of fees should be
reported as a component of the subsidy expense. Since the Board has
concluded that all of the subsidy expense components, including the
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present value of fees, are to be reported separately, reporting the
present value of fees as an expense component would not reduce
information on the collection of fees. Furthermore, the administrative
expenses that are excluded from subsidy costs are often covered by
appropriations, rather than paid by fee collections. Thus, it is not
necessary to allocate a portion of the fee collections to pay the
administrative costs that are not a part of the subsidy costs.

Pre-1992 Direct Loans
And Loan Guarantees

9.

95.

96.

The phrase pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees refers to direct
loans obligated and loan guarantees committed before October 1,
1991, the effective date of the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990. In
the Exposure Draft, the Board did not recommend restating pre-1992
direct loans and loan guarantees at present value. The Board’s position
was that the costs of restating those direct loans and loan guarantees
would outweigh the benefits.

Most respondents who commented on this issue agreed with the
Board’s position. They emphasized that the restatement of pre-1992
direct loans and loan guarantees would be a complex process and
would require substantial resources. They pointed out that a major
difficulty is caused by the lack of complete and accurate historical
data that a restatement needs to be based upon. Because of the lack of
accurate data, even if the agencies incurred a great deal of cost, the
restated loans and loan guarantees could not be accurately compared
with post-1991 loans and loan guarantees on the same basis. The
respondents pointed out that since the pre-1992 direct loans and loan
guarantees were obligated or committed in the past, restated
information would be of limited usefulness to current budget
decisions. They also pointed out that the amount of pre-1992 direct
loans and loan guarantees outstanding would diminish over time as
loans matured, defaulted, or were modified.

In addition to considering the comments on the Exposure Draft, the
Board also considered the findings of a GAO report presented to the
Board."” The GAO report suggested that by not requiring a restatement
of pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees at present value, poor

BGAO Report to the Chairman, Senate Budget Committee, Federal Credit Programs:
Agencies Had Serious Problems Meeting Credit Reform Accounting Requirements
(GAO/AFMD-93-17, Jan. 1993).
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97.

98.

99.

100.

information would be perpetuated, which could affect the ability to (1)
forecast the future budgetary impact of pre-credit reform credit
activity, (2) minimize losses, and (3) judge the reasonable accuracy of
subsidy estimates for post-1991 credit. The GAO report recommended
using simplified methods, such as sampling techniques, to restate
pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees at present value.

However, there was a strong indication in the comments the Board
received and in the findings of the GAO report that agencies have been
experiencing serious difficulties in implementing the credit reform
requirements related to post-1991 direct loans and loan guarantees. A
restatement of pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees, even on a
sampling basis, would require additional use of the agencies’ limited
accounting resources. The Board also agrees with the view that as the
pre-1992 direct and guaranteed loans are approaching their maturity
and are paid off, liquidated, or written off, the difference between their
present value and nominal value becomes less significant. Thus, the
Board concludes that it is appropriate not to require restating pre-1992
direct loans and loan guarantees at present value.

The Department of Veterans Affairs stated in its comments that it had
accounted for pre-1992 loan guarantees on a present value basis. The
Department of Education indicated in its comments that it planned to
report pre-1992 loans on a present value basis. Their efforts to account
for pre-1992 loans and loan guarantees at present value, although not
at the same level of detail as required by credit reform, could very well
result in improved information for credit management. Other agencies
may follow their examples. The Board believes that reporting those
pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees on a present value basis
should be permitted.

Although a restatement of pre-1992 direct loans and loan guarantees at
present value is not required, the Board continues to believe that it is
of fundamental importance to estimate and recognize losses and
liabilities for those direct loans and loan guarantees. Loss estimation
and recognition are necessary to support federal government financial
planning and management. The information on both current and
potential liabilities related to federal credit programs alerts Congress
and federal officials to the long-term costs and future financing needs.

The recommended standards would require that losses of pre-1992
direct loans and liabilities related to pre-1992 loan guarantees be
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101.

recognized when it is more likely than not that the loans will not be
totally collected or the loan guarantees will require a future cash
outflow to pay default claims. This is the same standard that the Board
recommended for the recognition of losses on receivables in FASAB
Statement of Recommended Accounting Standards No. 1, Accounting
for Selected Assets and Liabilities.

The Board believes that each loan guarantee program should disclose
the aggregate amount of outstanding guaranteed loans. In addition, it
should also disclose its risk exposure, which is the guaranteed portion
of the total outstanding guaranteed loans.

Modifications 102.

103.

104.

105.

A modification is a government action that alters the estimated
subsidy cost of outstanding direct loans or loan guarantees. Both a
government action and an alteration in subsidy cost are necessary
conditions for a modification. A subsidy reestimate is not a
modification.

Direct modifications change the subsidy cost by legislation or
administrative actions that alter the terms of existing contracts or by
selling loan assets. Existing contracts may be altered by such means as
forgiveness, forbearance, reductions in interest rates, extensions of
maturity, and prepayments without pen